# JCU ePrints

This file is part of the following reference:

Fox, Samantha (2006) Population structure in the spectacled flying fox, Pteropus conspicillatus : a study of genetic and demographic factors. PhD thesis, James Cook University.

Access to this file is available from:

http://eprints.jcu.edu.au/8053



Population structure in the spectacled flying fox, *Pteropus conspicillatus*: A study of genetic and demographic factors



Thesis submitted by Samantha J Fox B. Sc. Hons. (JCU) January 2006 For the degree of Doctor of Philosophy In the Schools of Tropical Biology, and Tropical Environment Studies and Geography, James Cook University, Townsville

## In nature's infinite book of secrecy

A little I am read

~ William Shakespeare, 'Anthony and Cleopatra'

## DECLARATION

I declare that this thesis is my own work and has not been submitted in any form for another degree or diploma at any University or other institution of tertiary education. Information derived from the published or unpublished work of others has been acknowledged in the text and a list of references given.

(Signature)

(Date)

I, the undersigned, the author of this work, declare that the electronic copy of this thesis provided to James Cook University, is an accurate copy of the print thesis submitted, within the limits of the technology available.

(Signature)

(Date)

## Statement of access

I, the undersigned, author of this work, understand that James Cook University, of North Queensland will make this thesis available for use within the University library and, via the Australian Digital Theses network, for use elsewhere.

I understand that, as an unpublished work, a thesis has significant protection under the Copyright Act.

I wish this work to be embargoed until 28 June 2007, after which I do not wish to place any further restriction on access to this work.

(Signature)

(Date)

## Statement of the contribution of others

## **Funding**

This project was funded by an ARC linkage grant with Industry partners Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service, Queensland Fruit and Vegetable Growers Association, and the Tolga Bat Rescue and Research. Funding was also received from the Rainforest Co-operative Research Centre (CRC), Bat Conservation International (BCI), and from the Queensland Government under their Growing the Smart State PhD initiative.

## Stipend Support

I was supported by an APA(I) scholarship, as well as a completion scholarship from James Cook University.

## **Supervision**

Associate Professor David Blair, Dr. Michelle Waycott, Dr. Jon Luly and Dr. David Westcott provided supervision, editorial assistance and statistical support.

#### Sample collection

Assistance with sample collection was received from the following people; Jenny Maclean, Hume Field, Scott Sullivan, Adam McKeown, Pam Tully, Hugh Spencer, Robin Wingrave, Barbara Mazlin, Heather, Annabelle Olsen, Olivia Whybird, Andrew Mack, Dave Wilson, Cynthia and Pius Sabag, Tim Kerlin, Louise Shilton, Greg Richards, Darryl Dickson, Alan Curtis, Peter Mansfield. Samples were also obtained from the Australian Museum, and the South Australian Museum.

## <u>Lab Help</u>

Sue Reilly and Caitlin Mitchel carried out histological processing of teeth. Chrystal Mantyka provided help with DNA extractions. Glenn Dunshea and Michelle Waycott provided assistance with microsatellite loci isolation. Kevin Olival and Andrew Breed supplied Mitochondrial DNA primers.

## <u>Maps</u>

Help with creating maps was provided by Adam McKeown and Ainsley Calladine

## Editorial Assistance

Tim Harvey, Carolyn Smith-Keune, Dean Jerry and Michelle Boyle provided proof reading and editing.

## Acknowledgments

I am an exceptionally lucky person!! I have received so much love, friendship and support during my PhD, that it has been an enriching and rewarding experience. I hope most people can think that at the end of their journey. My journey has taught me a valuable lesson about myself—that I find interaction with people incredibly satisfying and enjoyable. I have never had any doubt that the majority of interactions I am going to have with animals are going to be rewarding, but for me to gain so much from interactions with people, many of whom were new to me at the beginning of my journey, has been a revelation. So thank you to all the various souls that I met along my path, who enriched my life and my PhD experience.

And so on to the more usual form that this section of the PhD takes—thanking all the people who have made my PhD experience easier, memorable and in some cases, possible. Thanks first and foremost to my supervisors, David Blair, Michelle Waycott, Jon Luly and David Westcott. Many people frowned at my "Panel" of supervisors but I have been very lucky in that between them they have managed to cover the majority of skills and knowledge base that a PhD student comes to rely on at certain stages in their tenure. With todays academics also being so insanely busy, having a few supervisors means that you can usually find one that can spare you some time when you absolutely need it! Thanks to David for his incessant "Keep smiling!" And thanks especially to Michelle for being so incredibly patient with me when I required something from her NOW!!! And a big thanks to David and Michelle for working through final drafts over Christmas!

Thanks to my industry partners for their contributions to the project and to all my funding bodies, especially the Rainforest CRC, for supporting me over the past 4 years.

I have been lucky to meet and work with people from both the CSIRO in Atherton and QPWS and count those people as friends as well as colleagues.

Adam McKeown has to be the most enthusiastic field person I have come across, to watch nets for "incoming" bats until 2am and then go out spotlighting for more! He has the most infectious smile that no matter how tired you are never fails to lighten your mood. Thanks heaps for your help Adam—and for sitting in the back of the troopy for the majority of the time!

Scott Sullivan—what can I say about you? I have never had anyone laugh so hard at my expense before, but laugh so long and so hard that I ended up with tears pouring down my face from laughing so hard too! You are the 'ultimate' field person and I can't imagine ever going in the field again without wishing you were with me. Thanks for both Iron Range trips and for looking out for me when you thought I needed it. As I think I may have remarked before—you are a treasure!!

Thanks Peter Latch for forever being my "Mentor"—I will always look up to you! I have so enjoyed our little 'chats' that always turned out to be so informative at the same time. You have always had an ear for me to bend and I have appreciated that with your busy schedule. I will always have enormous respect for the enthusiasm you maintain in your position given the restrictions you are constantly under from bureaucracy.

A ton of thanks and love to Jenny and Claire at the bat hospital for all the 'experiences' we have had together—they have been truly unforgettable. Going through a tick paralysis and baby bat season at the bat hospital will certainly make you appreciate the unsung heroes in the world of wildlife carers and admire their dedication in going weeks without a break for the love of an animal. Thanks for being a grumpy bum with me Claire after many sleepless nights together!

Many thanks go to all the wildlife carers and 'batty' people who collected 'bits' of bat for me at various times. Thanks especially to Pam Tully and Hugh Spencer, two more inspiring people in their constant dedication to a cause!

Doesn't 'thanks' become an awfully repetitive word at this point?? Need a new one to replace it with. Much appreciation (nah, boring!) goes to Andrew Dennis

and Louise Shilton at CSIRO for editing of written work and interesting conversations re-everything batty.

There are many people to thank in the genetics lab as along the way many people have added their input especially when I went through hell and back when nothing would work (but then who doesn't go through hell in the lab at some stage?). Thanks to Jamie for being so concerned and fielding enquiries from other concerned lab-mates, to Selma for advice and trinkets from Taiwan, to Brad for constantly topping up my 10x buffer supplies and everybody else for just making time in the lab bearable. Very special thanks go to Glenn for being my 'bantering' partner in the lab, and someone I still miss when I am in there. And a huge thanks to Carolyn Smith-Keune, who really told me what it was all about when she said, "you don't learn anything in genetics unless it goes wrong". There was an element of truth in that, no matter how unhappy I was about it! Thanks so much for all your help Carolyn, you have been an angel!

Special thanks to my pseudo-supervisor, Ainsley, for everything—not only for all the times he fixed my computer and got the printer working, or showed me how to use Illustrator, helped me create maps, explained genetics to me in baby language, and put up with my constant nagging about when my genotyping would be done, but for always being able to do it with a smile—most of the time! You deserve a medal my friend!

Tons of thanks to Andy Mack who persevered in getting samples for me from PNG when I had no other way of getting them, and for bolstering my flagging motivation during times of trouble. To Andy Lowe for advice on genetics analysis, to Sue Reilly and Caitlin Mitchel for histology help, and Chrystal Mantyka for help in the lab.

Thanks to Hume Field for organising our combined field trip to Iron Range and making it such a memorable experience with all the 'extra hands' that came along.

Thanks heaps to Line Bay for helping me with some of the statistics packages, and Ross Crozier for discussion on Relatedness.

And so to all the people who gave me a different type of support—emotional support. Thanks to Michelle Boyle for being an understanding office mate when I have had people traipsing in and out of our office and for turning a blind eye when I just wanted to cry quietly at my desk. But also for pushing so hard to get our new office just at the right time when we really needed it. It's been wonderful to have you there from the word 'GO' to weather all the highs and lows with, to laugh at our mutual homeless status with, and to head for the finish line with.

Damn! Thought I would get it into 2 pages! Thanks to Will R. for helping me to understand life tables and for lots of fabulous hugs when I really needed them.

Thanks to Leonie Valentine, Basil Byrne, Jen Martin and Euan Ritchie for Friday night bludgers, for lots of positive thoughts and pep talks when the going got tough. Thanks to Rob Gegg for always being there when I was going through a rough patch and giving me a shoulder to cry on and a sickly sweet caramel slice that would choke those not hardy enough!! And of course, thanks and love to Yvette Williams for always having a smile even though the problems in her life made mine look like piffle! Thanks for all the hand holding through my many relationship woes, nursing me after a hospital visit and for all the dinners when I couldn't be bothered (or couldn't afford!!) to cook for myself. You deserve more gorgeous!

Almost lastly, I want to thank Miki for putting up with me coming home late, not giving her as many walks as she would like or as much attention as she is used to and for always welcoming me home with a huge smile and a howl! My love and thanks to my parents for all of their encouraging words from the other side of the world and being understanding to my time limitations for communication. I can't wait for you guys to be here and to have a normal relationship with you again!!

And finally, and most importantly, I want to thank Tim.

## Abstract

The spectacled flying fox (*Pteropus conspicillatus*) is a difficult species to manage due to its dual status as an agricultural pest and a native species under threat. Like other flying fox species, the spectacled flying fox is very mobile, roosts in colonies during the day in largely inaccessible places, and is active at night. These factors make the spectacled flying fox a difficult species to study and are in part responsible for the lack of knowledge on the biology and ecology of this species. The population structure of the spectacled flying fox was examined using two genetic markers (highly polymorphic microsatellites, and a portion of the mtDNA D-loop) and cementum layers around the root of canine teeth to determine age structure. Incorporating both genetic and demographic factors, as well as examining population structure across several temporal and spatial scales, provided a more comprehensive understanding of this species.

A new hypothesis for the origin and evolution of flying foxes in Australia is presented: that flying foxes are an old lineage in Australia and that they colonised PNG from Australia rather than the other way around. The spectacled flying fox has experienced a tumultuous history, including population expansion and contraction as a result of climatic and geographic events. These events have aided in shaping the contemporary structure of highly connected colonies within a single panmictic population in the Wet Tropics region, along with an isolated population at Iron Range and populations of unknown status in Papua New Guinea. High allelic and haplotypic diversity suggest an old lineage within Australia, and the patterns of diversity suggest colonisation from Australia to PNG. Introgression between black flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes suggests a close association of these two species. The possibility of incomplete lineage sorting also suggests that *Pteropus alecto* and *Pteropus conspicillatus* might still be in the process of diverging. *Pteropus poliocephalus* might also belong to such a species complex, although no relevant data are yet available. Although high levels of gene flow occur among colonies within the Wet Tropics region, some sub-structuring in the form of kin groups within colonies is indicated, with several cohorts of young remaining with their mothers before the young reach sexual maturity. High rates of mortality and low reproductive output may be putting this species at risk of decline, especially as their average longevity is considerably less than expected.

This study highlights the need for spectacled flying foxes to be managed on a regional scale. In addition, mortality rates need to be investigated throughout the Wet Tropics to determine the applicability of mortality rates estimated in this study, across the range of the species.

## Table of contents

Statement of sources i	ii
Electronic copyi	v
Statement of access	v
Statement of the contribution of others	vi
Acknowledgmentsvi	ii
Abstractx	ii
Table of contentsxi	v
List of tablesxv	ii
List of figuresxvi	ii
Chapter One – studying population structure in the spectacled flying fox	
Megachiroptera	
Australian flying foxes	
The spectacled flying fox— <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i> Gould, 1850	
Understanding population structure in <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i>	
Coloniality in flying foxes	
Definition of a 'Population'1	4
Studying colony/population structure1	.4
Demographic factors1	.6
Genetic factors	
Mitochondrial DNA	
Microsatellites	
Population structure, conservation and management	
Impetus for this study and aims of the thesis	.2
Chapter Two – Isolation and characterisation of polymorphic microsatellite markers in the spectacled flying fox	24
Chapter Three – Phylogeography, historical population expansion and introgression inferred from mtDNA	28
Introduction	8
Methods	2
Laboratory protocols	32
Data analysis	34
Results	5
Sequence analysis	35

Phylogenetic analysis	36
Molecular diversity	
Population genetic structure	37
Demographic analyses	
Discussion	. 41
The phylogeographic structure of spectacled flying foxes	41
Introgression between <i>P. alecto</i> and <i>P. conspicillatus</i>	
Support for an historical population expansion	
Time since expansion	
Conclusion	48
Chapter Four – Genetic diversity across the range of the spectacled	
flying fox	
Introduction	
Methods	
Sample collection	
DNA extraction and amplification	
Data analysis	
Results	
Genetic diversity, Hardy-Weinberg and linkage disequilibrium	
Genetic differentiation	
Discussion	
High levels of genetic diversity	
No population differentiation due to high gene flow	
Population bottleneck in the Wet Tropics	
Conclusion	.75
Chapter Five – kin group sub-structuring found within spectacled flying fox colonies	76
Introduction	
Methods	
Data analysis	
Results	
Discussion	
Broad-scale view of relatedness across populations of the spectacled flying fox	
Low average colony relatedness not indicative of colony social structure	
Pairwise relatedness indicates possible kin structuring in the Powley Rd colony	90
No evidence of inbreeding in the spectacled flying fox	. 93
Conclusion	. 93

Chapter Six – Life history data reveal negative growth and short span in the spectacled flying fox	life- 
Introduction	
Methods	
Data collection	
Teeth	
Tooth preparation and sectioning	
Counting cementum layers	
Analysis	
Life tables	
Results	
Validation of aging technique	
Age structure and demographic parameters	
Life history tables	
Discussion	
Age at first reproduction	
Longevity shorter than previously thought	
Reproductive rate	
High mortality rate in the year studied	
Negative population growth rate	
Conclusion	
Chapter Seven – genetic and demographic insights into the past, pro	
and future of the spectacled flying fox	
The Past	
The origin of flying foxes in Australia	
The fossil record Restricted distribution of the spectacled flying fox	
Low species diversity of Megachiroptera in Australia	
Proposed origin of spectacled flying foxes in Australia	
Introgression/incomplete lineage sorting	
Vicariance and dispersal	
The Present	
Broad scale	
Local scale	
Future	
Conservation and management of the spectacled flying fox	
Future research	
Conclusion	
References	
Appendices	

## List of tables

Table 2.1 Attributes of eight microsatellites developed for <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i> . Ta refers to final annealing temperature. N is the number of samples scored for each locus. Ho & He are the observed and expected heterozygosity calculated by GenAlEx v6.0 (Peakall and Smouse 2005)
Table 2.2 Attributes of six polymorphic microsatellite loci designed for <i>Pteropus</i> species by G. McCracken but tested against individuals of <i>P. conspicillatus</i>
Table 2.3 Volumes of reagents used for each primer in the PCR reaction
Table 3.1 Molecular diversity indices for all colonies. $n =$ number of individuals sequenced, $n_h =$ number of haplotypes, $h =$ haplotype diversity, $\pi =$ nucleotide diversity
Table 3.2 Pairwise $F_{ST}$ values between colonies (lower diagonal) and their correspondent significance values (upper diagonal)
Table 4.1 Private or rare alleles found in each population by locus. Calculated in GENEPOP v3.4 (Raymond and Rousset 1995). n = sample size for each population
Table 4.2 Summary table of average standard allele frequency statistics by population. Na = number of alleles; Ne = effective number of alleles; Ho = observed heterozygosity; He = expected heterozygosity; A. Rich = allelic richness
Table 4.3 $F_{IS}$ by population (rows) and locus (columns) following Weir and Cockerham (1984). * denotes significant $F_{IS}$ values according to bootstrapping over loci (95% CI)
Table 4.4 Pairwise population $F_{ST}$ values (below diagonal) and pairwise population $R_{ST}$ (above diagonal). None were significant after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons (Dunn Sidak method - (Sokal and Rohlf 1995)). Population codes: PNG, Papua New Guinea; IR, Iron Range; CN, Cairns; DT, Daintree; GV, Gordonvale; MA, Mareeba; MC, Mena Creek; PR, Powley Rd; TS, Tolga Scrub; TY, Tully; WR, Whiteing Rd
Table 4.5 Sign and Wilcoxon results from BOTTLENECK. <sup>a</sup> populations conform to the SMM. <sup>b</sup> populations conform to the IAM. <sup>a+b</sup> BOTTLENECK retained both models for the population. * Marginally significant (p=0.05). **Significant (p<0.05) *** Highly significant (p<0.01)
Table 6.1 Life history table for female <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i> . Symbols for columns: <i>x</i> , Age in years; $l_x$ , survivorship (mortality was set at 50% for the first year of life and 40% for the remainder; $b_x$ , natality; $l_x b_x$ , age-specific reproductive rate; $R_o$ , net reproductive rate per generation; <i>G</i> , mean generation time; <i>r</i> , intrinsic rate of increase of population

## List of figures

Figure 1.1 Distribution of the Pteropodidae (amended from Hill and Smith (1984)). Horizontal lines indicate position of the equator (middle), Tropic of Cancer (upper) and Tropic of Capricorn (lower).	3
Figure 1.2 The spectacled flying fox, <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i> . Photo: Bruce Thomson. Used with permission.	7
Figure 1.3 Distribution of Australia's flying foxes (after Hall and Richards 2000). <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i> (spectacled flying fox), yellow area; <i>Pteropus alecto</i> (black flying fox), black area; <i>Pteropus scapulatus</i> (little red flying fox) inland limit, red line; <i>Pteropus poliocephalus</i> (grey-headed flying fox), grey area. Black and red dots on map of PNG = records of occurrence of black and little red flying foxes respectively in PNG. Arrow indicates approximate position (on land) of Iron Range. Blue line signifies the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area (WTWHA).	8
Figure 1.4 Known colony locations of <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i> (spectacled flying fox) in the Wet Tropics region, principal area of its range in Australia. Red dots are camps not sampled in this study, purple dots are camps that were sampled. Atherton Tablelands colonies comprise Mareeba, Tolga Scrub, Powley Rd and Whiteing Rd	9
Figure 1.5 Census results for 1998–2005; counts of spectacled flying fox (SFF) colonies in the Wet Tropics region during December. Data from Threatened Species Network, Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service	. 10
Figure 1.6 Contribution of demographic and genetic factors affecting population structure.	. 15
Figure 3.1 Distribution and sampling strategy map for mtDNA phylogeographic analysis. Purple circles = spectacled flying fox colonies. Yellow boxes contain codes for each colony sampled and sample size. Population/colony codes: PNG, Papua New Guinea; IR, Iron Range; DT, Daintree; TS, Tolga Scrub; TY, Tully	. 33
Figure 3.2 Maximum likelihood tree of D-loop mtDNA sequences from <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i> individuals throughout their range, with a closely related congeneric species ( <i>Pteropus alecto</i> ) as the outgroup. Sample names comprise the unique individual identifier followed by the colony from which the sample was collected. Numbers on branches represent percentage bootstrap replicate support. Locality codes: PNG, Papua New Guinea; TSTRAIT, Torres Strait; TVL, Townsville	. 38
Figure 3.3 Mismatch distribution analysis for clade 1 and 2. Clade 1 fits the expected model of population expansion while clade 2 follows a model of stationarity. Blue points are the distribution of the data for Clade 1 and 2, while the pink points are the expected distribution under that particular model (expansion model for Clade 1 and stationarity model for Clade 2).	. 40

Figure 4.1 Map of the distribution of the spectacled flying fox ( <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i> ) including detail of colonies within the Wet Tropics region (sample sizes from each colony in yellow boxes). Population/colony code: PNG, Papua New Guinea; IR, Iron Range; DT, Daintree; CN, Cairns; GV, Gordonvale; MA, Mareeba; TS, Tolga Scrub; PR, Powley Rd; WR, Whiteing Rd; MC, Mena Creek; TY, Tully	55
<ul> <li>Figure 4.2 a. Mean allelic richness over all six loci by population (+/- SD).</li> <li>b. Mean allelic richness across all 11 populations by locus (+/- SD)</li> <li>Population codes: CN, Cairns; DT, Daintree; GV, Gordonvale; IR, Iron</li> <li>Range; MA, Mareeba; MC, Mena Creek; PNG, Papua New Guinea; PR,</li> <li>Powley Rd; TS, Tolga Scrub; TY, Tully; WR, Whiteing Rd</li></ul>	61
Figure 4.3 Microsatellite allele size distribution by locus for each of three regions of <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i> . Region codes: PNG, Papua New Guinea; IR, Iron Range; WT, Wet Tropics	54
Figure 4.4 Unrooted neighbour-joining tree of pairwise $F_{ST}$ values among populations for multilocus microsatellite genotypes of the spectacled flying fox	56
Figure 5.1 Distribution map of the spectacled flying fox showing sampling regime for this study. Broad scale comparisons use all colonies. Colony Codes: PNG, Papua New Guinea; IR, Iron Range; DT, Daintree; CN, Cairns; GV, Gordonvale; MA, Mareeba; TS, Tolga Scrub; PR, Powley Rd; WR, Whiteing Rd; MC, Mena creek; TY, Tully. Detailed analyses only use Tablelands colonies TS, PR and WR	80
Figure 5.2 Frequency distribution of all pairwise relatedness values across 11 colonies of the <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i> (A) within and (B) between colony comparisons, calculated by MARK. All non-related values (zero or negative) are excluded	83
Figure 5.3 Frequency distribution of all pairwise relatedness values between individuals within colonies, for all colonies across the range of <i>Pteropus conspicillatus</i> (unrelated values removed). Calculated using the SSR relatedness calculated using MARK (Ritland 2004)	84
Figure 5.4 Population-by-population average pairwise relatedness for all within- and between-population pairwise individual relatedness comparisons (D2 estimates from MARK – (Ritland and Travis 2004))	85
Figure 5.5 UPGMA tree of all individuals (n=172) sampled from PR colony, clustered relative to their pairwise relatedness values. Highlighted box indicates the sub-group investigated in more detail (see Fig. 5.6). Numbers at the end of each branch indicate the unique identifier for each individual	86
Figure 5.6 Sample sub-group from PR colony showing scale of relatedness between individuals (A), with family group highlighted showing age and sex of family members (B). Scale of pairwise relatedness values >= 0.50; 0.25-0.5; 0-0.25; Not related. Red individuals in (B) are mother/offspring pairs determined both by relatedness values and at the time of collection of samples. (J) = juvenile	87
Figure 6.1 Diagram of tooth sectioning. i. Above gum, exposed tooth, removed before processing. ii. Mid-section of root below gum-line,	

xix

removed to be embedded in wax. iii. Lower apical section of root removed before processing	. 99
Figure 6.2 Photo of cementum layers surrounding root of tooth taken from a spectacled flying fox. There are 6 rings in this photo indicating an individual of 6 years.	101
Figure 6.3 Age distribution for sample population from Tolga Scrub colony on the Atherton Tablelands for 2001-2002 (males and females combined). Young-of-year of collection not included	104
Figure 6.4 Proportion of females lactating in each age class. Sample sizes for age classes 8 years onward are low (8, n=2; 9, n=4; 11, n=2; 13, n=2) 1	105
Figure A1. Contents of CD containing appendices	158

## Chapter One – studying population structure in the spectacled flying fox

The spectacled flying fox, *Pteropus conspicillatus* Gould 1850 (Andersen 1912), plays an important ecological role throughout its range as a seed and pollen disperser and is recognised as a significant component of the biodiversity of the Wet Tropics World Heritage area of north Queensland (Westcott *et al.* 2001). However, it is also considered an agricultural pest due to the loss of fruit from foraging flying foxes. In 2002 the spectacled flying fox was listed as a vulnerable species under the Australian Commonwealth Government's Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act (EPBC Act). This was in part due to a lack of information on the population biology of this species, as well as the apprehension of conservationists and scientists that the species is in decline. The paucity of information on even the basics of population dynamics and ecology of this species has been recognised as a significant obstacle to developing appropriate management or recovery plans (Duncan et al. 1999; Westcott et al. 2001). An improved understanding of these aspects of species biology will inform environmental managers of patterns and processes affecting this species in order to balance the apparently contradictory requirements of pest mitigation and species conservation. Specifically, an understanding of connectivity between colonies will allow management agencies to refine the scale of management. A greater knowledge of the species will also answer many questions posed by fruit growers, which may then enable them to implement novel, or at least better, damage mitigation strategies. For farmers, understanding the connectivity of colonies will enable them to appreciate where foraging flying foxes are coming from. For conservationists, knowing the genetic health of the spectacled flying fox may allow them to build a more comprehensive picture of the status of the species.

Current knowledge of the spectacled flying fox is restricted to diet and feeding ecology (Richards 1990b; Eggert 1994; Parsons 2005), conservation status (Garnett *et al.* 1999; WPSQ 2000; ABS 2001; Tidemann and Vardon 2001;

Westcott *et al.* 2001), and roost sites and distribution (Ratcliffe 1932; Richards 1990a). Although research is being undertaken currently by the Commonwealth Science and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) on movement patterns of spectacled flying foxes within the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area, nothing is known about population structure, broad-scale movement patterns throughout its distribution, or historical and contemporary processes that have affected the current geographical pattern of colony distribution. Current threats, including shooting by fruit farmers, tick paralysis, habitat loss, barbed wire fences and powerlines, are believed to be contributing to the general decline of this species. However, nothing is known of the effects of threats such as these on population demographics and therefore whether they are putting the species at risk.

Research to date has relied on observational techniques. However, many of the questions posed regarding population structure cannot be resolved with the use of observation alone. Hence, this project was instigated to examine questions of population structure across several spatial and temporal scales, using alternate approaches. The objective was to present an inclusive understanding of spectacled flying fox population dynamics. This chapter provides background on the Megachiroptera and the origins and relationships of Australian *Pteropus* species, to establish the historical setting within which to question the evolution and origin of Australian *Pteropus* species. This is followed by a description of the method used in this thesis to study population structure in a flying fox species.

#### Megachiroptera

The sub-order Megachiroptera comprises a single family, the Pteropodidae, which is distributed throughout tropical and subtropical Africa, Asia and Australia [Fig. 1.1 – reproduced from Hill and Smith (1984)]. Megachiropterans are especially diverse in Asia and the Australo-Papuan region where approximately 70% of the living species of Pteropodidae can be found. The family includes the largest of extant bats, with species of *Acerodon* and *Pteropus* achieving wing spans of 1.5 metres or more (Hill and Smith 1984).



**Figure 1.1** Distribution of the Pteropodidae (amended from Hill and Smith (1984)). Horizontal lines indicate position of the equator (middle), Tropic of Cancer (upper) and Tropic of Capricorn (lower).

Determining the evolutionary history of the Chiroptera has proved difficult due to the limited fossil record and incomplete or conflicting phylogenies (Teeling *et* al. 2005). Current phylogenetic analyses support the hypothesis that the order Chiroptera is monophyletic (Ammerman and Hillis 1992; Simmons 1994; Pettigrew and Kirsch 1995; Hutcheon et al. 1998; van den Bussch et al. 1998; Miyamoto et al. 2000; Nikaido et al. 2000; Jones et al. 2002; Teeling et al. 2005) and that the Microchiroptera and Megachiroptera diverged approximately 50 million years ago (mya) (Teeling et al. 2005). Previous alternative hypotheses held that the Chiroptera were diphyletic and that the Megachiroptera were more closely related to primates than to the Microchiroptera (Pettigrew 1987; Pettigrew et al. 1989; Pettigrew 1995). This view is now considered unlikely based on recent molecular evidence (Ammerman and Hillis 1992; Simmons 1994; Hutcheon et al. 1998). Within the Megachiroptera, taxonomic relationships are still disputed, with a lack of agreement on the splitting of the Pteropodidae into subfamilies (Alvarez et al. 1999; Colgan and da Costa 2002; Giannini and Simmons 2003) and poor resolution among the basal lineages (Colgan and da Costa 2002). A recent paper using morphological and molecular characters by Giannini and Simmons (2005) presents the most comprehensive analysis to date of associations within the Megachiroptera.

It has been proposed that the Megachiroptera originated in SE Asia – Melanesia (Colgan and da Costa 2002; Giannini and Simmons 2003; Teeling *et al.* 2005) or the Indo-Australo-Pacific region, where they are most diverse (Kirsch *et al.* 1995). Based on the absence of a fossil record, Australian megachiropterans have often been regarded as recent immigrants from Papua New Guinea (PNG) (Schodde and Calaby 1972). However, the fossil record of megachiropterans in general is particularly poor. Calculating the basal branch length for each chiropteran lineage that is unrepresented in the fossil record, Teeling *et al.* (2005) estimated that 98% of the megachiropteran fossil history is missing, probably because of their fragile bone structure and the fact that their roosting sites are generally not situated above substrata that favour the preservation of bones. The only megachiropteran fossil found in PNG (Hall 1981).

McKean (1970) argues that the paucity of endemic Australo-Papuan Chiropteran genera, indicates that all bats, including the Megachiroptera, are 'recent' arrivals to the region. Unfortunately, McKean (1970) does not define what he means by 'recent'. The fact that, at a species level, the Australo-Papuan region has more megachiropteran species than any other region in the world (Hall 1984) is difficult to reconcile with such a view. The oldest chiropteran fossils in Australia are from an Eocene deposit in Murgon, southeast Queensland, and are believed to be 55 million years old (Hand *et al.* 1994). Although these are microchiropterans, the fossils show unambiguously that bats were resident in Australia during the Eocene epoch. With megachiropterans having a higher degree of endemicity in the Australo-Papuan region than microchiropterans, megachiropterans are proposed to have entered the region before microchiropterans (Hand 1984).

## Australian flying foxes

There are five genera of pteropodids, containing 13 species, within Australia. These are commonly called flying foxes, fruit bats, blossom bats, and tubenosed bats (Hall and Richards 2000). Although eight species of flying fox have been recorded historically in Australia, there are currently five species; four of the genus *Pteropus* and one of the genus *Dobsonia* (see Fig. 1.3 for the *Pteropus*  spp distribution). The other three species of *Pteropus* are now not considered to occur in Australia. The dusky flying fox (*Pteropus brunneus*) was only recorded once in 1874 on Percy Island, off the Central Queensland coast, and is now considered extinct (Hall and Richards 2000). *Pteropus banakrisi*, the Torresian flying fox, recorded as endemic to Moa Island, has recently been suggested to be erroneously based on subadult individuals of the black flying fox (*Pteropus alecto*) (Helgen 2004). Finally, Australian records of *Pteropus macrotis*, the large-eared flying fox, may be due to misidentifications of the little red flying fox (*Pteropus scapulatus*) (Helgen 2004).

The Australian Commonwealth Government's Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act (EPBC Act) lists two of the four Australian species of *Pteropus* as 'vulnerable to extinction' following IUCN guidelines. These are the spectacled flying fox (*Pteropus conspicillatus*) and the grey-headed flying fox (*Pteropus poliocephalus*). The EPBC Act aims to protect the environment, particularly in matters of national environmental significance. A listing as vulnerable is recognition that a species is under threat and likely to be declining in numbers. The act requires that a recovery plan be developed for listed species and that key threatening processes are recognised. In some instances, threat abatement plans are implemented.

#### The spectacled flying fox-Pteropus conspicillatus Gould, 1850

The spectacled flying fox is a large species so named for the straw coloured rings of fur around its eyes (Churchill 1998). Similar straw-coloured fur forms a mantle/ruff on the back of the neck and the shoulders. Elsewhere, the fur is black (Fig. 1.2). *Pteropus conspicillatus* has the smallest distribution of the four Australian *Pteropus* species (Fig. 1.3). Its range primarily covers the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area in North Queensland, between Cardwell in the south and Bloomfield in the north (Fig. 1.4). There is a small population in the Iron Range National Park on the Cape York Peninsula (Fig. 1.3), of which little is known. From limited observations it appears that the colony comprises a small number of individuals possibly numbering a couple of hundred (pers. obs.). No research has been undertaken on this population other than that during this study. Until August 2004 it was not known that the population as a whole leave

the park during the winter months. It is also not known where they go when they leave. They appear to return to the park during early summer (C. McMonagle, QPWS Ranger, Lockhart River, pers. obs.). It is assumed that the movement out of the park is food-driven. However, during August 2004 when the colony was absent, there was an abundant amount of Grevillea pollen available as well as *Eucalyptus tessellaris* in flower and *Ficus macrocarpa* in fruit. There are anecdotal reports of *P. conspicillatus* occurring in the McIlwraith Ranges, south of Iron Range, but there have not been any recent reported sightings, even though suitable habitat exists. From the Torres Strait Islands between PNG and Australia, there is only a single record of *P. conspicillatus* from Nepean Island (Andersen 1912). Although the distribution of *P. conspicillatus* on Cape York seems distinctly limited, there are large tracts of land inaccessible to researchers where *P. conspicillatus* camps may yet be discovered. No colonies occur west of the Great Dividing Range. Pteropus conspicillatus also occurs on the north and east coasts of PNG and on outlying islands. Although permanent colonies in towns, such as Madang or Lae, appear stable (Bonaccorso 1998), many of the colonies reputed to occur on outlying islands are poorly known. The current status of *P. conspicillatus* in PNG needs reassessment. Animals from PNG are regarded as conspecific with animals from Australia due to similarities in their pelage (Flannery 1995a; Churchill 1998). It is not known whether there is movement of animals between PNG and Australia, although with their known ability to fly 50 km in a single night when in search of food (Shilton & Westcott, unpublished data), movement between PNG and Australia is feasible.

The distribution of *P. conspicillatus* colonies in the Wet Tropics region is closely associated with that of rainforest vegetation having a high mean annual rainfall. Richards (1990a) reported that colonies were never more than 6.5 km away from rainforest and were located in areas with a mean annual rainfall of 1400 mm or more. Even though these two factors are highly correlated with the location of a *P. conspicillatus* camp, at present there is little understanding of other factors that may influence choice of campsite. Many campsites are found in locations that are unexpected. For example, some permanent *P. conspicillatus* campsites are found in city parks or small remnant blocks of forest (pers. obs.).



**Figure 1.2** The spectacled flying fox, *Pteropus conspicillatus.* Photo: Bruce Thomson. Used with permission.



**Figure 1.3** Distribution of Australia's flying foxes (after Hall and Richards 2000). *Pteropus conspicillatus* (spectacled flying fox), yellow area; *Pteropus alecto* (black flying fox), black area; *Pteropus scapulatus* (little red flying fox) inland limit, red line; *Pteropus poliocephalus* (grey-headed flying fox), grey area. Black and red dots on map of PNG = records of occurrence of black and little red flying foxes respectively in PNG. Arrow indicates approximate position (on land) of Iron Range. Blue line signifies the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area (WTWHA).



**Figure 1.4** Known colony locations of *Pteropus conspicillatus* (spectacled flying fox) in the Wet Tropics region, principal area of its range in Australia. Red dots are camps not sampled in this study, purple dots are camps that were sampled. Atherton Tablelands colonies comprise Mareeba, Tolga Scrub, Powley Rd and Whiteing Rd.

Estimates of spectacled flying fox population size have been made every year since 1998 (Fig. 1.5) using a visual census conducted by volunteers in the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area. This initiative, started by a group of conservationists and scientists, aimed to establish if this species was in decline. Estimating the size of most mammal populations is difficult, but even more so for a nocturnal, volant mammal such as a flying fox, where many of the usual methods of estimation, such as mark–recapture, are ineffective (Nelson 1965a; Pierson and Rainey 1992). The only report to mention the number of spectacled flying foxes historically is that of Francis Ratcliffe (1932) who stated vaguely that in the early 1900s he only encountered *P. conspicillatus* in Cairns and on the Atherton Tablelands. The latter area appeared to have five colonies, three of which he visited, and two of which appeared to be 'sometimes large' (meaning >50,000 individuals).



**Figure 1.5** Census results for 1998–2005; counts of spectacled flying fox (SFF) colonies in the Wet Tropics region during December. Data from Threatened Species Network, Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service.

Because of the lack of dependable historical records of population size for *P. conspicillatus* prior to the start of these surveys, it is not possible to determine whether they are in decline. Periodic counts of some colonies were undertaken during the late 1980s to the early 1990s suggesting an estimated count of 784,000 (ABS 2001), however camp counts were not carried out simultaneously,

with no correction made for immigration between colonies affecting the final tally. It is from a comparison of this figure with that reported from the count in 1998 that the initial concern of decline and impetus to have the spectacled flying fox listed occurred. The census approach cannot give an accurate measure of how many spectacled flying foxes there actually are but can only act as a guide. Reservations concerning the census data result from the uncertainty of knowing whether all colonies have been located and therefore all animals in the region counted. To test the census methodology, researchers at the CSIRO on the Atherton Tablelands carried out a study to compare counts by volunteers, with that of video-based counts. The counters were always within  $\pm$  15% of the video-based count and more often than not underestimated the count rather than overestimated (Westcott and McKeown 2004). Because spectacled flying foxes in the Wet Tropics region have access to large tracts of rainforest that are inaccessible to people, the problem of "missing" colonies is always likely to be an issue. The large apparent increase in numbers from 2000 to 2001 and from 2004 to 2005 (Fig. 1.5) is almost certainly a result of immigration from unknown colonies. Such annual population increases cannot be due to successful recruitment alone (Chapter 6).

Although the annual census gives an indication of the number of individuals in a population, it is the effective population size ( $N_e$ ) that is important in understanding the genetic diversity, and the loss of it, in a species. The effective population size is defined as the size of an idealised population that would lose genetic diversity at the same rate as the actual population (Frankham *et al.* 2002), and has become a central parameter in the field of conservation genetics.

#### Understanding population structure in Pteropus conspicillatus

#### Coloniality in flying foxes

All Australian flying foxes are colonial, roosting together during the day in groups of variable size from several hundred to tens of thousands (Ratcliffe 1932; Nelson 1965a; Eby *et al.* 1999; Freeman 2004). Colony size and structure is not static (Parry-Jones and Augee 1992; Garnett *et al.* 1999; Tidemann *et al.* 1999; Westcott *et al.* 2001), with tracking studies showing that animals often move from one roost site to another (Tidemann and Nelson 2004). Eby *et al.* (1999)

found that *Pteropus poliocephalus* moves depending on the extent of local food resources. This was confirmed by Parry-Jones & Augee (2001) who found a colony of *P. poliocephalus* in Sydney remained at the Gordon camp-site due to a permanent local supply of food. Size of colony has also been found to vary throughout the year depending on the local availability of foraging opportunities (Ratcliffe 1932; Nelson 1965a; Richards 1990a; Eby 1991; Parry-Jones and Augee 1992; Eby *et al.* 1999; Westcott *et al.* 2001).

Coloniality occurs in fish (de Fraipont *et al.* 1993), reptiles (Trillmich and Trillmich 1984), mammals (Campagna *et al.* 1992; Baldi *et al.* 1996) and most commonly in birds (Anderson and Hodum 1993; Rolland *et al.* 1998), where it is estimated one species in eight breeds in colonies (Lack 1968). However, the majority of these species only form colonies to breed, unlike flying foxes. Theory behind the function of colonial living in flying foxes includes the need to find a mate and raise young, predator protection and information exchange (Tidemann *et al.* 1999), all of which are also principal hypotheses given for coloniality in other groups. However, where members of other animal taxa will only come together for a short period of time to mate and/or give birth, flying foxes in Australia roost permanently in colonies.

Colonial living in flying foxes may be correlated with the annual reproductive cycle: finding a mate and conceiving young; gestation and the need to learn to locate good food resources; birth of young and the protection of the colony for new mothers; and the protection of the colony for newly weaned and independent young, learning to fly and finding where to go for food. Almost as soon as the young are weaned and independent, the females once again become receptive to mating and the cycle repeats itself (Hall and Richards 2000). The predator avoidance/protection theory alone is unlikely to be applicable to flying foxes, as although a single roosting flying fox is difficult to detect in the canopy, a colony of several thousand individuals is very obvious. In a review paper on group living, Danchin & Wagner (1997) demonstrated that predation protection models are not universally applicable and that it appears to hold for some prey species and not others. Wilkinson & South (2002) found no reduction of mortality risk as a result of predator dilution in bat species that roosted in large colonies. However, Nelson (1965b) believed the advantage of living in a

large colony was one of protection, with the presence of disturbance of any kind quickly conveyed from one individual to the rest of the camp. The information transfer theory is likely to apply to flying foxes as the passing on of information about blossom and fruit location in a patchy landscape is believed to occur (Ratcliffe 1932; Eby *et al.* 1999). However, none of these theories have been investigated directly in the spectacled flying fox.

Colony structure in Australian flying foxes, with regard to sex ratio and age structure, appears to change throughout the year. Colonies can be divided into permanent or maternity colonies, and temporary or satellite colonies (Richards 1990a; Eby 1999; Tidemann et al. 1999). Pteropus poliocephalus was found to peak in numbers in a Sydney colony each year during the period when adults were mating (Eby 1991; Parry-Jones and Augee 1992). Nelson (1965a) found that from September to December, when females were giving birth, the ratio of the sexes of adult *P. poliocephalus* approached equality, but that after conception had occurred, during winter months, colonies were often sexually segregated. It was also common at this time to find smaller camps containing mainly immature animals. Small satellite colonies of black flying foxes (P. alecto) in the Northern Territory were found to have a significant bias towards males (Tidemann *et al.* 1999). The very mixed results of reported sex ratios in Australian flying fox colonies (Hayden 1992; Bull 1993; Eby et al. 1999; Vardon and Tidemann 1999; Tidemann and Vardon 2001; Westcott et al. 2001) may indicate that there is a constant change in sex ratios depending on the type of colony and time of year.

The age structure of individuals in a colony might suggest a number of processes that are occurring con-currently. A colony of relatively young individuals may indicate a growing population and/or a species that has a short lifespan. A colony with a greater proportion of old individuals may indicate little recruitment to the colony and/or a species that has an extended lifespan. A population with a bimodal age structure may indicate years of decline in population size and the following recovery. This knowledge is important in assessing a populations'/species' capacity for growth in the form of reproductive output. However, with a highly mobile animal that appears to move regularly between colonies, assessment of a single colony at a single point in time may not necessarily be applicable to the species as a whole, and this

should be considered in interpretation of results. No studies have been undertaken on the age structure of flying fox colonies.

#### Definition of a 'Population'

Research on movement and gene flow in other species of flying fox in Australia (Sinclair *et al.* 1996; Webb and Tidemann 1996) show panmixia across large spatial scales in *P. poliocephalus, P. alecto* and *P. scapulatus*. There is thus an *a priori* expectation that colonies of spectacled flying foxes within the Wet Tropics region form a single panmictic 'population' Throughout this thesis 'colony' is used to refer to a group of flying foxes roosting together, 'population' is used in more general discussion, while 'camp-site' refers more specifically to the location of where the animals roost during the day.

#### Studying colony/population structure

There are two main components determining population structure: demographic factors such as sex ratios, age structure, mating strategy, birth and death rates, longevity and reproductive output; and genetic factors including gene flow, genetic diversity, relatedness, evolution and historical processes, and effective population size (Slatkin 1994). Census and observation may provide information on some demographic factors, although factors such as age estimation require long-term monitoring of animals or destructive sampling. Other factors may be inferred from an understanding of population genetic structure.

The overall contribution of both demographic and genetic factors that influence population structure may be broken down into five main components (Fig. 1.6):

- the evolutionary history of the population and species under study, including biogeographic history, species boundaries and introgression, and historical structuring due to past events such as bottlenecks.
- the size and distinct nature of current populations.

- the scale and nature of gene flow, including dispersal and migration patterns and frequency.
- the relatedness of individuals within the population as a result of mating behaviour, the resulting level of inbreeding and fitness this confers.
- the demographic factors as have been outlined previously.

By studying all of these factors in concert, an inclusive and comprehensive understanding of population structure and dynamics may be obtained.



Figure 1.6 Contribution of demographic and genetic factors affecting population structure.

Demographic and genetic components of assessing population structure combine to explain patterns more fully. By considering either factor alone, or a subset of the factors that contribute to determining population structure, the results and the interpretations possible, are limited. For example, male reproductive success in birds was historically studied by observing males in their territories, and the number of females that they mated with and guarded
within that territory (Birkhead *et al.* 1987). This often lead to the assumption that only males within a territory were successful and that males without a territory did not breed. However, with the use of genetic analysis of parentage, it has been found that extra-pair copulations result in resident males having a high variability in reproductive success due to satellite males sneaking in to mate with a female while the resident male is distracted (Kupper *et al.* 2004; Blomqvist *et al.* 2005). In this case, the observed aspect of the mating system was only giving half of the story. Genetic information on parentage provided otherwise missing information, providing a fuller picture. Therefore, as many factors as are logistically possible should be considered, and a combination of demographic and genetic data should be obtained if an accurate picture of population structure is sought.

In addition to revealing cryptic factors that influence a population's structure, combined datasets provide information that may be used to understand current and historic population processes simultaneously. Although the demographic aspects of population structure are reflected in the current time frame (such as sex ratios seen in a colony during the breeding season), some genetic data will reveal a signature of historical events and processes that may have contributed to the contemporary structure (such as an historical bottleneck of a species with low vagility due to habitat fragmentation, which has resulted in reduced genetic diversity). Genetic analysis across differing spatial scales provides insight into the difference of impacts on a broad spatial scale compared to a local spatial scale. The following two sections examine the use of these two components, demographic and genetic, in studying population structure.

#### Demographic factors

Although the mating system of a species is considered to be a demographic factor, it has important consequences for gene flow, relatedness of individuals and ultimately, genetic diversity in a population. Because of this, knowledge of a species' mating system can be invaluable when determining the effective population size (Nunny and Elan 1994). A population of randomly mating individuals (panmixia) exhibits a greater degree of heterozygosity and genetic diversity than would otherwise be the case. Alternately, species which exhibit

extreme polygynous behaviour, where a single resident male mates with a large harem of females, may have reduced genetic diversity due to a smaller proportion of the adult male population reproducing e.g. southern elephant seals, Mirounga leonina (Fabiani et al. 2004), common quail, Coturnix coturnix (Rodriguez-Teijeiro et al. 2003) or some seahorse species (Wilson et al. 2003). Polygyny can also affect the population in that the sex ratio of adults found in a single population may be skewed. In such a case, a population of reproducing individuals may have a large number of females and a much smaller number of males, while non-breeding populations may solely consist of bachelor males and possibly non-breeding females, creating a local skew in sex ratios. Some mating systems may lead to an increased risk of inbreeding depression and reduced heterozygosity and genetic diversity, while other mating systems include strategies to avoid inbreeding depression such as dispersal of male or female offspring (Stow and Sunnucks 2004). The above suggest ways that a single demographic parameter, the mating system, can influence many aspects of population structure such as gene flow, relatedness of individuals, genetic diversity, effective population size, sex ratio, population growth rate, inbreeding and dispersal in a species.

Apart from aspects of colony structure such as total population size and sex ratios (Richards 1990a; Hayden 1992; Bull 1993), no data on demographic factors in the spectacled flying fox exist. Many of the demographic parameters for spectacled flying foxes have been inferred from those calculated for other Australian flying fox species. In many instances this is reasonable as traits such as number of reproductive events per year (one), gestation time (6 months) and the number of young born (one) are uniform across flying fox species (Hall and Richards 2000). Other traits, such as age structure, sex ratios, reproductive output and population growth, that are more fluid within populations and are affected by intrinsic as well as extrinsic factors, may vary from population to population, as well as from species to species. As with other Chiropteran species, flying foxes are believed to be long lived based on the observation that they live long in captivity (Hall and Richards 2000), and that they have other life history traits (such as slow growth; late sexual maturation; only produce a single, large young each year; high maternal investment in young (Tuttle and Stevenson 1982; Kurta and Kunz 1987; Read and Harvey 1989; Austad and Fischer 1991; Barclay *et al.* 2004) that are associated with extended longevity. However, average longevity has never been assessed empirically in wild flying foxes, and as this trait is linked to other important factors such as reproductive output and population growth, it needs to be understood in light of general life history traits.

Effective techniques for determining age in flying foxes have been demonstrated using cementum layers around the root of teeth (Cool *et al.* 1994) and present an opportunity to develop an understanding of population age structure if teeth from a sufficient number of animals are available.

# Genetic factors

To determine the genetic structure of a population, it is important to understand the extent of genetic variation in the species by evaluating the genotypes of individuals (Slatkin 1994). By comparing these genotypes across different spatial scales, genetic diversity, gene flow and degree of inbreeding can be determined, as well as relatedness patterns, dispersal ability and the mating system. Understanding the extent of gene flow between populations is important in determining the independence of each individual population. If there is extensive gene flow between populations they may function collectively as a single unit and the genetic structure within each population will be similar. With reduced rates of gene flow, each population acts more independently and the genetic structure may be markedly different between populations (Slatkin 1994). If different temporal scales are also investigated, historical events that shaped the contemporary structure can be established. For example, mtDNA datasets can be analysed to determine whether the population has been through an historical bottleneck or population expansion.

Two classes of genetic markers that are extensively used by population geneticists to cover multiple spatial and temporal scales, are various portions of the mitochondrial genome, and multilocus genotypes based on repetitive DNA known as microsatellites, in the nuclear genome. Mitochondrial DNA gives a broad-scale picture, as well as permitting historical population structure to be determined. Microsatellites allow fine-scale variability to be detected and measured. By using these two classes of markers together, population structure, and many of the processes that are currently affecting it, and have affected it historically, can be assessed.

#### Mitochondrial DNA

Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) is a circular genome located within mitochondria in the cytoplasm of cells (Avise 2000). It is transmitted maternally without recombination and therefore has a clonal mode of inheritance. As a result, mtDNA typically reflects the maternal evolutionary lineage, and together with nuclear markers, can be used to infer the extent of gender-biased dispersal. Mitochondrial DNA has a rate of mutation approximately 5–10 times greater than nuclear DNA (Brown *et al.* 1979) and is highly variable (Frankham *et al.* 2002). The characteristics of mtDNA, especially its rapid rate of sequence evolution, make it a valuable tool for studying both inter- and intra-specific relationships and it is commonly used in studies of phylogeny, phylogeography and population genetics in animals. Molecular surveys of mtDNA frequently detect phylogeographic patterns that record the effects of long-standing population structure (Avise 2000).

Many species-level genetic studies incorporate a phylogeny into their analysis to determine intraspecific variation (Avise 2000) and to test for monophyly of the study species. A usual assumption is that the study species is monophyletic with respect to the alleles at the locus studied (Funk and Omland 2003). That is, that DNA sequence alleles analysed are more closely related to others from the study species than to any alleles that exist in any other species (Funk and Omland 2003). It is becoming apparent that this assumption, in many instances, may not be met. Gene trees (association of alleles) may not be the same as species trees (the association of individuals). Species-level polyphyly or paraphyly is detected when gene trees reveal an allele from one species to be more closely related to alleles in a different species than any conspecific alleles. This anomaly, however, is not detectable unless closely related species are analysed alongside the study species, which in many cases is not done. Besides misidentified specimens or poor phylogenetic resolution, there are two processes that can confer species-level paraphyly or polyphyly; introgression and incomplete lineage sorting. Introgression occurs when alleles from one species penetrate the gene pool of another through interspecific mating, followed by backcrossing of hybrids into the parental populations (Harrison 1993). Incomplete lineage sorting results when two diverging species retain copies of the same ancestral alleles that have not been completely sorted, or lost, through genetic drift. Once sorting of the lineages is finished, speciation is often regarded as complete. The effects of introgression and incomplete lineage sorting on evolutionary inferences about species can be great and involve inflation or deflation of inferred times and rates of evolutionary divergence, as well as compromising population genetic and phylogeographic studies by leading to mistaken conclusions about demography and evolutionary processes that are based on allelic frequencies and relationships (Funk and Omland 2003). Conversely, if detected, poly- or paraphyly can give great insight into historical processes and may put other results into correct context. Intensive sampling of individuals and close congeneric species should ensure that detection of a deviation from species-level monophyly can be interpreted accurately.

#### Microsatellites

Microsatellites have become the genetic marker of choice for many population geneticists investigating contemporary gene flow within and between populations (Beaumont and Bruford 1999; Balloux and Lugon-Moulin 2002). Microsatellites are short tandemly repeated sequences (e.g. AT<sub>11</sub>) (Queller *et al.* 1993) that are relatively abundant and uniformly distributed throughout the non-coding regions of the genome (Hancock 1999). Microsatellites are particularly useful because repeats are often lost or gained via slippage during DNA replication or recombination (Hancock 1999), creating a great deal of variation at the population level in the number of repeats at each locus. Microsatellites are generally considered to have a rate of mutation several orders of magnitude higher than other nuclear DNA markers (Nikitina and Nazarenko 2004), making them useful in both inter- and intrapopulation studies (Goldstein and Schlotterer 1999). The mutation process is highly heterogeneous, however, with distinct differences between species. Within species mutation rates differ among loci with different repeat numbers, among alleles at a single locus and also among individuals of different sex and age (Nikitina and Nazarenko 2004). Microsatellites are biparentally inherited codominant markers and therefore individual genotypes reflect both male and female parents.

Initial isolation of microsatellites is expensive, and in some groups difficult. However, cross-species amplification of microsatellite loci may be possible (Lowe *et al.* 2005). This increases the cost effectiveness of the use of microsatellites. For example, seven out of eight polymorphic microsatellite markers isolated for the brown treecreeper (*Climacteris picumnus*) also amplified successfully in the white-throated tree creeper (*Cormobates leucophaeus*) (Doerr 2005). As these were the first genetic markers developed for this passerine family, they are expected to be useful for genetic studies in any Australian treecreeper species (Doerr 2005).

Microsatellites are used to investigate many aspects of population structure, including; gene flow (Girman et al. 2001), genetic diversity (Gautschi et al. 2003; Baucom et al. 2005; Jedrzejewksi et al. 2005), inbreeding (Eldridge et al. 1999; Bjorklund 2003; Andersen et al. 2004), bottlenecks (Leijs et al. 1999; Miller and Hedrick 2001; Al-Rabah'ah and Williams 2004), relatedness and kinship (Bentzen et al. 2001; Burland et al. 2001; Gerlach et al. 2001; Kerth et al. 2002b; Garner and Schmidt 2003), as well as mating systems (Heckel and Von Helversen 2003), reproductive success (Ortega et al. 2003), social structure (Storz et al. 2000), and divergence between populations and species (Petren et al. 2005). Estimates of rates of gene flow help in answering broad-scale, betweenpopulation questions relating to migration, dispersal and vagility. Estimates of genetic diversity are useful in determining factors such as population resilience, fitness and inbreeding. Relatedness can be considered at different spatial scales depending on whether the mating system of species is being considered (broadscale) or whether single groups of individuals are being assessed for kinship (small scale).

Whereas mtDNA is used principally to infer historical events at broad spatial scales, microsatellites are used to examine more contemporary events over smaller spatial scales. Use of these two markers together allows for robust genetic analysis of processes that affect population structure. For example, use of both mtDNA and microsatellite data allowed the global genetic structure of

sperm whales to be determined (Lyrholm *et al.* 1999). If only mtDNA had been used, the results would have suggested that there was significant genetic differentiation between oceans. However, data from microsatellites made it clear that there was little differentiation between oceans and the pattern seen in the mtDNA was the result of female philopatry (Lyrholm *et al.* 1999).

#### Population structure, conservation and management

Genetic analysis of populations has become an important component of strategies used for the conservation and management of threatened species. The realisation that genetics can inform management on important aspects of a species' ecology and biology, such as its probable capacity to cope with stochastic environmental events (genetic diversity) (Bowyer et al. 2002; Ruedi and Castella 2003; Andersen et al. 2004), its distinctiveness from other closely related species (phylogeny) (Jones *et al.* 2002; Carstens *et al.* 2004; Morando *et al.* 2004), reasons for reduced reproductive output and less fit offspring (inbreeding depression) (Eldridge et al. 1999; Slate et al. 2000; Miller and Hedrick 2001), evidence of past reduction in population size (historical bottleneck) (Al-Rabah'ah and Williams 2004; Lucchini et al. 2004), and the likely effects of translocating populations (gene flow, introgression, genetic diversity) (Goossens et al. 2002; Nguyen et al. 2002; Mock et al. 2004), has meant that genetic techniques are now important tools used in conservation biology. Many aspects of a species biology that are critical to its effective conservation are often unknown, or difficult and time consuming to determine directly (Frankham et al. 2002). Hence, the inclusion of genetic analysis in conservation and management of threatened species, although relatively recent, is now standard.

#### Impetus for this study and aims of the thesis

Following debate regarding the status and apparent decline of the spectacled flying fox in the Wet Tropics of north Queensland, this project was devised to establish baseline knowledge for this species and through the use of genetic and demographic techniques, infer population processes. It was believed that by using a different approach to census and observation techniques, this project could offer an alternative and independent assessment of the status of the spectacled flying fox. By incorporating demographic and genetic data, this study investigated population structure in the spectacled flying fox across varying geographic and temporal scales throughout its distribution. The specific aims of this thesis are to:

1. Investigate the historical population structure of the spectacled flying fox and determine whether it reflects the contemporary geographical structure. Interpret the historical structure of the spectacled flying fox in context of its evolution in the Australo-Papuan region and its colonisation of Australia (Chapter 3).

2. Examine the genetic relatedness of spectacled flying foxes across their range to determine movement patterns, gene flow and genetic diversity across the three core areas of their distribution (Chapter 4).

3. Investigate the level of relatedness of individuals within a colony during the pupping season to determine whether there is any social structure within colonies occurring (Chapter 5).

4. Investigate aspects of the life history of a wild population of spectacled flying foxes and, through the use of life tables, investigate rates of population growth, mortality and reproductive output (Chapter 6).

Chapter Two – Isolation and characterisation of polymorphic microsatellite markers in the spectacled flying fox

Population genetic markers of high sensitivity allow genetic tracking of individuals and investigation of population–scale gene flow. For this reason, microsatellites are commonly used. To date, there has been a single published report of microsatellite markers isolated in the family Pteropodidae, for species within the genus *Cynopterus* (Storz 2000). Species–specific microsatellite markers were isolated from the spectacled flying fox (*Pteropus conspicillatus*) for the purpose of determining levels of gene flow, scales of movement and relatedness of individuals within and between colonies. In addition, microsatellites isolated, but not published, for other species of Pteropodidae developed by G. McCracken (pers. comm.), were tested to investigate across-group amplification of microsatellite loci.

A microsatellite repeat enriched DNA library was constructed using the Hamilton linker system to prevent and identify concatenated genomic fragments in the final products (Hamilton *et al.* 1999). DNA was extracted from the wing tissue of one individual spectacled flying fox using a DNeasy Tissue kit (Qiagen<sup>TM</sup>) according to manufacturers instructions. Multiple extractions were performed on the same individual until 3–5 µg of high molecular weight DNA was gained. DNA extracts were combined, ethanol precipitated and eluted in a suitable volume for a subsequent, combined *NheI* and *XmnI* restriction digestion following manufacturer's instructions. Digested DNA was sonicated until most DNA fragments fell within the 300–1200 bp size range, then size selected by gel purification using a Qiagen<sup>TM</sup> Minelute Gel Extraction Kit. Following the methods and PCR conditions of Hamilton *et al.* (1999), SNX linkers were ligated to these fragments and the ligated products PCR amplified. This amplified product was enriched for (AC)<sub>14</sub> repeats using streptavidin-

magnetic capture following the methods of Glen *et al.* (2000). The enriched product PCR was amplified, producing a broad smear between 300–1200 bp on a 1.5% agarose gel. Enrichment amplicons were cloned using a pMOS Blue blunt ended cloning kit (Amersham Biosciences) according to manufacturer's instructions and white colonies were picked using pipette tips into 96 well plates containing 50 µL molecular grade water per well. Plasmid DNA was extracted by boil-lysis (Sambrook and Russell 2001). Plasmid inserts were PCR amplified using T7 and U19 vector primers in a 15 µL reaction containing 20 mM Tris-HCl, 10 mM (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 10 mM KCl, 2 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.1% Triton X-100 (1X Thermopol buffer), 0.13 µM each primer, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.1 mM dNTP, 0.5 units *Taq* DNA polymerase with 1 µL of boil-lysed plasmid template. Thermocycler conditions were 94°C for two minutes followed by 35 cycles of 94°C for one minute, 55°C for one minute, 72°C for two minutes and a final extension of 72°C for five minutes. All subsequent sequencing was carried out using 1 µL of this (uncleaned) PCR product as template.

Detection of plasmids containing microsatellite motifs was performed by hybridisation of [γ-<sup>32</sup>P] dATP labelled common di, tri and tetra-mer oligonucleotide repeat motifs (as listed in Glen *et al.* 2000) to dot blots (Sambrook and Russell 2001) of PCR amplified plasmid inserts. Dot blot images were developed using a phosphor-imaging system (Molecular Dynamics). Hybrid positives were sequenced using Amersham ET DYnamic<sup>®</sup> sequencing chemistry according to manufacturer's instructions and analysed on a MegaBACE 1000 (Amersham Biosciences).

Of the 1312 clones screened, 62 hybrid positive clones were sequenced, 25 of which contained microsatellite repeats. Twelve of these did not have sufficient flanking region for primer design. Primers were initially designed using Primer 3 (Rozen and Skaletsky 2000). The best five primers for each putative locus were then analysed for potential hairpin and primer dimer amplification using OLIGO v 4.0 (National Biosciences Inc.). Primers were tested across a bank of four individual spectacled flying foxes known to readily PCR amplify. Of the 12 primers, eight amplified readily across all four individuals. Optimisation of PCR conditions for each primer pair was conducted following a Taguchi approach (Cobb and Clarkson 1994). A group of 96 individuals was screened

from populations across the range of the species to determine if the primers detected polymorphisms. Four primers did not detect polymorphisms (Table 2.1) and were not screened further. The remaining four primers were screened across more than 400 individuals to determine average levels of polymorphism (Table 2.1). All four loci were highly polymorphic with 15-21 alleles per locus. Three loci conformed to Hardy-Weinberg expectations for average levels of heterozygosity. One locus, PC36c2, did not conform to expectations at the 5% significance level but did at the 10% level. This locus contains a complex repeat (GTCTCTCT)<sub>4</sub>. Among the samples analysed were a bank of mother-baby pairs with these individuals verifying the co-dominant inheritance of all four primer pairs, and negating the presence of null alleles.

In addition to the novel microsatellite markers generated by this study, markers designed for *Pteropus rodricensis*, *P. hypomelanus*, *P. samoensis* and *P. tonganus* by G. McCracken (pers. comm.) were tested against individuals of the spectacled flying fox from two colonies. Six loci were tested and all amplified across the 210 individuals analysed (Table 2.2). Two loci (c6, ph9) have been incorporated into the main genetic study of *P. conspicillatus*. Of the four loci not used in the study, one was a complex repeat that was difficult to score (D1), and the remaining three (A1, A2, A3) showed indications of null alleles being present. This highlights the success of across-group amplification of microsatellite loci.

Microsatellites are becoming the genetic marker of choice for many population genetic studies as they can answer a multitude of questions: extent of gene flow and inbreeding (Andersen *et al.* 2004; Garoia *et al.* 2004; Durand *et al.* 2005), relatedness of individuals (Bentzen *et al.* 2001; Kerth *et al.* 2002b), genetic diversity and detection of bottlenecks (Leijs *et al.* 1999; Bowyer *et al.* 2002), to name a few. In a species that is listed as vulnerable, and is difficult to study due to its mobility and inaccessibility, the use of this indirect method to answer ecological, demographic and social questions, reduces the impact on the species as well as allowing greater depth of knowledge. The principal drawback with microsatellites has been the difficulty and cost of isolating them (Lowe *et al.* 2005) and the fact that they are often species-specific. Four microsatellite loci are reported here that have been isolated from the spectacled flying fox for use in this study. I also report successful cross-species amplification of microsatellite

loci isolated for other *Pteropus* species. These six loci will be used to investigate gene flow, colony differentiation, genetic diversity and relatedness in the spectacled flying fox (*Pteropus conspicillatus*).

**Table 2.1** Attributes of eight microsatellites developed for *Pteropus conspicillatus*. **Ta** refers to final annealing temperature. **N** is the number of samples scored for each locus. **Ho & He** are the observed and expected heterozygosity calculated by GenAlEx v6.0 (Peakall and Smouse 2005).

Locus	Repeat	Primers: 5' to 3'	Та	No. of	Size	Ν	Ho	He
Accession No			(°C)	alleles	range (bp)			
PC25b6	TG(11)	F: GCTCAAACACCTACAGGAGCA	50	21	234-278	711	0.762	0.857
		R: GCTCGGGGCTTGTTTCTATT						
PC26a7	TG(17)	F: TTCAGAGTTAGTAGGGGCAAAG	55	17	136-166	702	0.806	0.904
		R: TTTCCTTGAAAAGCAGCAAA						
PC36c2	GTCTCTCT(4)	F: AGTTGAAGGGCACTCATGCT	50	15	134-222	453	0.689	0.702'
		R: CAGAGACAGAGACAGAGACAGAGA						
PC31h4	TG(9)	F: CATTCCCCATTTGAGTGTTT	55	21	111-149	408	0.745	0.818
		R: ACAGCACCTGAAACCAAACC						
PC25c3	AC(8)	F: GCCTGGTGATTACAGTTAAT		1	120	96	-	-
		R: ATTCCCACAATCAAGTTCAT						
PC35e11	AC(13)	F: TCTTTCAAAGCACCCTTCAGA		1		96	-	-
		R: TGGGCGAGTCAAATAACAGC						
PC33g9	TA(5)	F: TTTCTCGGAAGTCTGCGATT		1	240	96	-	-
-		R: CATGCTGAATTGTGGCTCTG						
PC40b4	AC(8)	F: ATCCACACCAAACAATTTTC		1	156	96	-	-
		R: AGTGGCAGCAAGTCATCCAA						

\* significant departure from overall HWE at 5% confidence interval but not at 10%.

Table 2.2	Attributes	of six	polymorphic	microsatellite	loci	designed	for	Pteropus
species by	G. McCrac	ken bu	t tested agains	t individuals of	P. co	onspicillatu	s	

,		0			1
Locus	Ν	Na	Size	Ho	He
			range		
D1	208	31	104-348	0.70	0.65*
C6	206	14	126-300	0.70	0.77
A1	210	20	114-354	0.85	0.88
Ph9	209	22	170-254	0.89	0.90
A2	198	11	128-218	0.28	0.79*
A3	200	20	120-208	0.58	0.86*

\*significant departure from overall HWE at 5% confidence interval.

Table 2.3 Volumes of reagents used for each primer in the PCR reaction

Locus	10x	MgCl <sub>2</sub>	dNTP's	Primer	Taq	DNA	H <sub>2</sub> O	Thermocycler
	buffer	25mM	10mM	10mM		3ng/ul		program
PC25b6	1.5ul	0.9ul	0.15ul	0.45ul	0.08ul	2.5ul	8.97ul	58TD50
PC26a7	1.5ul	0.9ul	0.15ul	0.9ul	0.08ul	2.5ul	8.07ul	STD55
PC36c2	1.5ul	-	0.3ul	0.6ul	0.08ul	2.5ul	9.42ul	58TD50
PC31h4	1.5ul	0.9ul	0.3ul	0.3ul	0.08ul	1.5ul	10.12ul	STD55
c6	1.5ul	0.9ul	0.3ul	0.3ul	0.08ul	2.5ul	9.12ul	50TD44
ph9	1.5ul	-	0.15ul	0.3ul	0.08ul	1.0ul	11.67ul	STD55

\*Details of amplification in each thermocycle program are listed in Appendix 3

# Chapter Three – Phylogeography, historical population expansion and introgression inferred from mtDNA

# Introduction

The four species of flying fox found on mainland Australia are sympatric except for the spectacled flying fox (*Pteropus conspicillatus*) and the grey-headed flying fox (Pteropus poliocephalus), which are allopatric (Fig. 1.3). The phylogenetic relationship of these four species, and their evolutionary history within Australia, is unknown; in fact the relationships among species within the genus *Pteropus* remains unresolved. In one of the earliest phylogenetic interpretations of relationships among the species within Pteropus (Andersen 1912), the four Australian species were placed in different groups, each aligned more closely with other species than with each other. One study found *P. conspicillatus* most closely related to *Pteropus neohibernicus*, the greater flying fox that occurs in PNG (Colgan and Flannery 1995), while in another it was thought to be most closely related to Pteropus ocularis, the Ceram flying fox that occurs in the central Moluccas, Indonesia (Jones et al. 2002). Flannery (1995b) stated that P. conspicillatus was most closely related to Pteropus tonganus, the Pacific flying fox, to which it bears a resemblance. Electrophoretic studies on these two species apparently support this assertion (Flannery 1995b).

Determining the phylogenetic relationships among Australia's flying foxes may help understand the evolution and colonisation of Australia by this group. A comparison of the vertebrate fauna of the major tracts of rainforest in Australia shows the fauna in the Wet Tropics region (Fig. 1.2) to be more closely associated with fauna from the tract of rainforest from south eastern Queensland – northern New South Wales, while the fauna of Cape York Peninsula lies closely with the fauna of the Fly River area of New Guinea (Schodde and Calaby 1972). Accordingly, the appearance of *P. conspicillatus* in the Wet Tropics region is apparently anomalous. However, its colonisation of this area from the north is commonly stated to be a recent occurrence (Schodde and Calaby 1972) (Fig. 3.1). Although colonisation of Australia by *P. conspicillatus* is proposed to be a result of historical migration from PNG (Schodde and Calaby 1972), it is unknown whether there is any current and/or ongoing movement between these countries.

With previous phylogenetic analyses of *Pteropus* species indicating a close, but unresolved, relationship within the genus, it is also appropriate to include geographically local congeners in any evolutionary study of Australian *Pteropus* species. Three of the four species of flying fox found in Australia have also been recorded in Papua New Guinea (PNG): P. conspicillatus, Pteropus alecto and Pteropus scapulatus. While P. conspicillatus is believed to be widespread and common in PNG, P. alecto has a limited distribution and is uncommon, and *P. scapulatus* is only known from a single collection from 1973 (Fig. 1.3) (Bonaccorso 1998). There are also three other large *Pteropus* species found in PNG that do not occur in Australia: Pteropus hypomelanus (the variable flying fox), *Pteropus macrotis* (the big-eared flying fox) and *P. neohibernicus* (the greater flying fox) (Flannery 1995a). Moreover, there are another six *Pteropus* species that are not found on the PNG mainland but are commonly found on offshore islands (Bonaccorso 1998), and another 29 species found in the South-west Pacific and Moluccan islands (Flannery 1995b). Although Australian flying fox species are believed to have colonised Australia from PNG, there are no records of the other three large flying fox species in PNG attempting to migrate to Australia. Understanding historical processes may clarify past movement patterns that have influenced the contemporary distributions of Australasian Pteropus species.

The earliest study of flying foxes in Australia noted that the distribution of the three large species may be indicative of the sequence of their colonisation into Australia, with *P. poliocephalus* arriving first (based on its most southerly distribution from the point of entry, and its endemic status), followed by *P. alecto*, and finally, more recently, by *P. conspicillatus* (Ratcliffe 1932). *Pteropus poliocephalus* is Australia's only endemic flying fox, so it seems counter-intuitive

to suggest that it has arrived from elsewhere, especially as it is also proposed that flying foxes are recent immigrants in Australia. Despite the propensity for these three species to be separated in previous phylogenies (Andersen 1912; Colgan and Flannery 1995; Jones *et al.* 2002), their possible syntopic relationship led Webb & Tidemann (1995) to investigate their genetic relatedness. Allozyme electrophoresis found very little differentiation between *P. alecto* and *P. poliocephalus*, or between *P. alecto* and *P. conspicillatus* (Webb and Tidemann 1995). However, with the large degree of morphological variability between individuals in *P. alecto* and *P. conspicillatus*, the authors commented that inferred hybrids could have been misidentified. People working closely with *P. alecto* and *P. conspicillatus*, however, believe that these two species hybridise successfully (H. Spencer; J. Maclean, pers. comm.).

Phylogeography is the study of the geographic distribution of genealogical lineages, especially those within and among closely related species (Avise 2000). With the advent of appropriate molecular methods, it has become possible to trace evolutionary relationships among species, as well as within and among populations of a single species (Lowe *et al.* 2005). Phylogeography permits interpretation of historical processes, such as vicariance and dispersal, which have left their signature in contemporary geographic distributions of species. The growing interest in the field of phylogeography has seen the literature base grow from 300 published articles on phylogeography or phylogeny in 1999 (Avise 2000), to more than 26,000 (Web of Science search) in 2005.

Animal mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) has proven to be an ideal genetic marker for phylogenetic analysis due to its high rate of mutation, uniparental inheritance and lack of recombination (Lowe *et al.* 2005). Clonal inheritance means that interpretation of evolutionary processes is more straightforward than would be the case with the nuclear genome. It also means that mtDNA is suitable for determining historical tokogenetic associations (genetic relationships among individuals), something that is not possible with nuclear DNA in sexually reproducing species because of recombination (Avise 2000). Mitochondrial DNA and phylogeography have been widely used in trying to resolve the relationships of bat groups (Colgan and Flannery 1995; Kirsch *et al.*  1995; Springer *et al.* 1995; Alvarez *et al.* 1999; Nikaido *et al.* 2000; Castella *et al.* 2001; Colgan and da Costa 2002; Jones *et al.* 2002; Giannini and Simmons 2003; Campbell *et al.* 2004; Teeling *et al.* 2005).

Mitochondrial DNA is also useful for detecting introgression, with its uniparental mode of inheritance allowing identification of introgression events through the maternal lineage. Introgression is the incorporation of genetic material from one distinct species into the genome of another, and results from the formation of fertile hybrids (Barton and Gale 1993) that subsequently backcross with one or both of the parent species (Harrison 1993). Introgression appears to be fairly common in some animal lineages (Haig *et al.* 2004; Morando *et al.* 2004; Shapiro *et al.* 2004; Barrowclough *et al.* 2005; Helbig *et al.* 2005; Uthicke *et al.* 2005), especially in birds. Introgression can be inferred if individuals of one species group with individuals of another species in a phylogeny constructed using appropriate sequence data. Mitochondrial DNA sequences are particularly useful for this as their maternal mode of inheritance allows tracking of the genealogical history back to the most recent common ancestor.

A signature in the phylogeny that suggests introgression, however, may also be due to the retention of ancestral polymorphism (incomplete lineage sorting). Incomplete lineage sorting occurs when two recently separated polyphyletic or paraphyletic sister taxa are still in the process of diverging from a common ancestral species, and sequences present in the ancestral species are still present in both diverging species (Frankham *et al.* 2002). It can be difficult to determine which of these two processes, introgression or incomplete lineage sorting, is operating if no prior knowledge of historical events or the general ecology of the two species is available. In some cases, both processes may be occurring. For example, in the *Liolaemus darwinii* complex of lizards in Argentina, isolation of populations during the Pleistocene resulted in the divergence and speciation of these species has resulted in introgression of one species into two others, and incomplete lineage sorting in two species (Morando *et al.* 2004).

Mitochondrial DNA can also detect population expansion events by analysing the distribution of mutation frequencies using a coalescent-based approach focussed primarily on the neutral evolution of genes (Ramos-Onsins and Rozas 2002), or the distribution of the number of pairwise differences in nucleotides between DNA sequences (Harpending 1994). Detection of an historical expansion event may clarify historical distribution patterns of *P. conspicillatus*, as well as indicate when *P. conspicillatus* colonised Australia.

In this chapter, partial mtDNA D-loop sequences are used to investigate historical population structure in the spectacled flying fox and compare it with contemporary colony geographical location. The phylogenetic relationship of *P. conspicillatus* and a sympatric congener, *P. alecto*, is also examined.

# Methods

# Laboratory protocols

Tissue samples from a total of 50 individual spectacled flying foxes from five different areas across the entire range of *P. conspicillatus* were used in the phylogenetic analysis (see Fig. 3.1). In order to balance suitable sample sizes with the cost of sequencing, it was decided to use 10 samples from 5 areas across the species range. These 50 samples were taken from the larger pool of samples used in the microsatellite analysis. Details regarding obtaining these samples can be found in Chapter Four. Samples were also collected from seven *P. alecto* (black flying fox) individuals to use as an outgroup. Five of the seven samples came from a permanent colony of black flying foxes on Thursday Island in the Torres Strait, and the remaining two samples came from individuals in Townsville, north Queensland.

Wing membrane tissue for DNA extraction was collected from the plagiopatagium using 6 mm biopsy punches from Steifel Laboratories, and stored in 5 M NaCl-saturated 20% DMSO and refrigerated. DNA was extracted using a QIAGEN DNeasy tissue kit and gel-quantified against Lambda standards of known concentration.



**Figure 3.1** Distribution and sampling strategy map for mtDNA phylogeographic analysis. Purple circles = spectacled flying fox colonies. Yellow boxes contain codes for each colony sampled and sample size. Population/colony codes: PNG, Papua New Guinea; IR, Iron Range; DT, Daintree; TS, Tolga Scrub; TY, Tully.

A portion of the mitochondrial D-loop was amplified using primers PVDLPL PVDLPR (5'-AACACCCAAAGCTGATATTCTACT-3') a n d (5'-CGTATGCGTATGCGTATGTC-3'), sequenced in both directions. These primers were designed for *Pteropus vampyrus* and provided by Kevin Olival (Columbia University, New York). The 25 µL PCR reaction mix contained 15 ng DNA, 1 x PCR buffer (containing Tris-HCl and KCl), 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.10 mM of dNTPs in equal concentrations, 0.2 µM of each primer and 0.5 units of Platinum Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen). The PCR included an initial denaturation step of 94°C for 3 minutes, 32 cycles of 94°C for 60 s, 57°C for 60 s and 74°C for 60 s, with a final 7 minute extension at 74°C. PCR products were gel-purified using a MinElute<sup>™</sup> Gel Extraction kit (QIAGEN) according to manufacturer's instructions. Sequencing reactions were performed using DYEnamic ET dye terminator for MegaBACE (Amersham BioSciences) and unincorporated nucleotides, salts and other carryover PCR amplification components were removed by spinning through Sephadex–G50. DNA sequencing products were analysed on a MegaBACE 1000 (Amersham Biosciences) at the Advanced Analytical Centre, James Cook University. Sequences were edited in SEQUENCHER<sup>TM</sup> v 4.5 (Gene Codes Corporation), and manually aligned using SEAL v 2.0a11 (Rambaut 2002) (Appendix 1).

#### Data analysis

The most appropriate model of nucleotide substitution was determined using MODELTEST 3.5 (Posada and Crandall 1998) and PAUP\* 4.0b10 (Swofford 1998) replicates. bootstrap Base frequencies and across 100the transition/transversion ratio were calculated using MODELTEST. Maximum likelihood analysis was implemented in PAUP\* 4.0b10. The tree produced was rooted by outgroup (*Pteropus alecto*). Intraspecific haplotype diversity (*h*) and nucleotide diversity ( $\pi$ ) were calculated for each of the five spectacled flying fox colonies included in this study (Fig. 3.1). The nucleotide sequence divergence (d) was calculated between clades with the Kimura 2-parameter algorithm using MEGA version 3.1 (Kumar et al. 2004). An analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) was calculated across three regions (Wet Tropics, Iron Range and PNG) in ARLEQUIN 3.0 (Excoffier et al. 2005). An additional AMOVA was carried out on the dataset once the three main clades were identified. As clade 3 only contained three *P. conspicillatus* individuals, it was not included in any further analyses. The lack of structure in the phylogeny according to current geographical locations of colonies, indicated that additional analysis such as an isolation-by-distance analysis and nested-clade-analysis would not be informative.

Historical demography was investigated using mismatch analysis and neutrality tests. Mismatch analysis was performed using ARLEQUIN 3.0 with 1000 bootstrap replicates to assess the statistical significance of Harpending's raggedness (*rg*) statistic (Harpending 1994). Mismatch distribution has been shown to have low power in detecting signals of population growth (Ramos-Onsins and Rozas 2002), while neutrality tests, especially Fu's F<sub>s</sub>, are more robust. Fu's F<sub>s</sub> was calculated in ARLEQUIN 3.0 using 1000 coalescent simulations to assess statistical significance. Whereas mismatch distributions analyse pairwise nucleotide differences, Fu's F<sub>s</sub> uses information from the distribution of mutations (Fu and Li 1993; Fu 1997) to test whether the

population is evolving in a neutral manner. Fu and Li (1993) also showed that while Fu's F<sub>s</sub> is most powerful for detecting population growth, other neutrality tests, specifically Fu & Li's F\* and D\*, are more powerful for detecting genetic hitchhiking (where neutral mutations 'hitchhike' to high frequency when situated close to sites under positive selection), a process that leaves a similar signature in the data. If Fu & Li's F\* and D\* are significant and Fu's F<sub>s</sub> is not, then the signature seen is due to genetic hitchhiking. If  $Fu's F_s$  is significant but Fu & Li's F\* and D\* are not, then the signature is due to a population expansion (Fu and Li 1993). Fu & Li's F\* and D\* were calculated using DNASP 4.1 (Rozas et al. 2003). Mismatch distribution and neutrality tests were carried out on the dataset split into the two major clades found in the phylogeny. Where a population expansion was suggested, the mismatch distribution was used to estimate the time since expansion  $(\tau)$  scaled in mutational units. The relationship  $\tau = 2ut$ , where *t* is the time in generations and  $u = \mu k$ , where  $\mu$  is the mutation rate per million years and *k* is the sequence length, was used to rescale to absolute time (Rogers 1995). As a comparison, a very simple method of working out time to most recent common ancestor was used. The total number of substitutions in clade 1 was calculated as a proportion of change in the number of base pairs in the sequence length analysed. The rate of mutation in the D-loop is highly variable, so this was compared to a conservative rate of Dloop mutation published for mammals (2% per million years) (Brown et al. 1979), as well as a rate of D-loop mutation published for bats (20% per million years) (Petit et al. 1999). The effective population size of females was calculated using the relationship  $\theta = 2Ne_{(\theta)}\mu$ . Theta ( $\theta$ ) was obtained from MIGRATE (Beerli and Felsenstein 1999; Beerli and Felsenstein 2001), which uses a coalescence maximum likelihood approach to calculate migration rate and population size.

# Results

#### Sequence analysis

In total, 732 base pairs (bp), containing 165 polymorphic sites, of the D-loop in the control region in *Pteropus conspicillatus* were sequenced. Sequences were all of exceptional quality making editing simple and unambiguous. Sequence variation included 6 insertions and/or deletions (indels), each 1 bp in length,

making alignment unequivocal. The ratio of transitions to transversions (ts/tv) was 9.6:1 for samples overall. Average base composition (C=0.26, T=0.26, A=0.31, G=0.17) was similar to that of other mammals (Conroy and Cook 2000). The hierarchical likelihood tests and Akaike information criterion from MODELTEST both selected the TrN+I+G model as the best fit for the data (-LogLikelihood=3577.57; AIC 7137.95; Nst=6; Rmat=(1.0000 77.6637 1.0000 1.0000 48.2607)) with variable substitution along the sequence (Rates=gamma), a moderate alpha value (Shape=0.7175), and the proportion of invariable sites = 0.5715.

# **Phylogenetic analysis**

The Maximum Likelihood (ML) analysis revealed 136 equally likely trees, with the variability in tree topology predominantly occurring at the tip nodes. The ML tree most similar to the majority rule tree was chosen. The chosen ML tree divided the dataset in to one well-resolved clade (clade 1) and two smaller groupings (clade 2 and 3), as well as the outgroup (Fig. 3.2). Some individuals also fell out separately away from the main clades (Fig. 3.2 a+b). Several *P. alecto* individuals were placed as an outgroup to all *P. conspicillatus* individuals as would be expected of a different species. However, four of the seven black flying fox individuals fell within the spectacled flying fox clades. The phylogeographic structure depicted by the mtDNA data does not reflect the current geographic relationships of the colonies, as is evident by the lack of structure observed across the colonies throughout the phylogeny (Fig. 3.2).

# Molecular diversity

The D-loop in *P. conspicillatus* is characterised by very high levels of haplotypic diversity (Table 3.1). Among a total of 50 individuals, 46 different haplotypes were identified.

=			-	•
Colony	n	$\mathbf{n}_h$	h	π (± SD)
PNG	11	8	0.935	$0.054 \pm 0.029$
Iron Range	7	7	1.000	$0.048 \pm 0.027$
Daintree	10	10	1.000	$0.045 \pm 0.025$
Tolga Scrub	12	12	1.000	$0.072 \pm 0.038$
Tully	10	10	1.000	$0.045 \pm 0.024$
Overall	50	46*	0.996	$0.050 \pm 0.025$

**Table 3.1** Molecular diversity indices for all colonies. n = number of individuals sequenced,  $n_h =$  number of haplotypes, h = haplotype diversity,  $\pi =$  nucleotide diversity.

\* Note: Total number of haplotypes is less than the sum of  $n_h$  due to one haplotype being shared between Iron Range and Daintree.

Although overall haplotype diversity was high (h=0.996), overall sequence diversity was relatively low ( $\pi$ =0.050). Forty-three of the 46 different haplotypes occurred as singletons, with two of the remaining three haplotypes each being found in only two individuals. The remaining haplotype was found in three individuals from PNG. One of the two haplotypes found in two individuals was shared between the Iron Range colony and the Daintree colony. Haplotype diversity in PNG appeared to be lower than all the Australian colonies (Table 3.1). Mean sequence divergence between clade one and two was 0.055 (S.E.=0.008).

#### **Population genetic structure**

The AMOVA generated on the three regions (Wet Tropics, Iron Range and PNG) showed little differentiation between the regions (5.3%), with most variability occurring within regions (94.7%). An overall fixation index of 0.053 supports the lack of distinction among populations found with the AMOVA. Pairwise  $F_{ST}$  values also showed no distinctive genetic difference between the five colonies (Table 3.2).

**Table 3.2** Pairwise  $F_{ST}$  values between colonies (lower diagonal) and their correspondent significance values (upper diagonal).

	PNG	Iron Range	Daintree	Tolga Scrub	Tully
PNG	-	0.153	0.297	0.234	0.054
Iron Range	0.072	-	0.153	0.117	0.054
Daintree	0.023	0.039	-	0.973	0.486
Tolga Scrub	0.032	0.046	-0.058	-	0.631
Ťully	0.076	0.114	-0.018	-0.026	-



**Figure 3.2** Maximum likelihood tree of D-loop mtDNA sequences from *Pteropus conspicillatus* individuals throughout their range, with a closely related congeneric species (*Pteropus alecto*) as the outgroup. Sample names comprise the unique individual identifier followed by the colony from which the sample was collected. Numbers on branches represent percentage bootstrap replicate support. Locality codes: PNG, Papua New Guinea; TSTRAIT, Torres Strait; TVL, Townsville.

An AMOVA, carried out on data separated into the two main clades, found that nearly two-thirds of the variability in the data was between clades (64.48%) while the remaining 35.52% variability was within clades. A fixation index of 0.64 supports the distinctiveness of these two clades.

#### **Demographic analyses**

With the dataset separated into two clades, the mismatch distribution analysis for clade 1 was unimodal and fit the expected distribution under a model of population expansion (Fig. 3.3). The raggedness statistic (*rg*) was low but not significant (*rg* = 0.0078, P = 0.52). Clade 2 demonstrated a ragged distribution that fit the expected distribution under a model of stationarity (*rg* = 0.066, P = 0.13) (Fig. 3.3). Fu's F<sub>s</sub> strongly supported a population expansion in clade 1 (Fu's F<sub>s</sub> = -18.27, P = 0.0000). Fu and Li's F\* and D\* were however, not significant for clade 1 (F\* = -1.577 p > 0.10, D\* = -1.265 p > 0.10). Fu's F<sub>s</sub> was not significant (F\* = -0.7645 p > 0.10, D\* = -0.06667 p > 0.10).

Estimates of time since expansion were initially taken from the mismatch distribution with Tau ( $\tau$ ) = 15.713 for clade 1. Assuming a mutation rate of 2% divergence in sequences per million years (0.02 per base pair per million years), and a generation time of five years (see Chapter 6) suggests a time since expansion of 1.43 mya. When this same equation is completed with a mutation rate of 20% per million years as published by Petit *et al.* (1999) for bats, the result is an order of magnitude different (143,367 years). Using a simple equation of time to last common ancestor using number of substitutions and mutation rate, the complete spectacled flying fox dataset suggests a time of 12.5 mya while clade 1 data suggest a time since divergence of 8.5 mya. Again, when a less conservative mutation rate is used in these equations, the results are an order of magnitude different, with time to the last common ancestor becoming 1.25 mya and the time since divergence for clade 1 becoming 850,000 years.

Using the relationship  $\theta = 2Ne_{(f)}\mu$ , with  $\theta = 0.426$  and the mutation rate reported for D-loop in mammals (2% per million years (Brown *et al.* 1979)), and the comparative mutation rate reported for the hyper-variable portion of the

control region in bats (20% per million years (Petit *et al.* 1999)), the effective female population size was calculated to be 38 868 and 3887 respectively.



**Figure 3.3** Mismatch distribution analysis for clade 1 and 2. Clade 1 fits the expected model of population expansion while clade 2 follows a model of stationarity. Blue points are the distribution of the data for Clade 1 and 2, while the pink points are the expected distribution under that particular model (expansion model for Clade 1 and stationarity model for Clade 2)

#### Discussion

#### The phylogeographic structure of spectacled flying foxes

The phylogeographic analysis of *Pteropus conspicillatus* revealed a complex structure with a single large, well-supported clade and two smaller clades with varying degrees of support. Unfortunately the small number of individuals that were in clade 3 meant additional analysis of this clade was not possible

The current geographical location of spectacled flying fox colonies bears no direct relation to the historical (mtDNA) genetic structure, suggesting that the current geographical locations of spectacled flying fox colonies, especially in the Wet Tropics region, may be a relatively recent phenomenon. The lack of structure also corresponds with the general pattern of panmixia found in other Australian flying fox species (Sinclair et al. 1996; Webb and Tidemann 1996). Moreover, there is also no obvious structure in the phylogeny of colonies outside the core distribution of the Wet Tropics region. Iron Range individuals are scattered throughout the phylogenetic tree with the rest of the Australian colonies. This may indicate that spectacled flying fox colonies were historically contiguous throughout north Queensland and Cape York Peninsula. If this were the case, and there was once suitable habitat for colonies throughout this area, movement throughout north Queensland, and between Australia and PNG would have been more likely. This may have occurred during one of the warm, moist inter-glacial periods when more suitable habitat would have been present to support the movement of flying foxes. While it could be proposed, then, that movement between PNG and Australia should also be occurring now as it is currently an inter-glacial period, human impact has also had an effect on available habitat, and therefore, current vegetation distribution might not be directly comparable with other inter-glacial periods.

#### Introgression between P. alecto and P. conspicillatus

The placement of several individuals of *P. alecto* within the *P. conspicillatus* clades suggests historical introgression or retention of ancestral polymorphism. That several *P. alecto* individuals were placed well outside the main

*P. conspicillatus* clades also implies that *P. alecto* is genetically differentiated as a separate species. The occurrence of introgression or incomplete lineage sorting, are discussed below.

Theoretically, introgression results in haplotypes of one species being shared with a sympatric but distinct species. Although the two species would have had to be sympatric in the past for the introgression to occur, they will not necessarily still be sympatric. Thus, it is possible that the similarity seen between *P. conspicillatus* and *P. alecto* represents shared haplotypes from old introgression events (Morando *et al.* 2004). The extent of introgression is not known. Whether the introgression is reciprocal is also unknown. That more than half of the limited number of *P. alecto* individuals sequenced fell within *P. conspicillatus* clades, indicates that the extent of introgression between these two species may be high. It is possible that the main clade (clade 1) is a central spectacled flying fox clade, and one of the smaller clades (clade 3) could contain original black flying fox sequences introgressed into spectacled flying fox individuals.

The pattern seen may not be a case of two different species coming together but more a case of a single polymorphic species in the process of divergence. The placing of black flying foxes within spectacled flying fox clades could represent retention of ancestral polymorphisms (or incomplete lineage sorting) between black flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes. Lineage sorting eliminates ancestral polymorphisms over time such that sister species become reciprocally monophyletic (Tajima 1983). However, if these two species are still in the process of diverging from a common ancestor, there will still be ancestral polymorphisms present in the sequences of both species. Phenotypically, some black flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes share similar markings and colouring in the extent of the spectacles occurring and the colouring of the ruff around the neck.

There is no single method currently able to distinguish between introgression and incomplete lineage sorting; two processes that produce similar patterns (Masta *et al.* 2003). Incomplete lineage sorting and introgression due to cycles of isolation and subsequent contact has been suggested in South American lizards (Morando *et al.* 2004), while incomplete lineage sorting in Caribbean phyllostomid bat species, due to island founder events, produced lower genetic divergence among islands than expected (Carstens *et al.* 2004).

It is difficult to determine which of the above explanations for the pattern seen in the phylogeny is most appropriate. However, sharing of tip haplotypes, or similarity at gene tree tips, between two syntopic species is more indicative of introgression than of shared ancestral polymorphisms, where older, more interior haplotypes (basal) are expected to be shared (Maddison 1997). Although most of the black flying foxes share tip haplotypes, *P. alecto* 50 TVL is more basal and may indicate shared ancestral polymorphisms. So there is evidence to suggest that both processes may be occurring. Many more sequences of both species need to be analysed to determine which explanation can be confidently assigned. As there is also evidence that black and greyheaded flying foxes hybridise (Webb and Tidemann 1995) it would be very informative to include grey-headed flying foxes in future work to determine if these three species form a species complex. This information may also help determine whether introgression or the retention of ancestral polymorphism is occurring.

Pre- or post zygotic mechanisms usually prevent introgression between syntopic species. A common post-zygotic mechanism is production of sterile F1 offspring. However, the discovery that black flying fox individuals appear to be carrying historical spectacled flying fox mtDNA, implies that these two species produce fertile hybrid offspring. There is also anecdotal evidence to this effect (H. Spencer, pers. comm.). A number of possible pre-zygotic mating avoidance mechanisms exist in flying foxes, including a species-specific secretion produced by the scapular gland of males (Martin *et al.* 1995); vocalisations; and grooming. In addition, most flying fox species do not regularly roost together in the same site, and within a camp of conspecifics during the mating season, males will drive off any interloping males, and females will also fend off unwelcome males (Hall and Richards 2000). Ratcliffe (1932) noted that 'not once' did he encounter *P. conspicillatus* roosting with another flying fox species. During 18 monthly camp visits to spectacled flying fox camps in the Wet Tropics, no co-occupation by black flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes was

witnessed (Shilton, pers. comm.). Conversely, Welbergen (2004) undertook behavioural observations in a colony containing both black and grey-headed flying foxes. All of the above factors make it reasonable to suggest that there are at least some barriers in place to prevent introgression occurring between these species.

It is possible that introgression between black flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes occurs through males forcing females of the other species to mate. As these two species appear rarely to roost together, forced copulation may occur during overlapping feeding ranges of the two species. Most flying fox species are believed to have a polygynous mating system where a male defends a territory and mates with the females within that territory (McCracken and Wilkinson 2000; Markus 2002). Males without a territory and, therefore, females to mate with, may take whatever opportunity is open to them. As black flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes also share the same mating and parturition time in the Wet Tropics (Hall and Richards 2000), males in search of a female to mate with will encounter females of both species in oestrus. Forced copulation has mainly been recorded in bird species (Dunn et al. 1999; Low 2005), but also in frogs (Byrne and Roberts 2004) and snakes (Shine et al. 2003) although this is usually intraspecific. Behavioural observations suggest that female flying foxes often resist the copulatory attentions of even a conspecific male to the point of screaming and struggling. Although this may appear forced from an anthropogenic viewpoint, the fact that the female remains in the vicinity of the male following the act prevents behavioural ecologists from calling it 'forced' (Markus, pers. comm.). During interspecific interactions, females in captive colonies appear to be indifferent to the specific identity of a potential mate (H. Spencer, pers. comm.).

# Support for an historical population expansion

The pattern of high haplotype diversity and low nucleotide diversity is indicative of an historical population expansion. This same pattern of molecular diversity was observed in the Mexican free-tailed bat (Russell *et al.* 2005), which was found to have undergone a population expansion. The unimodal distribution of pair-wise nucleotide differences in the mismatch analysis, and

neutrality tests strongly support this assertion for clade 1. That Fu's  $F_s$  was significant, while Fu and Li's F\* and D\* were not, indicates that the signature in the data is likely to be due to a population expansion rather than the influence of background selection. Clade 2 was not significant for any of the population expansion analyses, suggesting that it has not undergone a significant expansion event.

The movement of bats into Australia is believed to have followed two routes: from Papua New Guinea down through Cape York Peninsula, and from the islands of Indonesia into the Kimberley/Arnhem land region (Hall 1984). The diversity and geographic distribution of Australian bat species as we see them today is believed to have been the result of many migration events (Hall 1984; Hand 1984). Although the general agreement in the literature is that flying foxes are recent immigrants to Australia, the high haplotypic diversity reported in this chapter suggests an old lineage, rather than one that arrived relatively recently. The higher haplotypic diversity in Australia compared with PNG also suggests that spectacled flying foxes have colonised PNG from Australia rather than the other way around. However, the influence of the introgression between black flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes on the haplotype diversity is unknown and should be kept in mind when comparing diversity between PNG (which has a limited occurrence of black flying foxes) and Australia.

Sequence divergence between clades is high in comparison with other mammal species (Conroy and Cook 2000; Demboski and Cook 2001; Miller *et al.* 2006). The mean D–loop divergence value of 0.055 (5.5%) is greater than divergence values reported between different shrew species (0.031 – (Demboski and Cook 2001). This degree of sequence divergence between clades is indicative of an extensive period of isolation before secondary contact occurred, supporting the assertion of an old lineage in Australia rather than a recent one. Past glacial maxima or geological events may have resulted in a contraction of flying fox habitat, preventing migration of individuals in to, or out of, the Wet Tropics.

The current limited distribution of the spectacled flying fox in the Wet Tropics region has also been suggested to be a result of its recent colonisation (Ratcliffe

1932; Schodde and Calaby 1972). The current distribution pattern in spectacled flying foxes may be due to some aspects of flying fox ecology. Richards (1990b) suggested that their current distribution was the result of a reliance on rainforest. The most southerly geographical boundary of the spectacled flying fox distribution coincides with the southern-most boundary of Wet Tropics rainforest, perhaps explaining the range of this species. Conversely, recent work on movements of *P. conspicillatus* within the Wet Tropics region (Shilton, pers. comm.) and its feeding ecology (Parsons 2005), show that they appear to be more habitat generalists than previously supposed and move continuously between, and feed in, many vegetation types other than rainforest.

A further explanation for the current limited distribution of *P. conspicillatus* is competition. It is rare that more than three species of flying fox are sympatric, and in such cases they usually differ in size (McKean 1970). P. alecto and *P. conspicillatus* are of a similar size and overlap in distribution and dietary requirements. P. scapulatus, which is smaller than P. alecto and P. conspicillatus, but nevertheless feeds on the same nectar and blossom-producing species, also overlaps with these two species. It is possible that outside of the current distribution of *P. conspicillatus*, there are insufficient food-resources to sustain three flying fox species, forcing it to retain its northerly distribution. Competition may also be preventing other PNG species of *Pteropus* colonizing Australia (P. neohibernicus and P. hypomelanus are both large, widespread flying foxes in PNG that have not flown the short distance to Australia). If competition is the factor preventing *P. conspicillatus* from extending its distribution south from the Wet Tropics region, then its present limited distribution is no indication of recent arrival. There may also be other behavioural and/or physiological adaptations that restrict *P. conspicillatus* to its present distribution.

# Time since expansion

The data suggest a population expansion of spectacled flying foxes occurred in Australia somewhere in the early to middle Pleistocene. The Pleistocene epoch was characterised by cycles of glacial maxima and interglacial periods, which resulted in broad scale habitat changes (Schneider *et al.* 1998). The warmer, wet interglacials were characterised by expansion of rainforest, while the cooler

drier glacial periods saw rainforests contract. During the last glacial period the rainforest disappeared completely, and the habitat became dominated by sclerophyllous vegetation (Truswell 1990; Kershaw 1994). However, the estimated time to expansion can only be used as a guide because of a number of simplifying assumptions in the model that are easily violated (Rogers 1995). The error rates around this estimate are therefore likely to be large. Although it can be inferred that the expansion occurred during one of the Pleistocene glacial cycles, it is not possible to determine which one, or whether it occurred during a glacial or interglacial period.

The estimates of time since expansion using the two different rates of mutation were greatly different, highlighting one factor that may introduce variability into the final estimate. As the conservative mutation rate reported by Brown *et al.* (1979) covers the entire mitochondrial genome and was estimated for primates, it is likely that the mutation rate reported by Petit *et al.* (1999) for the hyper-variable section of the control region in bats, is a more accurate estimate to use in this case. That said, the estimate of 143,367 years since the expansion of clade 1 took place, can only provide an approximation of when the expansion took place. The error in these estimations was recently highlighted in a study on *Rhinolophus monoceros* (Chen *et al.* 2006), which, after using a mutation rate of 20% per million years, found a population expansion occurred in this bat species 30,000 years ago, with 95% CI ranging from 16,000 – 72,000 years.

Teeling *et al.* (2005) estimated that *Pteropus* and *Rousettus* diverged from a common ancestor 18-28 mya. The estimated time to the most recent common ancestor for *P. conspicillatus* is 1.25 mya (using a mutation rate of 20%/Myr). As the data presented here suggests that spectacled flying foxes are an old lineage in Australia, this divergence could have occurred within Australia. The obviously close association between black flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes, and the possible incomplete lineage sorting, also support this assertion. The suggestion of clade 1 diverging 0.85 mya may indicate an historical event that caused extensive isolation of spectacled flying fox populations. The simplicity of the method used should be considered as a caveat to interpreting these results, with an accurate estimate unlikely. However, it does give an

indication of the time scales to be considered in the timing of major divergence events in this species. A more accurate estimate of time since expansion could be gained with a more exact measure of mutation rate of the D-loop in flying foxes.

Mitochondrial DNA is haplotypic and passed clonally from mother to offspring, so any effective population size estimate will only reflect that of the female population. Only Australian samples were considered in the estimate of theta ( $\theta$ ) so it is likely that this estimate reflects an historical average effective population size of females within Australia through time. The ratio of effective population size (Ne) to population census size (N) has been calculated to be about 1/10 (Frankham et al. 2002), therefore the ratio of the female effective population size (Ne<sub>t</sub>) is going to be 1/20 of the census size. The effective population size of females (Ne<sub>f</sub>) of 3887 would therefore give a population census size of 77,740, indicating that the historical census size was smaller than it is currently. As a comparison, using the 2005 census results for spectacled flying foxes in the Wet Tropics region, the current effective population size for females can be calculated by dividing this census figure by 20. This results in a  $Ne_{f}$  of 13,486: three and a half times that of the historical female population size. As anecdotal information on population sizes of spectacled flying foxes in the early 1900's suggested that there were many more bats than currently (Ratcliffe 1932), it is possible that spectacled flying fox numbers increased from this historical level to one much higher than seen presently. Much like the estimate of time since expansion, the estimate of Ne<sub>f</sub> is only ever as accurate as the variables used in the calculation, therefore it is likely that the error rates around these figures are large.

# Conclusion

Analysis of mtDNA in the spectacled flying fox indicated a close historical relationship with the black flying fox (*P. alecto*) through hybridisation or incomplete lineage sorting, or possibly both. The age of the species may indicate whether incomplete lineage sorting was occurring—species of recent origin would exhibit incomplete lineage sorting. Hybridisation could be ruled out if there was reproductive isolation, but this does not appear to be the case

with these two species. The mating period, distribution and feeding areas overlap. Hybrid offspring of the two species are also believed to be fertile (H. Spencer, pers. comm.).

The recent colonisation of flying foxes in Australia from PNG is questioned. The endemic status of the grey-headed flying fox suggests that flying foxes have been in Australia for an extensive period. The high haplotypic diversity in the spectacled flying fox also suggests an old lineage in Australia. The greater haplotypic diversity in Australian individuals in comparison to PNG individuals does not support colonisation of spectacled flying foxes from PNG but rather the reverse. The rare occurrences of black and little red flying foxes in southern PNG also does not support the theory of Australia's flying foxes originating in PNG. That *P. neohibernicus, P. macrotis,* and *P. hypomelanus* have not been recorded in Australia further opposes the current theory of Australian flying fox origins in PNG.

This study has highlighted the fact that the relationship of spectacled flying foxes to their syntopic and sympatric species is unknown and needs further exploration. Further analyses with larger sample sizes of both *P. conspicillatus* and *P. alecto* are required to discern whether the pattern seen in the mtDNA is due to hybridisation or retention of ancestral polymorphisms. But even more interesting would be to extend the study to include all possible closely related congeners in the Australo-Papuan region.

# Chapter Four - Genetic diversity across the range of the spectacled flying fox

# Introduction

Analyses undertaken using mtDNA reported in Chapter 3 provided insight into historical population patterns and processes of the spectacled flying fox. However, knowledge of contemporary movements at different spatial scales, and the effect of this movement on population structure in the spectacled flying fox is limited. Historically, the only information available on long distance movement was an untested belief that there is seasonal migration from the coastal lowlands to the uplands of the Atherton Tablelands in the Wet Tropics region of north Queensland in the summer wet season, and *vice versa* in the dry season (Ratcliffe 1932; Richards 1990a). This was assumed following the discovery of several known Atherton Tablelands colony sites being unoccupied during winter (Ratcliffe 1932). The recent use of radio and satellite telemetry to track the movements of spectacled flying foxes within the Wet Tropics region refutes the idea of this seasonal migration. Instead there appears to be regular and recurring aseasonal movement between upland and lowland areas (Shilton, pers. comm.), and some animals seem to travel throughout the whole of the Wet Tropics region.

The extent of movement of the spectacled flying fox between its three principal areas of distribution (Wet Tropics region, Iron Range area and PNG) is unknown. Other than the small colony of spectacled flying foxes that is usually found within the Iron Range National Park, there is no known camp on the Australian mainland north of the Wet Tropics region and no known camps of spectacled flying foxes on any of the Torres Strait islands. As a comparison, the closely related black flying fox (*Pteropus alecto*) has a permanent camp on Thursday Island, in the Torres Strait, as well as seasonal camps at Coen and Weipa on the Cape York Peninsula. Travel has been documented in *P. alecto* between Thursday Island (located in the Torres Strait between the Australian

mainland and the PNG mainland, see Fig. 4.1) and PNG (H. Field, pers. comm.). East–west movement between the Weipa and Coen camps has also been documented in this species (H. Field, pers. comm.).

Although direct observation of the movements of highly vagile species such as flying foxes is difficult, movement patterns can be assessed indirectly by investigating the pattern of genetic variation across the species' range. Allozyme electrophoresis has been used to study genetic subdivision between colonies in the other three Pteropus species on mainland Australia (P. alecto, P. poliocephalus and P. scapulatus). Sinclair et al. (1996) examined genetic variation between six colonies of the little red flying fox (P. scapulatus) from central NSW to north Queensland and the Northern Territory. They found only 5% of the total genetic variation occurred among populations and an overall  $F_{ST}$ value of 0.028 indicated little genetic differentiation. Webb & Tidemann (1996) investigated genetic variation in the black flying fox (P. alecto) and the greyheaded flying fox (*P. poliocephalus*) from colonies across the entire range of both species. Like Sinclair et al. (1996), Webb & Tidemann (1996) found low levels of differentiation among colonies ( $F_{ST}$ : *P. alecto* – 0.023; *P. poliocephalus* – 0.014). Both studies concluded that large-scale movement within the ranges of all three species occurs, suggesting panmixia. Apart from inclusion in two phylogenetic studies (Colgan and Flannery 1995; Jones et al. 2002), no genetic research on *P. conspicillatus* has been reported.

Studying species movement with the aid of genetic tools allows a concomitant analysis of genetic diversity and gene flow (Feldheim *et al.* 2001; Girman *et al.* 2001; Garoia *et al.* 2004). By analysing the amount of genetic differentiation among geographically defined populations, population structure can be revealed at varying spatial scales (Ridgway *et al.* 2001; Perez-Losada *et al.* 2002; Taylor *et al.* 2003; Anderson *et al.* 2004; Manel *et al.* 2004; Dannewitz *et al.* 2005). The IUCN recognises genetic diversity as one of three levels of biodiversity that need to be conserved (McNeely *et al.* 1990). The principal reasons for this are two–fold: firstly, genetic diversity is considered to confer adaptive potential, which allows a species to better respond to environmental change, although the speed of the response depends on generation time (for example, the spread of industrial melanism in moths (Majerus 1998) happened relatively quickly due
to their short generation time). Species with a long generation time, which typically also have a low reproductive output, will take much longer to adapt. Secondly, low genetic diversity has been linked to reduced reproduction and survival (i.e. reproductive fitness) (Reed and Frankham 2001; Frankham *et al.* 2002; Hansson and Westerberg 2002; Reed and Frankham 2003). For example, in a wild population of red deer, heterozygosity was shown to be positively correlated with adult lifetime breeding success (Slate *et al.* 2000). Determining the level of genetic diversity in a species gives insight into that species' resilience to stochastic environmental change as well as its probable reproductive fitness.

Typically, levels of gene flow and genetic diversity within and between populations are analysed through multi-locus genotypes with the use of microsatellite markers. As microsatellites also allow examination of recent descent through kinship and can detect the genetic effect of a population bottleneck, they have become popular in population genetic and conservation genetic studies. With their great variability, ease of use and consistent, unambiguous score ability, microsatellites are an ideal genetic marker to examine population genetic structure at a contemporary time scale, while allowing the investigation of several spatial scales.

The signature of an historical bottleneck can be detected through low levels of genetic diversity or an excess of heterozygosity in the microsatellite dataset (Amos and Balmford 2001; England *et al.* 2003). A bottleneck occurs when there is a sudden decrease in population size, resulting in a reduction of total genetic variability (Lincoln *et al.* 1998). Populations that have been through a bottleneck are at increased risk of extinction (Diamond 1989; Groombridge 1992; Caughley and Gunn 1996; Purvis *et al.* 2000a; Purvis *et al.* 2000b; Regan *et al.* 2001; Frankham *et al.* 2002), and identifying these populations is particularly important for threatened species. The 'signature' of a bottleneck only remains in the genetic makeup of a population for between 0.2–4 effective population size (N<sub>e</sub>) generations (Piry *et al.* 1999). The severity and duration of the bottleneck, as well as the mutation rate and mutation model of the loci being studied, can reduce or increase this time frame (Cornuet and Luikart 1996), but eventually

mutation and drift remove the signature of the bottleneck from the population (Luikart and Cornuet 1998).

Microsatellites have been widely employed in the genetic analysis of the Microchiroptera (Rossiter et al. 1999; Worthington-Wilmer et al. 1999; Rossiter et al. 2000b; Rossiter et al. 2000a; Vege and McCracken 2001; Vonhof et al. 2001; Kerth et al. 2002a; Kerth et al. 2002b; Vonhof et al. 2002; Heckel and Von Helversen 2003), but published work on megachiropterans is limited to Cynopterus sphinx (Storz et al. 2000; Storz et al. 2001a; Storz et al. 2001b; Storz 2002; Storz and Beaumont 2002). Research on C. sphinx has concentrated on the genetic consequences of social structure and mating systems. Microsatellite loci that were isolated for *P. rodricensis*, *P. samoensis*, *P. tonganus* and *P. hypomelanus* (G. McCracken, unpublished data) have been lodged with GenBank, but no study using these primers has been published. A single study employing McCracken's primers and those used by Storz has considered the genetic consequences of captive breeding in the highly endangered *P. rodricensis* (O'Brien et al, in press). Considering the extensive use of microsatellites in conservation genetic studies (Beaumont and Bruford 1999), and the fact that 41% of megachiropteran bats are considered at risk of extinction (Mace and Balmford 2000), it is surprising that there have not been more studies involving the use of microsatellites on this group. Genetic studies on megachiropteran bats have used either allozymes (Schmitt et al. 1995; Sinclair et al. 1996; Webb and Tidemann 1996; Juste et al. 2000) or mtDNA gene sequences (Alvarez et al. 1999; Jones et al. 2002; Giannini and Simmons 2003). While mtDNA analysis is a powerful tool for providing insights into phylogeography and historical patterns and processes (Moritz et al. 1987), it does not allow the fine spatial scale analysis sometimes required in population studies. Allozymes remain one of the most popular classes of markers used in ecological genetic studies (Butlin and Tregenza 1998), but due to a low number of alleles detected per locus, their use is declining (Lowe et al. 2005). Compared to allozymes, species-specific microsatellites are the more powerful and precise tool for investigating contemporary population structure and genetic differentiation.

In this chapter microsatellite markers are used to investigate contemporary gene flow within and among populations of the spectacled flying fox (*P. conspicillatus*). These data are used to assess population genetic structure and gene flow across the geographic range of the species.

#### Methods

#### Sample collection

Samples were collected from 718 individual bats from 11 spectacled flying fox colonies distributed across the entire range of the species (Fig. 4.1). Samples comprised a 6 mm diameter portion of wing membrane taken from the plagiopatagium with a Stiefel Laboratories biopsy punch (Worthington-Wilmer and Barratt 1996). Samples from the Tolga Scrub, Powley Rd and Whiteing Rd colonies on the Atherton Tablelands came from dead or moribund animals affected by tick paralysis between the months of September and January, in years between 2001 and 2004. Most samples obtained from other colonies in the Wet Tropics region were collected in the same months from orphaned young in care, although some samples came from animals brought into vets (Cairns, Daintree). Samples from Tully and Iron Range were obtained from bats captured for this study in mist nets. PNG samples were obtained from specimens kept at the Australian Museum, SA Museum and Australian National Wildlife Collection (n=10, see Appendix 4 for Museum registration numbers), with the remainder of the PNG specimens being collected by Dr. A. Mack from Wildlife Conservation Society (n=5). Tissue samples were stored in 5 M NaCl-saturated 20% DMSO (Dimethyl Sulphoxide) and refrigerated at 4°C. Samples were collected under two QPWS permits (WISP00556402 and WITK00554802) and cleared under James Cook University animal ethics clearance # A723\_02.

#### DNA extraction and amplification

DNA extraction was carried out using a QIAGEN DNeasy tissue extraction kit according to manufacturer's instructions. The DNA extract was quantified by gel electrophoresis by comparison with DNA lambda standards of knownconcentration using the software ImageJ vers 1.33s (Rasband 2004). DNA extracted from punch samples often required concentrating and this was done by precipitation with 2.2 volumes of 100% ethanol and 0.1 volume of 2.5 M sodium acetate. DNA was diluted to a concentration of 3 ng/ $\mu$ L prior to microsatellite amplification using Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) with species specific primers (see Chapter 2).



**Figure 4.1** Map of the distribution of the spectacled flying fox (*Pteropus conspicillatus*) including detail of colonies within the Wet Tropics region (sample sizes from each colony in yellow boxes). Population/colony code: PNG, Papua New Guinea; IR, Iron Range; DT, Daintree; CN, Cairns; GV, Gordonvale; MA, Mareeba; TS, Tolga Scrub; PR, Powley Rd; WR, Whiteing Rd; MC, Mena Creek; TY, Tully.

Of 10 microsatellite loci tested, four were monomorphic in *P. conspicillatus* and were not used further (see Table 2.1). Samples were PCR amplified and scored at six microsatellite loci: one dinucleotide (Ph9) and one trinucleotide (C6) locus isolated for other *Pteropus* species (McCracken, unpublished data); and three dinucleotide (PC25b6, PC26a7, PC31h4) and one compound repeat (PC36c2) loci isolated from *P. conspicillatus* (see Chapter 2). The 15 µL PCR reaction mix contained varying amounts of reagents depending on the loci and underwent different thermal cycling conditions (see Table 2.3 and Appendix 4). Primers

were labelled with fluorescent tags of HEX, FAM or TET. PCR products were purified by centrifuging through 300 µL of Sephadex, before being analysed on a MegaBace 1000 Genetic Analyser (Amersham BioSciences) at the Advanced Analytical Centre, James Cook University, using the ET 400-Rox (Amersham BioSciences <sup>TM</sup>) internal size standard. Allele sizes were verified using the program FRAGMENT PROFILER v 1.2 (Amersham BioSciences <sup>TM</sup>).

#### Data analysis

Allele frequencies and the mean number of alleles were calculated using GENALEX v 6.0 (Peakall and Smouse 2005). As both statistics are biased by sample size (Hedrick 2000), and there is great variability in sample sizes in this study, allelic richness was also calculated in FSTAT v 2.9.3.2 (Goudet 1995). This measures the number of alleles for each locus and population and corrects for different sample sizes using rarefaction. Allelic richness was averaged across populations (to give mean allelic richness by locus) and across loci (to give mean allelic richness by population). Expected and observed heterozygosity, effective number of alleles and frequency of less common alleles (<25%) occurrence) were calculated in GENALEX. The list of frequency of less common alleles was tabulated for each population to determine the extent of occurrence. To determine whether the unequal sample sizes among colonies had an influential effect on allele frequency statistics, the two colonies with the largest sample sizes (Tolga Scrub, n=319 and Powley Rd, n=172) had a random sample of 50 individuals taken from the total sample, and the effective number of alleles were compared between the reduced sample and the total sample. The expected genotype frequencies according to Hardy Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) predictions were tested for each population by locus, and locus pairs using GENALEX (Peakall and Smouse 2005). A sequential Bonferroni correction was used to correct the significance level ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) for multiple comparisons (Dunn-Sidak method (Sokal and Rohlf 1995)). As the inclusion of close relatives can bias HWE results, all known offspring of females were removed and the HWE analysis was run again. As this made no difference to the outcome, results reported are for the entire sample pool. Linkage disequilibrium between pairs of loci, private alleles and number of migrants (Nm) per generation using the private alleles method (Slatkin 1985) were calculated using GENEPOP V3.4 (Raymond and Rousset 1995). The number of migrants between populations was also calculated using Wright's island model (Wright 1951) according to the equation

#### $Nm = (1 - F_{ST})/4F_{ST}$

There is continuing debate as to the most appropriate statistical analyses to determine genetic relationships among populations using microsatellite markers (Weir and Cockerham 1984; Cockerham and Weir 1993; Slatkin 1994; Slatkin 1995; Michalakis and Excoffier 1996; Rousset 1996; Neigel 2002; Lowe et al. 2005). Standard F statistics (Wright 1951) are calculated from measures of heterozygosity that assume conformation to Hardy Weinberg equilibrium, which in turn assumes that rates of mutation are negligible. This assumption may be inappropriate when employing markers such as microsatellites that are prone to high rates of mutation (Lowe *et al.* 2005). However,  $F_{ST}$  is considered to be more conservative and robust than other measures of genetic differentiation (Lowe et al. 2005). Two principal mutation models have been proposed for microsatellites. The step-wise mutation model (SMM) assumes mutation results in the addition or loss of a single repeat unit, whilst the infinite alleles model (IAM) allows for conversion of an allele into any other unique allele by the loss or gain of any number of repeats (Goldstein and Schlotterer 1999). Calculation of an analog of  $F_{ST}$ , that is  $R_{ST}$  (Slatkin 1995), assumes the SMM model but also assumes equal sample sizes (Lowe *et al.* 2005). Likewise, an analog of  $R_{ST}$ , that is  $Rho_{ST}$  ( $\rho_{ST}$ ) (Michalakis and Excoffier 1996), is calculated as the ratio of the estimated variance due to differences among populations over the estimated total variance, based on an analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) and requires no assumptions on linkage or Hardy Weinberg equilibrium.  $\rho_{\mbox{\tiny ST}}$  is calculated on microsatellite repeat number rather than allele size or identity, with the added advantage of allowing for uneven sample sizes in populations. The drawbacks to using  $R_{ST}$  and  $\rho_{ST}$  are that range constraints of allele size lead to overestimations of differentiation when sample sizes are large, variances often tend to be large, and these statistics ignore the influence of migration (Lowe *et al.* 2005). As a consequence these statistics are not necessarily a more reliable estimate of differentiation than are traditional measures (Pearse and Crandall 2004). To accommodate the differences in opinion, authors are beginning to present more than one of these options as a comparison (Donnelly and Townson 2000; Garoia *et al.* 2004). Both  $F_{ST}$  and  $R_{ST}$  were calculated in GENALEX and  $\rho_{ST}$  calculated in GENEPOP, for intra-population differentiation to ascertain whether there are significant differences between these statistics in my data.

An analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA), which accounts for gene frequencies and number of mutations, was performed in GENALEX (Peakall and Smouse 2005).  $F_{ST}$  and  $R_{ST}$  were used to compare populations separated into three geographically discrete regions-PNG, Iron Range and the Wet Tropics region. An analysis of isolation-by-distance was performed using a Mantel test in GENALEX (Peakall and Smouse 2005). The genetic distance matrix was produced using Nei's distances (Nei 1972) and the geographic matrix was calculated as the shortest distance between any two colonies. A neighbourjoining tree was constructed in PAUP v4 (Swofford 1998) using the Nei's genetic distance matrix used in the isolation-by-distance test. A Bayesian population assignment protocol implemented in STRUCTURE v2.1 (Pritchard et al. 2000) was used to infer the number of populations in the data and to assign individuals to those populations. Models were run for 1-15 populations. Conditions for running STRUCTURE included a burn in of 10 000 replicates with 10 000 Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) simulations, using the admixture model with allele frequencies correlated between populations. A total of 10 iterations for each putative number of populations (K) were performed. Evidence of population expansion/contraction was tested using the program BOTTLENECK v 1.2.02 (Piry *et al.* 1999). This program evaluates deviations from an theoretical mutation-drift equilibrium and is expressed as the difference between the observed heterozygosity (H<sub>e</sub>), and the heterozygosity expected at mutation-drift equilibrium ( $H_{eq}$ ).  $H_{eq}$  is calculated from the allele number (which is reduced faster than H<sub>e</sub> in bottlenecked populations). BOTTLENECK also evaluates whether data adhere more closely to the IAM or SMM. The one-tailed Wilcoxon's test for heterozygosity excess and the sign test were used for both mutation models. Estimations were made over 1000 replications. To reduce the bias in allele frequencies from parent-offspring groups, any offspring with a known parent in the dataset was removed. Each population was tested individually and then all Wet Tropics populations were combined and treated as a single population.

## Results

### Genetic diversity, Hardy-Weinberg and linkage disequilibrium

The number of alleles recorded ranged from 14 in locus C6 to 22 in locus Ph9. Twenty-three private or rare alleles were detected across all populations and loci (Table 4.1). Locus PC31h4 had more private alleles than any of the other loci (n=7).

	n	PC25b6	PC26a7	PC36c2	C6	Ph9	PC31h4
PNG	15			1			1
Iron Range	20				1		1
Daintree	25		2				1
Cairns	25						
Gordonvale	26	1				1	
Mareeba	9						
Mena Creek	35						
Powley Rd	172		1				1
Tolga Scrub	319	1		2	3	2	3
Tully	9						
Whiteing Rd	57				1		

**Table 4.1** Private or rare alleles found in each population by locus. Calculated inGENEPOP v3.4 (Raymond and Rousset 1995). n = sample size for each population.

Significant departures from Hardy-Weinberg expectations following sequential Bonferroni correction were recorded in the Powley RD (PR), Tolga Scrub (TS) and Whiteing Rd (WR) populations for one, four and two loci respectively. There was no pattern to the loci that were out of Hardy Weinberg equilibrium. Of 15 locus pairs, two (PC36c2 and PC31h4, Ph9 and PC31h4) showed significant linkage after correction for multiple tests (p=0.002). As PC31h4 was the common locus in both inferred linkages, it was removed from the data and pair-wise  $F_{ST}$  figures were re-calculated to determine whether linkage affected the results. No difference was observed between the two sets of results, and therefore PC31h4 was retained for further analyses.

	Na	Ne	Но	He	A. Rich.
PNG	7.5	4.6	0.74	0.75	5.74
Iron Range	10.0	6.3	0.79	0.79	6.91
Cairns	10.3	6.0	0.81	0.81	6.31
Daintree	11.5	7.4	0.78	0.83	7.21
Gordonvale	11.0	6.6	0.78	0.82	6.81
Mareeba	6.7	4.5	0.80	0.75	6.02
Mena Creek	10.8	6.7	0.78	0.82	6.65
Powley Rd	14.0	6.6	0.78	0.82	6.59
Tolga Scrub	16.2	6.8	0.78	0.82	6.61
Tully	7.5	5.1	0.82	0.77	6.68
Whiteing Rd	12.3	6.2	0.76	0.81	6.48

**Table 4.2** Summary table of average standard allele frequency statistics by population. Na = number of alleles; Ne = effective number of alleles; Ho = observed heterozygosity; He = expected heterozygosity; A. Rich = allelic richness.

The average number of alleles per population (across all loci) ranged from 10.0 to 16.2 except for the three populations that had small sample sizes (PNG, Mareeba and Tully) where they ranged from 6.7 to 7.5 (Table 4.2). Less common alleles (<25%) ranged in presence from 99% in the Tolga Scrub population to 37% in the Mareeba population. Understandably, the two populations with the smallest sample size (Mareeba and Tully) had lower proportions of the less common alleles. Notably, PNG had a similar proportion of the less common alleles (40%) to populations with much smaller sample size. This pattern was repeated with the effective number of alleles, where PNG and Mareeba both had the least effective number of alleles. When the effective number of alleles from the reduced sample of Tolga Scrub (Ne=6.5) and Powley Rd (Ne=6.1) were compared with that of the total population (TS Ne=6.8, PR Ne=6.6), little difference was observed. Mean allelic richness by population over all loci ranged from 5.7 to 7.2. There was no significant difference in mean allelic richness across populations (Fig. 4.2a), but mean allelic richness was significantly lower in locus PC36c2, C6 and PC31h4 (Fig. 4.2b), according to non-overlapping error bars.



**Figure 4.2** a. Mean allelic richness over all six loci by population (+/- SD). b. Mean allelic richness across all 11 populations by locus (+/- SD) Population codes: CN, Cairns; DT, Daintree; GV, Gordonvale; IR, Iron Range; MA, Mareeba; MC, Mena Creek; PNG, Papua New Guinea; PR, Powley Rd; TS, Tolga Scrub; TY, Tully; WR, Whiteing Rd.

Overall mean expected heterozygosity ( $H_e$ ) across populations was 0.79 and ranged from 0.83 (SE 0.043) in the Daintree (DT) population to 0.75 (SE 0.045) in PNG (PG) (Table 4.2). Overall mean observed heterozygosity ( $H_o$ ) across populations was 0.78 and ranged from 0.82 in the Tully (TY) population, to 0.74 in PNG (PG) (Table 4.2).  $F_{IS}$  figures by population and locus demonstrate that some populations either harbour a heterozygosity excess or deficit at some loci (Table. 4.3). No single population or locus consistently deviated from zero and of the three populations that showed significant deviations, two were those with the smallest sample sizes. It is likely that the  $F_{IS}$  figures indicate stochastic effects brought about by small sample sizes and highly polymorphic microsatellite loci.  $F_{IS}$  averaged over all populations and loci (0.051) was low and not significant, indicating little likelihood of any inbreeding occurring.

$(1964)$ . denotes significant $\Gamma_{IS}$ values according to bootstrapping over loci (95% CI)								
	PC25b6	PC26a7	PC36c2	C6	Ph9	PC31h4	Рор	
							mean	
PNG	-0.0030	0.3708	0.1867	-0.1857	0.0446	-0.1879	0.0376	
Iron Range	0.1618	0.2177	-0.3333	0.0720	0.0312	-0.1153	0.0290	
Cairns	0.1661	0.0931	-0.0596	-0.1655	0.0414	-0.0519	0.0120*	
Daintree	0.1273	0.1080	-0.0360	0.0075	0.1217	0.0716	0.0730	
Gordonvale	0.2419	-0.0144	-0.0435	0.0798	0.0170	0.0865	0.0615	
Mareeba	-0.0090	-0.1163	-0.2500	0.1864	-0.0079	0.0427	-0.0150*	
Mena Creek	0.0779	0.1057	-0.0173	0.0880	0.0786	0.0149	0.0610	
Powley Rd	0.1241	0.0924	-0.0203	0.0453	0.0287	0.0419	0.0540	
Tolga Scrub	0.0797	0.0946	-0.0400	0.0049	0.0520	0.0749	0.0480	
Tully	0.1667	-0.1250	0.1579	-0.3196	-0.0746	0.1040	-0.0110*	
Whiteing Rd	0.1323	0.1250	0.0814	0.1148	-0.0026	0.0263	0.0790	

**Table 4.3**  $F_{IS}$  by population (rows) and locus (columns) following Weir and Cockerham (1984). \* denotes significant  $F_{IS}$  values according to bootstrapping over loci (95% CI)

#### **Genetic differentiation**

In the 3-region comparison (PNG, IR, WT), AMOVA generated an  $F_{ST}$  value of 0.043, with most variability found among individuals within populations (96%). 4% of the total variation was attributed to that occurring among regions. However, when AMOVA was calculated using  $R_{ST}$ , a larger proportion of the variability was found among-regions (34%). As  $R_{ST}$  is calculated incorporating the mutation model (and therefore the number of alleles and allele distribution), allele distribution for each locus was graphed to determine why  $R_{ST}$  would infer regional differentiation when the more conservative  $F_{ST}$  did not. The allele size distribution expanded from PNG to Iron Range to the Wet Tropics in 4 of the 6 loci (Fig. 4.3). This may reflect the different sample sizes between the regions (PNG, 15; Iron Range, 20; Wet Tropics, 683), although if this were the case, the majority of allele distributions for PNG and Iron Range (with the smaller sample sizes) would be more widely spaced, reflecting the presence of the common alleles but the absence of rarer alleles. This occurs at some loci (e.g. PC25b6 for PNG) although there are also a number of loci where the alleles are bunched tightly together, indicating that all alleles are likely to have been sampled, but that there is a gradient in allelic diversity from PNG through to the Wet Tropics region. The 'spreading tails' of Wet Tropics samples for loci PC36c2 and C6 represent rare alleles that are not picked up in the two regions with small sample sizes.

 $F_{ST}$ ,  $R_{ST}$  and  $\rho_{ST}$  for pair-wise analyses of populations were not significant after correction for multiple comparisons. As the three methods give the same result, only the more robust and conservative *F*-statistics will be employed from here on (Table 4.4).

No isolation-by-distance was found within the range of *P. conspicillatus* ( $r^2=0.16$ , p=0.11). The neighbour joining tree indicated little genetic distance between the Wet Tropics populations, but those from PNG and Iron Range stand slightly apart (Fig. 4.4). STRUCTURE results did not support the occurrence of multiple populations as all individuals share characteristics of multiple populations when K>1. The number of migrants per generation was calculated to be 8.09 based on private alleles and after correction for sample size. This suggests high

gene flow occurs between all populations. The same statistic calculated using  $F_{ST}$  put the number of migrants at 65. As the private alleles method is considered to be conservative and the  $F_{ST}$  method is less robust, it is likely that the most accurate value falls somewhere between these two figures.

Statistical analysis of allele frequencies using the program BOTTLENECK indicated that the majority of populations adhered to the IAM, with four or five of the six loci being retained by both models in four populations. No significant excess of heterozygosity was found in any populations other than Tolga Scrub, Powley Rd and Whiteing Rd. Powley Rd and Whiteing Rd populations both produced a significant result under the IAM for the sign test and the one-tailed Wilcoxon test (Table 4.5). The Tolga Scrub population was only significant for the one-tailed Wilcoxon test under the IAM model. When combined, all Wet Tropics populations showed a significant result for a bottleneck under the Wilcoxon test.



Region

**Figure 4.3** Microsatellite allele size distribution by locus for each of three regions of *Pteropus conspicillatus*. Region codes: PNG, Papua New Guinea; IR, Iron Range; WT, Wet Tropics

**Table 4.4** Pairwise population  $F_{ST}$  values (below diagonal) and pairwise population  $R_{ST}$ (above diagonal). None were significant after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons (Dunn Sidak method - (Sokal and Rohlf 1995)). Population codes: PNG, Papua New Guinea; IR, Iron Range; CN, Cairns; DT, Daintree; GV, Gordonvale; MA, Mareeba; MC, Mena Creek; PR, Powley Rd; TS, Tolga Scrub; TY, Tully; WR, Whiteing Rd.

Рор	PNG	IR	CN	DT	GV	MA	MC	PR	TS	ΤY	WR
PNG		0.391	0.159	0.039	0.072	0.280	0.018	0.029	0.023	0.143	0.046
IR	0.094		0.221	0.359	0.281	0.172	0.406	0.409	0.457	0.316	0.333
CN	0.060	0.042		0.146	0.035	0.000	0.101	0.036	0.051	0.139	0.029
DT	0.038	0.062	0.012		0.085	0.138	0.048	0.043	0.037	0.079	0.052
GV	0.040	0.041	0.005	0.009		0.036	0.043	0.021	0.033	0.045	0.001
MA	0.063	0.043	0.021	0.015	0.011		0.099	0.013	0.023	0.139	0.021
MC	0.030	0.053	0.012	0.007	0.000	0.011		0.009	0.010	0.024	0.027
PR	0.035	0.047	0.011	0.008	0.002	0.005	0.001		0.000	0.051	0.001
TS	0.034	0.048	0.010	0.005	0.003	0.005	0.002	0.000		0.059	0.005
ΤY	0.035	0.071	0.018	0.012	0.000	0.013	0.000	0.000	0.003		0.071
WR	0.035	0.047	0.009	0.005	0.001	0.006	0.003	0.000	0.001	0.004	

**Table 4.5** Sign and Wilcoxon results from BOTTLENECK. <sup>a</sup> populations conform to the SMM. <sup>b</sup> populations conform to the IAM. <sup>a+b</sup> BOTTLENECK retained both models for the population. \* Marginally significant (p=0.05). \*\*Significant (p<0.05) \*\*\* Highly significant (p<0.01).

Population	Sign Test	Wilcoxon Test (One-tailed for H excess)
Cairns <sup>a+b</sup>	0.2029	0.9218
Daintree <sup>a+b</sup>	0.1961	0.9218
Gordonvale a+b	0.2088	0.9218
Iron Range <sup>b</sup>	0.5023	0.9218
Mareeba <sup>b</sup>	0.5136	0.5781
Mena Creek <sup>a</sup>	0.4809	0.6562
PNG <sup>a+b</sup>	0.2043	0.9453
Tolga Scrub <sup>b</sup>	0.2494	0.0234**
Powley Rd <sup>b</sup>	0.0473*	0.0078***
Tully <sup>b</sup>	0.4117	0.9453
Whiteing Rd <sup>b</sup>	0.2437	0.0390**
All Wet Tropics <sup>b</sup>	0.2291	0.0156**



Figure 4.4 Unrooted neighbour-joining tree of pairwise  $F_{\text{ST}}$  values among populations for multilocus microsatellite genotypes of the spectacled flying fox

#### Discussion

#### High levels of genetic diversity

All six microsatellite loci, including those originally isolated from other *Pteropus* species, were highly polymorphic. Cross-species amplification of microsatellite loci is usually associated with reduced microsatellite polymorphism (White and Powell 1997; Lowe *et al.* 2005). However, the allelic diversity of loci isolated from *Pteropus samoensis* and *Pteropus tonganus*, but amplified in *Pteropus conspicillatus*, were comparable with that of loci isolated from *P. conspicillatus* itself. As ease of isolating microsatellite loci between groups differs (Goldstein and Schlotterer 1999), this suggests that there may also be significant group variability in the effectiveness of cross-species amplification.

The overall mean expected heterozygosity value (0.79) and overall mean observed heterozygosity (0.78) indicate high levels of genetic diversity, especially when compared with levels reported in other species of Megachiroptera. Cynopterus sphinx and Cynopterus brachyotis in India exhibit expected heterozygosity values of 0.68 and 0.65 respectively (Storz and Beaumont 2002) while Pteropus rodricensis was reported to have a mean expected heterozygosity of 0.63 (O'Brien et al. in press). Reduced expected heterozygosity reported in these species may be due to the mating strategy of the *Cynopterus* species (both are highly polygynous, harem-forming species (Storz et al. 2001a; Storz et al. 2001b; Storz and Beaumont 2002)) and the critically endangered status of *P. rodricensis* (O'Brien *et al.* in press). A mating strategy, such as polygyny, that biases alleles passed on to the next generation, and reduced population size as a result of a bottleneck, can reduce genetic variability in a population. The mean expected heterozygosity of spectacled flying foxes was similar to that of other highly mobile animals such as fin whales (0.81 - (Berube *et al.* 1998), bigeye tuna (0.78 - (Durand *et al.* 2005), lemon sharks (0.78 - (Feldheim et al. 2001), wolves (0.73 - (Jedrzejewksi et al. 2005), Horsfield's Bronze-cuckoo (0.71 - (Adcock et al. 2005), and Northern Goshawks (0.81 - (de Volo et al. 2005). Greater genetic diversity can also be a function of large population size. A greater number of individuals means a larger number of mutations occurring in the population, with a reduced effect of genetic drift in removing new mutations but an increased effect of selection in removing deleterious mutations (Frankham *et al.* 2002). With the Wet Tropics region supporting approximately 270 000 spectacled flying foxes in 2005 (Fig. 1.4), the high genetic diversity may be a result of large numbers, and high gene flow between colonies due to considerable mobility. The possible introgression between black flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes (Chapter 3) may also have an effect on the nuclear genetic diversity.

#### No population differentiation due to high gene flow

Broad-scale analysis revealed a high rate of gene flow throughout the entire distribution of the spectacled flying fox, suggesting a single panmictic population. This was supported by the AMOVA,  $F_{ST}$ , isolation–by–distance and number of migrants per generation (Nm) results. This result was also supported by Bayesian simulation methods (STRUCTURE), which assigned all individuals to a single population. No genetic differentiation was found across populations when broken down by locus and there was little differentiation according to the pair-wise population comparisons of  $F_{ST}$ . This is consistent with results reported from other flying fox species of mainland Australia (Sinclair *et al.* 1996; Webb and Tidemann 1996), although both of these studies used allozymes, a less powerful molecular marker. The high rate of gene flow found in spectacled flying foxes is supported by findings from the CSIRO. In a study of spectacled flying foxes using radio and satellite tracking researchers found large-scale movement throughout the Wet Tropics region (Shilton, pers. comm.).

Panmixia in animal populations is commonly observed. Animals with high mobility are more likely to be panmictic than those with a lesser capacity to disperse. Volant animals such as birds (Chan and Arcese 2003; Rocha *et al.* 2004) as well as many marine species such as fish (Gerlach *et al.* 2001; Garoia *et al.* 2004), turtles (Lopez-Castro and Rocha-Olivares 2005; Mockford *et al.* 2005), sharks (Schrey and Heist 2003; Keeney *et al.* 2005), dolphins (Harlin *et al.* 2003) and whales (Lyrholm *et al.* 1999) are found to be panmictic. Animals with a highly dispersive larval phase such as corals (Ridgway *et al.* 2001) and eels (Dannewitz *et al.* 2005) or wind-assisted dispersal (Schuster and Mitton 2000) are also often found to be panmictic. Although species within the Chiroptera

are highly volant, most appear to have some degree of genetic structuring, often due to female philopatry (Worthington-Wilmer *et al.* 1994; Castella *et al.* 2001; Kerth *et al.* 2002; Miller-Butterworth *et al.* 2003; Rivers *et al.* 2005). Exceptions to this pattern seem to be the large flying foxes (Sinclair *et al.* 1996; Webb and Tidemann 1996) and migratory species such as Tadarida brasiliensis (Russell *et al.* 2005). The high gene flow and low among-population differentiation found in this study on spectacled flying foxes suggest this species is capable of maintaining genetic contact throughout a highly fragmented habitat beyond the rainforests previously associated with habitat preferences of this species.

Although there appears to be large-scale movement of individuals within the Wet Tropics region (Shilton, pers. comm.), the lack of clear genetic differentiation between Australian populations and those of PNG is more surprising. It is possible that as yet unidentified colonies of spectacled flying foxes occur on Cape York Peninsula, providing a link across the Torres Strait. In the absence of such colonies, contact would only be made through exceptionally long flights between Australia and PNG. It is unlikely that intentional flights of this kind would occur by individuals, as the social nature of flying foxes means they would likely avoid solitary life or travel. The alternative is that they travel in groups. There is some anecdotal evidence of large group movement when colonies of spectacled flying foxes have vacated a roost together on a single night but then returned as a group a week later (C. Sabag, pers. comm., Tully colony April 2004; C. Kroger, pers. comm., Mena Creek colony April 2004). Large-scale movements of grey-headed flying foxes in NSW were correlated with the availability of food resources (Eby 1991; Eby et al. 1999). It is more likely that groups of spectacled flying foxes would make long distance travel in response to fruit, nectar or pollen pulses, especially if local resources were scarce.

Flying foxes may be aided in their long distance dispersal by trade winds. The seasonal winds on Cape York Peninsula are dominated by south-easterly trades during the dry season and episodically active north-westerlies during the summer monsoon (Colls and Whitaker 2001). If flying foxes were travelling in the same direction as the winds were blowing, either wind system could aid cross–strait commuting. Cyclonic winds can contribute to extralimital

occurrences of volant animals (Daniel 1975) and could cause an individual to be blown off course. The main formation areas of tropical cyclones and the courses they track (Colls and Whitaker 2001) dictate that bats would only be blown from PNG to Australia and not vice versa. That said, the usual behaviour of a flying fox in cyclonic conditions is to hang lower in the tree and to not fly out to feed (Luly, pers. comm.). As there has been no direct study on large-scale movement throughout the range of the spectacled flying fox, these suggestions are speculative.

A small number of migrants between populations each generation is required to create sufficient gene flow to erase the differentiating effects of isolation. In the case of the spectacled flying fox, this means a few immigrants every five years (see Chapter 6 for generation-time estimate) would homogenise emerging differences between colonies. At a regional scale, considering the mobility of these animals, this could simply be the result of a group of individuals following a food resource pulse outside the normal boundaries of neighbourhood movement, or strong winds blowing a number of animals off course. The neighbour-joining tree suggests that some systematic difference can be discerned between Wet Tropics populations, and those of Iron Range or PNG. Although the number of changes (length of the branches) indicates that the difference is small, that there is a difference at all may indicate a reduced amount of inter-regional gene flow or movement, compared to intra-regional movement within the Wet Tropics. However, no isolation-by-distance was detected indicating that there is no difference between the most southerly population (Tully) and the most northerly (PNG).

PNG exhibits low allele richness, low effective number of alleles, and a low proportion of the less common alleles and a smaller distribution of allele sizes indicating an overall reduction in genetic diversity. This pattern was also reported in Chapter 3, where PNG had lower haplotypic diversity in the mtDNA compared to Iron Range or the Wet Tropics. The high gene flow between PNG and Australia suggested by analyses may be a function of a high proportion of common alleles in the PNG dataset resulting in a close association with Australia. Fragmentation of ideal habitat in Australia, which may be preventing migration between the two countries, is geologically recent, so that

while migration between PNG and Australia may no longer occur, the genetic markers used may not have had time to become sorted through genetic drift. If this is the case the actual rate of migration between the two countries will be much lower than estimated by the statistics.

A factor that should be considered with microsatellite data when population differentiation is less pronounced than predicted, is the possibility of microsatellite allele size homoplasy (Estoup et al. 2002). Homoplasy occurs when two alleles that are identical in state are not identical by descent. Homoplasy is generated through mutation events (Estoup and Cornuet 1999), and is therefore related to the way mutation produces new alleles and also to the mutation rate. Rapidly mutating markers have higher levels of allele size homoplasy than more slowly changing ones (Estoup et al. 2002). Homoplasy is thought to occur most often at loci that conform to the Stepwise Mutation Model (SMM), and other analogous models but not with the Infinite Alleles Mutation model (IAM) (Estoup et al. 2002). The effect of microsatellite size homoplasy is a reduction in the observed number of alleles per population, the proportion of heterozygous individuals and in gene diversity (Estoup et al. 2002). However, size homoplasy is not believed to affect values of  $F_{IS}$  and has a weak effect on values of  $F_{ST}$  (Estoup *et al.* 2002), two of the most commonly used genetic differentiation statistics. It is also believed that the effect of mutational processes decreases with increased rates of migration between populations (Estoup et al. 2002) due to the ratios of coalescent times of genes within and between populations being different for shorter periods of time. None of the effects of microsatellite allele size homoplasy are evident in data from this study, with high allele number, heterozygosity and gene diversity documented. Along with the amount of migration that is known to occur within the Wet Tropics region, it is unlikely that allele size homoplasy has had a significant effect on the results reported here.

#### Population bottleneck in the Wet Tropics

That the three Atherton Tablelands populations did not conform to Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) was initially surprising. These three colonies provided the largest number of samples. It is normally supposed that small sample size and highly polymorphic microsatellite loci can bias population allele frequencies. The significant departures from HWE may be the result of a number of factors:

- Departures could result from the presence of null alleles. Comparing mother and offspring genotypes is a robust method of checking for the occurrence of null alleles. This was tested across 76 mother-offspring pairs with no evidence of null alleles occurring in any of the six loci used in this study.
- Mating strategy could bias the frequency of alleles found in the populations. This commonly occurs in species that do not follow a random mating strategy. Species that follow extreme polygyny where males mate with a harem of females, such as elephant seals (Hoelzel *et al.* 1993), could show biased frequency of alleles and therefore departure from HWE. The mating system of flying foxes in general seems to favour some form of polygyny, with high variability in the type of polygyny adopted, while a few species remain monogamous (McCracken and Wilkinson 2000). Some appear to adopt both strategies, as seems to be the case with *P. poliocephalus* (Nelson 1965b; Martin *et al.* 1995). To date, flying fox species have not been found to be extreme polygynists. Although there is no evidence to confirm or refute the extent of polygyny in spectacled flying foxes, as the departure from HWE is not observed in all populations it is unlikely that the mating strategy is the cause of the this departure.
- If colonies contained strong sub-structuring in the form of kin-groups that were essentially populations in their own right, and there was little gene flow between them, sampling from several of these groups can create a Wahlund effect, resulting in a heterozygosity deficit relative to HWE. With the amount of gene flow recorded between spectacled flying fox colonies, this is extremely unlikely.

Results from both Hardy Weinberg equilibrium analysis and tests for heterozygosity excess using the program BOTTLENECK, suggested that only the three populations on the Atherton Tablelands have suffered from an historical population bottleneck. Limitations of the method pointed out by Luikart and Cornuet (1998) include reduced power to detect a bottleneck when fewer than 10 loci are used or sample sizes are small, and a greater tendency for the IAM model to detect a bottleneck than the SMM. The authors suggest that the Wilcoxon's test is more appropriate and powerful for datasets with fewer than 20 loci. Although only six loci were used in this analysis, the highly polymorphic nature of all loci increased the power of the test. Luikart and Cornuet (1998) also recommend adopting both mutation models to be statistically conservative, since it is believed that the true microsatellite mutation model lies somewhere between the extremes of the SMM and the IAM. However, one of the assumptions of the models is that all loci conform to a particular mutation model, and for all three populations showing a significant bottleneck result, three or four of the six loci did not conform to the SMM model. Small sample size is not a problem with the inferred bottlenecked populations but it may reduce power to detect a bottleneck in the other eight populations analysed. With colonies in the Wet Tropics exhibiting a panmictic structure, it appears unlikely that only a few colonies would have experienced a bottleneck. With this in mind, as well as the lack of power to detect a bottleneck in populations with a small sample size, all the colonies in the Wet Tropics region were analysed as a single population using the program BOTTLENECK. The highly significant Wilcoxon's test suggests that spectacled flying foxes within the Wet Tropics region as a whole have been through a bottleneck. Luikart and Cornuet (1998) suggest caution when interpreting significant results with loci that do not conform to HWE, due to mechanisms such as overdominance. The use of selectively neutral markers in this study should remove any risk of biasing results through over-dominance. Finally, it is possible that the heterozygosity excess could result from sampling of kin-groups, creating sub-structuring within populations. As a significant result was still obtained when all juveniles and one year olds (non-sexually mature individuals-data from Chapter 6) were removed from the dataset this is unlikely to be the cause.

Attempting to determine when a population contraction may have occurred, and resulted in a genetic bottleneck, is difficult. Typically, the signature of a bottleneck remains in genetic data for a relatively short period of time; from  $0.2N_e$ -4N<sub>e</sub> generations (Cornuet and Luikart 1996). The effective population size

 $(N_{e})$  is that of the population before the contraction occurred and generation time in spectacled flying foxes is estimated to be approximately five years (see Chapter 6). In species where a population bottleneck has been recorded, such as in the northern elephant seal (Hoelzel et al. 1993), or there is general knowledge of an event that created a decline (Andersen et al. 2004), it is easier to calculate an effective population size at the time of the bottleneck event. In the case of the spectacled flying fox this could have been thousands of years ago, based on the high genetic diversity currently observed. The habitat of the spectacled flying fox has undergone radical transformations in the past, with the most dramatic accompanying climatic change through the last glacial-interglacial cycle. Pollen (Kershaw 1994) and macroscopic charcoal analyses (Hopkins et al. 1993) indicate that at the peak of the last glacial maximum (approx. 18 000 BP) rainforest had virtually disappeared from the Atherton Tablelands. The extent of the reduction was such that no rainforest refugia have yet been identified (Hopkins et al. 1993), and it is likely that rainforest was confined to creek lines and valleys. Although climatic recovery was rapid, rainforest expansion was significantly delayed (Kershaw 1994). It is likely that a climatically driven bottleneck would be diffuse rather than intense. England *et al.* (2003) compared the effects of an intense bottleneck (small population sizes for brief periods) with those of a diffuse one (larger population sizes but experiencing population stress for prolonged periods) on genetic diversity and short-term evolutionary potential. England et al. (2003) found that intense bottlenecks had a lower probability of retaining alleles compared with diffuse bottlenecks but that short-term evolutionary potential was similar. With the high genetic diversity found in spectacled flying foxes, it is possible that the species went through a diffuse bottleneck as habitat contracted over thousands of years. The slow regeneration of forested habitat could have extended the bottleneck further. Population bottlenecks in response to habitat contraction resulting from the last glacial maximum are common, with bottlenecks found in taxa with lower dispersal abilities, such as the Lost Pines ((Al-Rabah'ah and Williams 2004), Lumholtz tree kangaroo (Bowyer *et al.* 2002), and wolves (Lucchini *et al.* 2004) as well as those with significant dispersal abilities like the North American songbird (Mila et al. 2000) and the larger mouse-eared bat (Ruedi and Castella 2003). If the bottleneck in spectacled flying foxes was a result of past climate change, then it is likely that other species of flying fox would also have suffered the same fate. The reliance of flying foxes on a certain type of habitat for protection from the elements, as well as for food, would have meant that all species of flying foxes would have been under threat from habitat contraction and, therefore, a population bottleneck. This could be a subject of further research, and would strengthen conclusions reached in this study.

More than one measure of genetic differentiation was adopted in this study to determine whether there was a difference in the results they gave and whether one was more appropriate for use in microsatellite studies. Results from this study suggest that the use of more than one statistical method may have merit with some data. Several analyses in this study suggested little differentiation between spectacled flying fox colonies, however the  $R_{ST}$  result suggested apparent structure. Once the allele distribution was established, it was evident that a combination of different sample sizes between the regions and a slight gradient of allelic diversity from PNG to Iron Range to the Wet Tropics, resulted in the structure suggested by the  $R_{ST}$  result. This suggests not only that further investigation of PNG and Iron Range populations may be warranted to the Wet Tropics region, but also that the use of more than one genetic differentiation statistic is of value in understanding trends in the data.

## Conclusion

Microsatellite analyses suggest that high rates of gene flow between colonies of the spectacled flying fox have resulted in little population differentiation. This species is therefore best described as a single panmictic population within the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area. While analyses suggest that movement of individuals occurs between Australian and PNG populations, this is likely to happen infrequently. Although genetic diversity is high, there is evidence to suggest that spectacled flying foxes throughout the Wet Tropics region have been through a diffuse bottleneck that may have permitted the retention of many alleles likely to be lost under an intense bottleneck model. The slow contraction and expansion of rainforest during the last glacial maximum is a likely candidate for the cause of the bottleneck in Wet Tropics spectacled flying foxes.

# Chapter Five - kin group sub-structuring found within spectacled flying fox colonies

# Introduction

Population ecologists have long known that many populations consist of subgroups or demes exhibiting varying levels of relatedness (Sugg et al. 1996). Social organisation in some species may confer mating advantages to particular individuals (Emlen and Oring 1977). Alternatively, social structure may result from, or lead to, incomplete or sex-biased dispersal (Coltman et al. 2003). Living in family groups can also bestow advantages in the form of behaviours such as co-operative breeding (Gilchrist et al. 2004; Morton et al. 2004; Radford 2004), cooperative feeding (Wilkinson 1984), and social grooming (Wilkinson 1986). Understanding the social organisation of a species requires knowledge of the mating system, parentage, and relatedness within and between social groups. These factors can be particularly difficult to study using behavioural methods in wild populations but even more so in such mobile and inaccessible organisms as bats. Mating or parental behaviour may be difficult to observe, while multiple copulations or shared parental care may make observations unreliable (Burland et al. 2001). There are also many questions that cannot be answered by observation alone. This has been highlighted in many recent studies of paternity, especially in birds, which have shown a high prevalence of extra-pair copulations, resulting in paternity of young by non-resident males (Kupper et al. 2004; Schamel et al. 2004; Blomqvist et al. 2005; Perez-Staples and Drummond 2005). To understand the actual relationships of interacting individuals, such as true mating success, it is necessary to analyse the genetic relationships of individuals in the population.

There have been numerous genetic studies on mating systems and relatedness in bat species (McCracken and Wilkinson 1988; Petri *et al.* 1997; Kerth *et al.* 2000; McCracken and Wilkinson 2000; Rossiter *et al.* 2000b; Storz *et al.* 2000; Burland *et al.* 2001; Burland and Worthington-Wilmer 2001; Storz *et al.* 2001a; Kerth *et al.* 2002b; Rossiter *et al.* 2002; Ortega *et al.* 2003; Willis and Brigham 2004), although most have been conducted on microchiropteran species. These studies showed varying levels of polygyny within the Chiroptera, with females in many microchiropteran species being philopatric. Research on megachiropteran species has largely been confined to observation and behavioural studies (Ratcliffe 1932; Nelson 1965a; Nelson 1965b; Wiles 1987; Pierson and Rainey 1992; Markus 2002). An exception is Storz (Storz *et al.* 2001a; Storz *et al.* 2001b) who reports detailed studies on polygyny and its genetic consequences in the Indian fruit bat, *Cynopterus sphinx*. With the use of microsatellite loci, this harem-forming, highly polygynous species was shown to exhibit variable rates of mating success by resident males, as well as complete natal dispersal by both sexes.

Members of the order Chiroptera are generally gregarious with most species forming colonies at some stage during their life cycle (Burland and Worthington-Wilmer 2001). In tropical species enormous variation in the pattern of colony formation occurs. Colonies are typically formed at least during the mating period, and/or the parturition and lactation period in most species (McCracken and Wilkinson 2000). Australian flying fox species, however, are year-round colony occupiers, although there appears to be extensive movement of individuals between colonies (Chapter 4 of this study; Shilton, pers. comm.; Tidemann and Nelson 2004).

The majority of bat species are polygynous but a few appear to be monogamous (McCracken and Wilkinson 2000). Polygyny in bats is highly variable, with some species employing year-round harem systems (Wiles 1987), while others create short-term random groups of males and females (Nelson 1965a). There also appear to be many intermediate forms, creating a 'polygyny continuum' in this group (McCracken and Wilkinson 2000).

Research on Australian flying fox mating systems and social interactions has considered three of the four species: the grey-headed flying fox, *P. poliocephalus* (Ratcliffe 1932; Nelson 1965a; Nelson 1965b); the black flying fox, *P. alecto* (Ratcliffe 1932; Nelson 1965a; Nelson 1965b; Vardon and Tidemann 1999;

Markus 2002); and the little red flying fox, P. scapulatus (Ratcliffe 1932; Nelson 1965a; Nelson 1965b). Research by Ratcliff and by Nelson provides much of our preliminary knowledge. Colony size and sex ratios varied at different times of the year (Ratcliffe 1932; Nelson 1965a; Vardon and Tidemann 1999). Basic reproductive biology of each species (male & female reproductive cycle, time of year for mating & parturition, number of young, time spent nursing young, etc) has been recorded (Ratcliffe 1932; Nelson 1965a; Nelson 1965b). Territoriality and courtship have been discussed, noting that both P. alecto and *P. poliocephalus* appear to follow a polygynous mating system (Nelson 1965b; Markus 2002). In all accounts there appears to be a similarity in behaviour of these two species, and in many instances these are in agreement with anecdotal information on *Pteropus conspicillatus* (Spencer, pers. comm., Maclean, pers. comm.). With P. alecto and P. poliocephalus having similar morphological and ecological characteristics to P. conspicillatus, and with preliminary evidence of introgression between *P. alecto* and *P. conspicillatus* (Chapter 3), it is likely that *P. conspicillatus* will also exhibit a polygynous mating system.

Aside from sexual interactions, and colony size and structure, there is little published information on social interactions within colonies of Australian flying foxes. Colony structure outside the mating and parturition periods has been briefly studied but only to the extent of sex ratios and numbers present being recorded (Ratcliffe 1932; Nelson 1965a; Nelson 1965b; Richards 1990a; Eby 1991; Hayden 1992; Parry-Jones and Augee 1992; Eby *et al.* 1999; Tidemann *et al.* 1999; Vardon and Tidemann 1999; Westcott *et al.* 2001). No genetic studies have investigated possible sub-structuring or the relatedness of individuals to each other within a colony.

In this chapter microsatellite markers are employed to determine whether spectacled flying fox colonies show evidence of genetic sub-structuring within or between colonies. Any sub-structuring will then be investigated to determine the degree of relatedness within and between colonies as well as the composition of individuals within a sub-group.

Chapter 5-kinship

#### Methods

Data for microsatellite analysis of relatedness were the same as that reported in Chapter 4 (i.e. genotypes of individuals consisting of six polymorphic microsatellite loci). Initial analyses were conducted on the entire microsatellite dataset consisting of 11 populations with 718 individuals (Fig. 5.1). More detailed analyses were conducted on the largest population samples from three maternity colonies on the Atherton Tablelands: Tolga Scrub (n=319), Powley Rd (n=172) and Whiteing Rd (n=57). These samples were mostly collected during the summer months from October–January in 2002, when females were giving birth and caring for young. Great care was taken to collect, and keep track of, samples from mother/baby pairs (n=78; TS=53, PR=20, CN=2, WR=2) from the Tolga Scrub colony and the Powley Rd colony, that came into care at the Tolga Bat Hospital. These two colonies are approximately 7 km apart in a direct line and analyses reported in Chapter 4 showed them not to be genetically differentiated.



**Figure 5.1** Distribution map of the spectacled flying fox showing sampling regime for this study. Broad scale comparisons use all colonies. Colony Codes: PNG, Papua New Guinea; IR, Iron Range; DT, Daintree; CN, Cairns; GV, Gordonvale; MA, Mareeba; TS, Tolga Scrub; PR, Powley Rd; WR, Whiteing Rd; MC, Mena creek; TY, Tully. Detailed analyses only use Tablelands colonies TS, PR and WR.

## Data analysis

Broad-scale, among-population level analysis of relatedness was conducted using the program MARK v2.0 (Ritland and Travis 2004) because of its ability to incorporate within-population pairwise relatedness into a larger scale, amongpopulation pairwise relatedness measure. Using a method-of-moment estimator, relatedness coefficients were calculated on the entire microsatellite dataset (11 populations) using MARK v2.0 (Ritland and Travis 2004). Individual pairwise relatedness was calculated in MARK using the D2 estimator that is most appropriate for Simple Sequence Repeats (microsatellites). Average relatedness across all pairwise comparisons within and between each population pair was calculated, and then used in a population pairwise comparison. All unrelated pairwise comparisons were scored as zero. Pairwise relatedness values and individual population comparisons were sorted into within- and betweenpopulation comparisons for the total output and for each population, using FILEMAKER PRO V7.0 (© 1984-2004 Filemaker, Inc.). Graphs comparing withinand between-comparisons were drawn using SIGMAPLOT v9.01 (Systat Software Inc. 2004).

Average relatedness [R] across all individuals within each of the three Atherton Tableland maternity colonies (TS, PR and WR), and between colonies, was calculated using the program RELATEDNESS v5.0.8 (Queller and Goodnight 1989), a commonly used estimator of relatedness between individuals that uses an identity-by-descent approach. Pairwise relatedness was calculated separately for all possible pairwise combinations within each colony using RELATEDNESS. Pairwise relatedness is a relative measure that is calibrated for the allele frequency composition and the number of individuals that are present in the population analysed. The basic form of the calculation follows

$$r = (P_v - P^*) / (P_x - P^*)$$

where  $P^*$  is the frequency of allele A in the population as a whole,  $P_x$  is the frequency of allele A in the reference individual, and P<sub>v</sub> is the frequency of allele A in the group/individuals to be compared to  $P_x$ . For diploid individuals the allele frequency in the reference individuals,  $P_{x'}$  must be 0.5 or 1.0. Unless the comparative group/individuals are closely related and have similar allele frequencies, the value for  $P_v$  is likely to be much smaller. Hence, with unrelated comparisons the *r* value will be negative. Positive values signify a degree of relatedness. An unweighted pair group method using arithmetic averages (UPGMA) tree was constructed based on the transformed (-ln) pairwise relatedness matrix using PAUP\* v4.0 (Swofford 1998). A UPGMA tree clusters all the most closely related individuals in accordance with the relatedness values from the matrix. The overall topology of the resulting UPGMA tree for each colony was similar, and therefore, a single colony was used as an example typical of the others in further analysis. For all further analysis the 172 samples from the Powley Rd (PR) colony collected in 2002 were used. A sub-group of samples that clustered closely together on the tree was analysed separately to determine how closely related to each other individuals within the cluster were. The sub-group was also used to test hypotheses about particular pedigree relationships using the program KINSHIP v1.3.1 (Goodnight and Queller 1999). Hypotheses tested were that alleles were identical by descent as a result of direct maternal descent ( $R_M$ =1.0,  $R_P$ =0.0) or direct paternal descent ( $R_M$ =0.0,  $R_P$ =1.0), with the null hypothesis being that alleles were not identical by descent because pups were not related to mothers/fathers within the group ( $R_M$ =0,  $R_P$ =0). Full sibling ( $R_M$ =0.5,  $R_P$ =0.5) and half sibling (maternal:  $R_M$ =0.5,  $R_P$ =0.0/paternal:  $R_M$ =0.0,  $R_P$ =0.5) relationships were also tested. Significance values were obtained using 10 000 simulated pairs.

A smaller identified kin group of individuals was then analysed to determine the sex and age composition of the group. Data on age and sex of individuals was obtained from Chapter 6, although ages could only be obtained for individuals that had died as a consequence of tick envenomation. To determine whether there was a degree of inbreeding occurring within the colony,  $F_{IS}$  was calculated using the program GENEPOP (Raymond and Rousset 1995).

# Results

Histograms of pairwise relatedness comparisons within- and between-colonies (Fig. 5.2) calculated using MARK, show the same pattern of distribution of relatedness values for within-colony comparisons as for between-colony comparisons.

Individual plots of the frequency distribution of pairwise relatedness values within each colony (Fig. 5.3) show that most colonies conform to a Poisson-type distribution, although small sample sizes in some colonies produced skewed or erratic relatedness distributions. Whereas most colonies have a mode around the 0.2–0.3 point, PNG and WR show positive kurtosis with modes around 0.5. The three Tablelands colonies (TS, PR, WR), which have the largest sample sizes, show smooth and even distributions similar to that for the aggregated dataset (Fig. 5.2).

The population-by-population average pairwise relatedness comparison (Fig. 5.4) shows PNG having the highest average relatedness in comparisons with

other colonies (7 of 11 comparisons) and IR had the lowest average pairwise relatedness in comparisons with the other colonies (10 of 11 comparisons).

Average relatedness within a colony across all individuals calculated with RELATEDNESS was very low (PR: R=-0.006, SE=0.0001; TS: R=-0.0032, SE=0.0001; WR: R=-0.0184, SE=0.0004). Likewise, average relatedness between colonies was also low (TS vs PR: R=-0.0021, SE=0.0000; TS vs WR: R=-0.0028, SE=0.0000; PR vs WR: R=-0.0046, SE=0.0001).

UPGMA trees inferred from the pairwise related matrix (calculated in RELATEDNESS) had the same composition for all three colonies, with widely spaced individuals at the top and bottom of the tree being those not closely related to others within that colony, and tight clusters of individuals throughout the tree suggesting possible kin groups (Fig. 5.5). Smaller scale analysis of a sub-group from the PR UPGMA tree shows high levels of relatedness within one of the tight clusters of individuals (Fig. 5.6a). When this cluster is analysed for age and sex of individuals, it appears the group is comprised of a single older male, two older females, several offspring from that year (2002) and a number of sub-adults from the previous two years (Fig. 5.6b).

The  $F_{IS}$  result for the within-colony inbreeding coefficient was low (0.038) suggesting no occurrence of inbreeding in the PR colony.





Chapter 5—kinship



Pairwise relatedness values (r)

**Figure 5.3** Frequency distribution of all pairwise relatedness values between individuals within colonies, for all colonies across the range of *Pteropus conspicillatus* (unrelated values removed). Calculated using the SSR relatedness calculated using MARK (Ritland 2004).



**Figure 5.4** Population-by-population average pairwise relatedness for all within- and between-population pairwise individual relatedness comparisons (D2 estimates from MARK – (Ritland and Travis 2004)).

Chapter 5—kinship



**Figure 5.5** UPGMA tree of all individuals (n=172) sampled from PR colony, clustered relative to their pairwise relatedness values. Highlighted box indicates the sub-group investigated in more detail (see Fig. 5.6). Numbers at the end of each branch indicate the unique identifier for each individual.



**Figure 5.6** Sample sub-group from PR colony showing scale of relatedness between individuals (A), with family group highlighted showing age and sex of family members (B). Scale of pairwise relatedness values >= 0.50; 0.25-0.5; 0-0.25; 0 Not related. Red individuals in (B) are mother/offspring pairs determined both by relatedness values and at the time of collection of samples. (J) = juvenile
Kinship results on the PR sub-group (Fig. 5.6) found eight pairs of individuals related by direct maternal or paternal descent at the level of p=0.01 and four pairs of individuals at the p=0.001 level, which equated to four of the five known mother-offspring pairs. Seven pairs of individuals were found to have significant identity by descent for half siblings at the p=0.01 level and 17 pairs of individuals had significant identity by descent for half siblings at the p=0.001 level. Eleven pairs of individuals were related at the full sibling level (p=0.01) while 14 pairs of individuals were related as full siblings at the p=0.001 level. Several pairs of individuals appeared in more than one group.

## Discussion

## Broad-scale view of relatedness across populations of the spectacled flying fox

Analysis of pairwise relatedness is commonly conducted on groups of individuals (Rossiter et al. 2000b; Bentzen et al. 2001; Burland et al. 2001; Kerth et al. 2002b), but it is limited to the extent of comparing relationships between pairs of individuals. The use of frequency plots based on the pairwise relatedness matrices allows additional insight into the results of these individual genotype comparisons. The plot of the frequency distributions of pairwise relatedness values for between-colonies and within-colonies indicated equivalent distribution of relatedness within colonies compared to between colonies. If there were strong patterns of relatedness within colonies, different distributions of pairwise relatedness between these two comparisons would be expected. That there is no relatedness structuring within colonies also suggests that there is random mating between colonies. This is supported by results in previous chapters showing high gene flow among colonies and little genetic differentiation throughout the range of the spectacled flying fox. Plots for within- and between-colony comparisons also showed that the modal value of relatedness (excluding zero and negative values) was similar at approximately 0.3.

The frequency distribution of individual pairwise relatedness values within colonies indicated that the majority of colonies appear to have a comparable

pattern of low within-colony relatedness, although in colonies with small sample size, and therefore erratic relatedness distributions, this can be more difficult to discern. The positive skew in the relatedness distribution in PNG is likely to reflect a greater abundance of common alleles and few rare or less common alleles, creating the illusion of high average relatedness within the PNG dataset. This is reinforced by the population-by-population average pairwise relatedness results, where PNG seems to have the greatest average pairwise relatedness compared to almost every other colony. This is also supported by data from Chapter 3 and 4 that show PNG as having low haplotypic and allelic diversity compared to Australia.

That IR falls at the bottom of the population-by-population average pairwise relatedness graph, signifying the smallest degree of relatedness to other colonies, may be a result of the opposing allele pattern to PNG, in that it has more rare and uncommon alleles, with individuals therefore standing apart from each other as well as from individuals from other colonies. This is suggested in the result of the compilation of less common alleles (<25%) found in the Iron Range population (Chapter 4), where 60% of the alleles found in the Iron Range colony fell into the less common category. Small sample size will also compound this effect by reducing the chance of sampling related individuals.

### Low average colony relatedness not indicative of colony social structure

Overall average relatedness values within and between colonies calculated with RELATEDNESS were low. However, the UPGMA tree based on pairwise relatedness values between the 172 individuals sampled from the PR colony, suggested that spectacled flying fox colonies may contain kin groups. This may indicate that overall average relatedness values are not indicative of the actual social structure of a colony. Low average relatedness in colonies of closely related individuals has been found previously in other bat species (Wilkinson 1985; Burland *et al.* 2001; Storz *et al.* 2001a; Kerth *et al.* 2002b; Rossiter *et al.* 2002). Wilkinson (1985) attributed low average relatedness values in *Desmodus rotundus* to immigration into the colony 'diluting' overall relatedness. However, in colonies of *Myotis bechsteinii*, where colonies of females were considered

closed units with a high degree of relatedness between individuals, a low average overall colony relatedness was still found (Kerth et al. 2002b). Kerth et al. (2002b) suggested that this could be due to the majority of colony members not being paternally related. It is possible that both of these factors influence the overall average colony relatedness values in spectacled flying foxes. Movement into and out of colonies is likely to be continual. This would be consistent with the finding that a number of individuals within the PR colony are not related to the main kin clusters. Likewise, with some form of polygyny likely to be the dominant mating system, it is unlikely that females would mate with the same male each year and, therefore, the likelihood of paternal relatedness between individuals within each kin group would be low. Lukas et al. (2005) in their study of kin groups in chimpanzees, found that high average relatedness was only ever found in very small groups. A polygynous mating system with low paternal relatedness between individuals in kin groups, along with large group size is probably the reason for the low overall average relatedness found in this study. These results highlight the need for fine scale analysis of relatedness to understand the true level of kinship within a colony.

## Pairwise relatedness indicates possible kin structuring in the Powley Rd colony

Results from both RELATEDNESS and KINSHIP show clusters of kin-level relatedness among individuals within the PR colony. These clusters of closely related individuals that appear together on the UPGMA tree, suggest that this colony includes at least several kin groups with varying degrees of relatedness and different numbers of individuals. The fact that the other two Atherton Tablelands colonies showed the same overall topology of the UPGMA tree suggests that this pattern may not be unique to the PR colony. The high levels of relatedness found within the sub-group using KINSHIP indicate the presence of large numbers of half and full siblings. KINSHIP also identified four of five known mother-offspring relationships. The fifth mother-offspring pair was identified as a half-sibling relationship. Goodnight and Queller (1999) note that KINSHIP cannot distinguish between types of relationships that have the same *R*-values, such as parent-offspring and half siblings. This would explain why many pairs of individuals appeared in more than one relationship category (i.e.

some pairs of individuals were found to be full siblings as well as half siblings) and that the results were the same for mother-offspring tests as for father-offspring tests. In fact, one father-offspring relationship was discovered. For the purposes of this study, it is only important that a pair be shown to be closely related. As five mother-offspring pairs were already identified at the time of sample collection, this was a useful test to show that KINSHIP can identify this level of relatedness over others. However, it was noted that several apparently close relationships identified with RELATEDNESS were not found with KINSHIP. As the pairwise relatedness values are relative and comprise a scale of values, it is often difficult to discern exactly where the boundaries between 'close relative' and 'more distant relative' lie. This suggests that pairwise relatedness values calculated with RELATEDNESS should be interpreted with caution. These results are useful for determining whether there are closely related individuals within a group, but the relationship of individuals cannot be accurately assigned using this method. KINSHIP was designed for this purpose.

Given the sampling regime for the collection of this data (mainly from animals that had fallen with tick paralysis), the fact that kin groups have been uncovered by the data may suggest that kin groups travel and forage together, and are, as a result, exposed to paralysis ticks together as well. It should be noted that the introduced *Solanum mauritianum* (wild tobacco), from which it is believed that the flying foxes pick up the majority of the paralysis ticks (Eggert 1994), is a widespread food resource to flying foxes on the Atherton Tablelands and appears to be a major component in spectacled flying fox diets (Parsons 2005). Thus, it is also possible that kin may be foraging apart while still feeding on wild tobacco and, therefore, pick up the paralysis tick in different places, while not necessarily travelling together . There is also the likelihood that not all members of the kin groups were sampled, and therefore that some had not picked up ticks, suggesting that the kin group may not forage together; or that even when foraging together, not every bat picks up a tick in the same area. Despite these caveats, co-operative foraging remains a possibility.

Co-operative foraging has been reported in many animal groups (Heinsohn and Packer 1995; Courchamp *et al.* 2002; Blundell *et al.* 2004) although the individuals are not always related. While co-operative foraging as exhibited by

other animal groups may not occur in flying foxes, overlapping foraging grounds may exist where young learn the feeding range of their mother and incorporate this feeding range into their own range as independent adults. This information transfer, where individuals share knowledge about location and quality of food patches, has been shown in other bat species (Wilkinson 1992b; Brooke 1997) and is exhibited by one individual following the activities of another individual (Wilkinson 1995). Although this has only so far been shown to occur in microchiropteran species, there is anecdotal evidence that flying foxes also 'share' foraging information (Ratcliffe 1932; Eby *et al.* 1999).

Detailed description of the smaller family group showing sex and age of kin group members, suggests that offspring from several cohorts may live with their mother until the offspring achieve sexual maturity. In the kin cluster analysed, there were two sexually mature females with offspring from that year and also a sexually mature female who was lactating but had lost her baby. The majority of remaining members of the kin group were sub-adult (sexually immature) individuals who could be offspring from previous years' cohorts. Unfortunately not all the members of the family appear to be present in the sample and so it is difficult to work backwards through the genealogy to determine which individual is related to which to obtain a complete picture. An example of how this could be done is shown with female #553 who survived tick paralysis (and hence there are no age data for her) and was shown to have a mother-offspring relationship with male #563 who was one year old. This was shown both in the pairwise relatedness value clustering on the UPGMA tree and in the results from KINSHIP. Female #553 was not lactating in 2002 when her sample was collected, hence there is no offspring from the current cohort. KINSHIP also showed that female #553 had a mother/offspring relationship with female #468, a six year old female located on the neighbouring cluster of the same extended family. Female #468 was also not lactating that year and therefore did not have young in the 2002 cohort. If female #468 was mother of female #553, this would indicate that three generations of the same family were sampled.

#### No evidence of inbreeding in the spectacled flying fox

The low  $F_{IS}$  value implies that inbreeding does not occur in the PR colony, suggesting that inter-kin group mating occurs, whether within a colony or between-colonies. This was supported not only by the broad-scale analyses already discussed but also by the observation that individuals from one kin cluster can have a high pairwise relatedness value with individuals from other kin clusters. Along with the high degree of movement and gene flow between colonies and the likelihood of a polygynous mating system, random mating between kin groups would create an effective inbreeding avoidance strategy. Inbreeding is often prevented by one sex dispersing upon reaching sexual maturity (Pusey 1987; Lyrholm et al. 1999; Petit and Mayer 1999; Kerth et al. 2002a; Radespiel et al. 2003; Stow and Sunnucks 2004) while the other remains philopatric. Most mammals exhibit male-biased dispersal, especially those with a polygynous mating system (Prugnolle and de Meeus 2002). There is no evidence to suggest philopatry in female spectacled flying foxes and the combined results outlined in chapters 3 and 4 show this not to be the case. Genetic differentiation between colonies measured using AMOVA with both microsatellite data (Chapter 4) and mtDNA (Chapter 3) showed there to be no colony differentiation with either molecular marker. It is common to compare the genetic differentiation between populations using a bi-parentally inherited marker (microsatellites) with results from a uni-parentally inherited marker (mtDNA), to determine whether females are philopatric and males disperse (Prugnolle and de Meeus 2002). If this were the case, there would be little differentiation between colonies according to the microsatellite data but strong differentiation indicated by the mtDNA data, since mtDNA is maternally inherited. This was not found in the spectacled flying fox.

## Conclusion

This study is the first to examine genetic relatedness of individuals within and between colonies in a *Pteropus* species. Results have highlighted the value of incorporating several types of analysis at several spatial scales to accurately understand relatedness patterns and processes within a species. Broad-scale analysis has reinforced results from previous chapters regarding colony structure, gene flow, movement and mating structure, while fine-scale genetic analysis gave the most comprehensive understanding of relationships within a single flying fox colony. Spectacled flying fox colonies appear to contain substructuring in the form of kin-groups that comprise females and several cohorts of immature sub-adult offspring. As there is no evidence of female philopatry, it seems likely that close kin groups may travel together between colonies. This period of time where sub-adults remain with their mother may constitute a period of information transfer and learning in offspring, to find food resources at different times of the year by following their mother. Results reported in this chapter give greater insight into the dynamics of a colony and also help managers to understand why mass movements of colonies occur.

# Chapter Six – Life history data reveal negative growth and short life-span in the spectacled flying fox

## Introduction

The life history of a species includes parameters such as fecundity, mortality rate and the age structure of a population. A species' life history can have an enormous influence on population resilience. Some species are able to quickly return to previous numbers after suffering a decline, but often the species that are most affected and take longer to recover, are those that have a delayed sexual maturity, are large bodied, long lived and have a reduced capacity for increase due to a low reproductive potential (Purvis et al. 2000a; Jones et al. 2003). The potential reproductive capacity of individuals is intrinsically linked to the potential rate of increase for that population (Krebs 2001), and is therefore critically important in determining recovery time. For example, comparing the life history traits of an elephant (mean age at birth of first offspring – 14 yrs; mean birth interval - 4.5 yrs; 1 young at a time) (Moss 2001), with that of a rabbit (mean age at birth of first offspring - 16 weeks; mean birth interval - 30 days; average litter size - 5) (von Holst et al. 2002) makes it clear that rabbits would recover from a decline quickly, whereas elephants would take decades.

Despite their small size, species of the order Chiroptera exhibit characteristics that place them at the 'slow' end of the life history continuum. They are believed to be long-lived, living up to three times longer than non-flying eutherian mammals of comparable size (Austad and Fischer 1991; Wilkinson and South 2002; Brunet-Rossinni and Austad 2004), with late sexual maturation (Pierson and Rainey 1992), low reproductive output (Barclay and Harder 2003; Barclay *et al.* 2004) and long periods of maternal care (Kurta and Kunz 1987).

Oli (2004) found that the projected population growth in 'slow' species, such as bats, was most sensitive to changes in juvenile and adult survival rates, while Jones *et al.* (2003) found that the low reproductive rate in flying foxes was one of two main predictors of extinction risk in megachiropterans.

Although bats are the second most speciose order of mammals (Koopman 1993), over 25% of modern species are classified as extinct or threatened (Hilton-Taylor 2000). Demographic data are important for understanding lifehistory processes, are often the basis of management and conservation planning for a species, and can be used to explore wider patterns of population structure and intraspecific relationships. With their high vagility, their nocturnal habits and their tendency to roost in inaccessible places, bats remain a difficult group for demographic study.

Demographic data, in the form of age structure, are often analysed using life tables (Cailliet 1992; Schwartz et al. 1998; Moss 2001; Richard et al. 2002; Belcher 2003; Banks et al. 2005). Obtaining the initial dataset of aged individuals to construct a life table requires either many years of observation (Schwartz et al. 1998; Moss 2001; Richard et al. 2002), mark-recapture data (Belcher 2003; Banks et al. 2005) or the ability to remove a sample of a population randomly (Cailliet 1992). Because of the logistical difficulties in obtaining demographic data for flying foxes, extensive age-structure data do not exist and therefore life tables have not been constructed for this group. In one recent attempt to circumvent this lack of field data, McIlwee & Martin (2002) estimated the intrinsic capacity of increase and modelled population growth of Australia's flying foxes using estimated demographic parameters. They suggested that mortality rates of flying foxes being culled in fruit orchards were unsustainable for a species with such a low reproductive rate. Given the import of this conclusion and the necessary reliance on estimated demographic parameters, there is an obvious need to produce data from wild populations to calculate basic demographic parameters.

Although reproductive output in flying foxes is believed to be low, maternal investment in each young produced is high. Like other species of *Pteropus*, spectacled flying foxes give birth to a single pup once a year (Hall and Richards

2000; Barclay and Harder 2003). Spectacled flying foxes are physiologically capable of giving birth at two years of age, although it is believed that they generally do not reproduce successfully until three years of age (Maclean, pers. com.). The extent of reproduction occurring in two-year-olds of this species has not been studied. Maternal investment in young is extensive, with six months gestation followed by three months lactation (Hall and Richards 2000). Young are still dependent on their mothers for some months post-parturition, so most of the year is taken up in some stage of reproduction for females.

Determining a species' longevity is important to understanding their life-time reproductive potential. Flying foxes have been known to live as long as 30 years in captivity but there is no accurate record of how long they live in the wild (Hall and Richards 2000).

In this study, estimates of basic demographic parameters gained from fieldbased data are provided, and the age structure of a wild flying fox population is described. Annual increments in cementum layers in the teeth of flying foxes collected dead from a colony as a result of tick paralysis, were used to construct an age distribution of the sample population. Dental and cementum annuli around the root of a tooth give a reliable indicator of age provided there are known-aged individuals to validate the periodic deposition of layers of cementum or dentine (Cool et al. 1994). The formation of appositional growth layers in hard tissues such as teeth has been attributed to periodic or seasonal changes in nutrition, hormonal activity, growth rates and mechanical forces (Klevezal and Kleinenberg 1969; Lieberman 1993). Because accurate age estimation is based on the relationship between chronological and physiological age, the regularity of the cementum increments will potentially differ from one species to the next. Cool et al. (1994) were the first to investigate the use of cementum layers to age captive-bred Australian flying foxes, while also looking at the possible use of dentine and bones for reliably aging individuals. Cementum gave the most consistently reliable results. This study on spectacled flying foxes and Divlijan *et al.* (In press) are the first to apply this technique to aging wild bats, although the focus in Divlijan *et al.* (In press) is investigating the technique itself rather than its application. The study that this chapter describes is the first to develop life tables from field-based data for a flying fox species and to estimate the intrinsic capacity for increase for that species.

## Methods

### **Data collection**

Animals were aged using cementum layers around the root of the canine tooth, based on the methods of Cool *et al.* (1994). Some modifications were implemented to accommodate the available equipment and to improve the technique as processing of teeth progressed.

Teeth were taken from 361 spectacled flying foxes (Female=196, Male=165) that had died from tick paralysis at the Tolga scrub colony on the Atherton Tablelands in north Queensland in 2001 and 2002. Tick paralysis season corresponds with the time of year when females give birth, which is October-December. Spectacled flying foxes are seasonal breeders, therefore, as teeth were collected at the same time as parturition, all animals that were used in this study had just had another birthday—an important consideration when aging an animal using an annually incremental feature. Each individual flying fox was given a numerical identifier, and gender, reproductive status and morphological measurements were recorded. Female reproductive status was recorded in three categories: i) lactating at the time, meaning she had given birth that season, ii) had given birth in previous years but was not lactating at time of death, and, iii) had never suckled young. The difference between a female that had lactated previously and one that had never lactated was obvious by the elongation of the nipples caused by offspring remaining attached to them for several months.

### Teeth

To make tooth removal easier, carcasses were frozen for 24 hours. The two upper canine teeth, and their roots, were then removed intact from the jaw with a sharp knife and a pair of side cutters. Teeth were stored in Dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO) but were washed and placed in 10% formaldehyde before processing began.

#### Tooth preparation and sectioning

Before processing, the entire exposed tooth and lower apical section of the root were cut off, leaving only the upper portion of the root (Fig. 6.1). This served a number of purposes: it made decalcification quicker, it made embedding of the tooth in wax easier and it ensured that all cross-sections were taken from the same point of the root—the midpoint. The midpoint of the root was targeted, as it is this area that is thought to provide the best approximation of known age (Cool *et al.* 1994).



**Figure 6.1** Diagram of tooth sectioning. i. Above gum, exposed tooth, removed before processing. ii. Mid-section of root below gum-line, removed to be embedded in wax. iii. Lower apical section of root removed before processing.

The remaining part of the tooth root was decalcified in 10% formic acid for 48 hours, after which the acid was changed and the tooth left in the new acid for another hour. An Arnim's test (Arnim 1935) then determined whether the endpoint of decalcification had been reached; if not, the tooth was returned to the acid bath. Once this point was reached, teeth were washed in water for three hours before being placed in a Shandon Hypercentre overnight to be dehydrated through a series of alcohols and xylene washes before finally being coated in wax. Teeth were then manually embedded in a wax block, for sectioning.

Sectioning was carried out using a Leitz manual rotary microtome. Initially, sections were cut at room temperature but quality sections were difficult to obtain. Thereafter, the exposed face of the tooth root was placed on tissue paper soaked in 10% ammonium hydroxide (on ice), for softening prior to sectioning. Sections were cut 8-10µm thick and placed on microscope slides. Slides were then placed in an oven at 37°C for approximately 72 hours to allow sections to

adhere to the slides and the wax to melt away. Tooth sections were then stained following the Mayer's Haematoxylin and Young's Eosin–Erythrosin staining procedures (Woods 1994). Samples were again oven-dried before being fixed onto the slide using a cover slip and DPX (dibutyl phthalate with xylene) and placed in a 37°C oven for approximately 72 hours. Many sections lifted from slides during the staining process. Using poly-1-lysine slides with an adhesive, to maintain permanent contact between the section and the slide, rectified this problem. This markedly improved the number of sections retained on slides during staining. This was improved further by putting the slides in a 37°C oven for three days rather than following the standard 60°C for 24 hours. The slower but extended drying time allowed the sections to adhere to the slides properly before going through the staining process.

## Counting cementum layers

Cementum layers were viewed and counted on a double-headed Olympus light microscope (Fig. 6.2). Several sections of each tooth were taken and each section was viewed to check for consistency in the number of cementum layers exhibited. Counts were made in areas that exhibited clear layering throughout the entire width of the section. Any sample for which it was difficult to assign a number of layers, was not used in the analysis. Sections were viewed and layers counted, at 40x magnification. In some species, such as humans, the permanent dentition does not erupt until several years have passed, requiring cementum layer counts (years) to be adjusted for the number of years prior to eruption. This is unnecessary in flying foxes as the permanent dentition of flying foxes erupts soon after birth (Hall and Richards 2000).

## Analysis

The frequency of individuals in each age class was plotted to determine the shape of the age distribution for the overall population, the shape for males and females separately, and a comparison between years. Lactation data in females were graphed against age data to determine at what age females first produced young, and the proportion of females breeding each year.



**Figure 6.2** Photo of cementum layers surrounding root of tooth taken from a spectacled flying fox. There are 6 rings in this photo indicating an individual of 6 years.

## Life tables

A life table was constructed for the Tolga Scrub colony of spectacled flying foxes on the Atherton Tablelands following Krebs (2001) and Caughley (1977). As the fecundity of females limits population growth, life tables calculating an intrinsic capacity for increase are completed using data on females only (Caughley 1977; Stearns 1992; Caughley and Gunn 1996; Krebs 2001). The maximum age (longevity) used was that of the oldest individual aged in this study (13 years). Instantaneous mortality estimates were gained by plotting age in years against the natural log of the frequency of individuals in each age class (see Ricker 1975). This method was originally used to calculate mortality rates

of fish populations caused by fishing, and is called a 'catch curve'. The slope of the regression was taken as the instantaneous mortality rate for all animals aged two years and above (40%). Juveniles in the first year age category were assigned a mortality rate of 50% due to the inability to estimate a mortality rate for this age class from the data. Typically, juvenile estimates of mortality are taken as double the adult rate (Cailliet 1992), which in this case would be 80%. Although possibly realistic, a conservative estimate of 50% was chosen instead. In comparison, Vardon & Tidemann (2000) estimated that juvenile black flying foxes (*P. alecto*) had a mean mortality rate of 68%, and Sibley *et al.* (1997) found juvenile mammals had a mean mortality rate of 56%. Tuttle & Stevenson (1982) also found that mortality rates for bats were highest in juveniles. These rates were used to estimate the natural survivorship function ( $I_x$ )

$$l_x = N_0(e^{-Mx})$$

where Mx is the instantaneous mortality rate at time x and  $N_0$  is the number of animals at time 0. Annual rate of mortality ( $d_x$ ) was estimated as

$$d_x = 1 - e^{-Mx}$$

Age at maturity, and fecundity were calculated from the dataset in this study. Comparison of reproductive status data with age gave the proportion of females reproducing each year in this sample (fecundity), and the age that females commenced producing young. Fecundity ( $b_x$ ) is the number of female offspring born per female per year and is calculated as

 $\mathbf{b}_{x}$  = # of young born per season x age-specific natality x ratio of female to male offspring

The product of the survivorship function  $(l_x)$  and fecundity  $(b_x)$  gives average lifetime reproductive success  $(l_x b_x)$ . The nett reproductive rate  $\mathbf{R}_0$  is calculated as

$$\mathbf{R}_0 = (\mathbf{\Sigma} \ l_x b_x)$$

and is the number of viable female offspring produced by a single female in a lifetime. Mean generation time (G) is the average age of mothers of new-born offspring and is calculated as

$$\mathbf{G} = \left( \sum l_x b_x \right) x / \mathbf{R}_0$$

where x = the age of individuals. The intrinsic capacity for increase ( $r_m$ ) is an instantaneous rate and is derived from the generation time (G), which is only an estimate (Krebs 2001), making  $r_m$  also only an approximation when generations overlap. A more accurate result is given with the finite rate of increase ( $\lambda$ ), following an iterative calculation using the Euler-Lotka equation. The finite rate of increase ( $\lambda$ ) was calculated as

$$\lambda = e^r$$

which is the exponential of r (or  $r_m$ ) (Krebs 2001). The age distribution for 2001 was compared with that of 2002 using a Kolmagorov-Smirnov two-sample test (Zar 1998) to determine whether there was a significant difference between the years. Life tables were completed for all females pooled across both years. Data for 2001 and 2002 were also separated and calculated independently. Additional life tables were completed with amended mortality and natality rates to estimate levels needed to obtain a stable population.

### Results

#### Validation of aging technique

Three hundred and sixty one (361) animals were aged using cementum layers, with several factors allowing a 1:1 ratio of cementum layers to age in years to be attributed. Three known-aged animals demonstrated an exact match between age and the number of cementum layers. The known-aged animals were two, five and fifteen years old, the last indicating that even older animals, which are more difficult to age due to the cementum layers being closer together, could be aged accurately using this method. One-year old animals could be identified by their smaller forearm measurements [*Pteropus conspicillatus* does not attain full adult size until approximately 18 months of age (Hall and Richards 2000)], and

their first-year status was also corroborated by aging using cementum layers. Female lactation data were also consistent with the aging method being accurate, with a low proportion of two year olds, based on cementum layers, found to be reproductively active. Divljan *et al.* (In press) also found a 1:1 relationship between cementum layers and age in years for grey-headed flying foxes (*Pteropus poliocephalus*).

### Age structure and demographic parameters

The age distribution of this sample of *P. conspicillatus* showed that 93% of the population was six years old and under (Fig. 6.3). The maximum age of an individual from this sample was 13 years. The data for 2001 and 2002 were pooled once it was determined that the age distributions for females for these two years were not significantly different (Kolmagorov-Smirnov two-sample test, D=0.2308, p=0.8793).



**Figure 6.3** Age distribution for sample population from Tolga Scrub colony on the Atherton Tablelands for 2001-2002 (males and females combined). Young-of-year of collection not included.

Thirty nine percent (39%) of two year old females had given birth but most females did not reproduce for the first time until three or four years (Fig. 6.4). Not every female reproduced each year, with an average reproductive rate of

0.89 (89% of females producing a pup each year) for females up to seven years. Reproductive rates for females above seven years were not calculated as sample sizes were low.



**Figure 6.4** Proportion of females lactating in each age class. Sample sizes for age classes 8 years onward are low (8, n=2; 9, n=4; 11, n=2; 13, n=2).

The instantaneous mortality rate was 43% for the population overall and 40% for females alone. When this was converted to an annual mortality rate, the overall rate was 35% and 33% for females only. When survival was compared between males and females with a log rank test, females had a significantly greater survival rate than males ( $\chi^2_{358, 1}$ =5.55, p<0.05). The overall sex ratio did not differ from 1:1 ( $\chi^2_{358, 1}$ =2.52, p<0.05, Yate's correction applied).

#### Life history tables

The life table using pooled age data from 2001 and 2002 (Table 6.1) indicates a population growth rate of -16.23% for that period. The net reproductive rate ( $\mathbf{R}_{o}$ ) was estimated to be 0.364 per generation. The generation time (G) was approximately 5.0 years. The intrinsic (or instantaneous) rate of population increase ( $r_{m}$ ) was -18%. For this sample of the population during 2001-2002, the more precise finite rate of increase ( $\lambda$ ) was -16.23%. When the two years of data were treated independently, the finite rate of increase ( $\lambda$ ) was -15.1% for 2001,

and -12.01% for 2002. Manipulation of the mortality rate and fecundity rate parameters suggested that this sample population would have been stable if the mortality rate was halved to 20%. If the fecundity rate was increased to 100% for all females from the age of three years, in addition to the reduced mortality rate, the sample population would have increased by 1.6% per year.

**Table 6.1** Life history table for female *Pteropus conspicillatus*. Symbols for columns: x, Age in years;  $l_x$ , survivorship (mortality was set at 50% for the first year of life and 40% for the remainder;  $b_x$ , natality;  $l_x b_x$ , age-specific reproductive rate;  $R_o$ , net reproductive rate per generation; G, mean generation time; r, intrinsic rate of increase of population.

X	l <sub>x</sub>	b <sub>x</sub>	l <sub>x</sub> b <sub>x</sub>	l <sub>x</sub> b <sub>x</sub> x	R₀	G	r
0	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.364	5.049	-0.1814
1	0.607	0.000	0.000	0.000			
2	0.407	0.000	0.000	0.000			
3	0.273	0.395	0.108	0.323			
4	0.183	0.455	0.083	0.332			
5	0.122	0.475	0.058	0.291			
6	0.082	0.445	0.037	0.219			
7	0.055	0.500	0.028	0.193			
8	0.037	0.500	0.018	0.148			
9	0.025	0.500	0.012	0.111			
10	0.017	0.500	0.008	0.083			
11	0.011	0.500	0.006	0.061			
12	0.007	0.500	0.004	0.045			
13	0.005	0.500	0.002	0.032			

## Discussion

The analysis of population dynamics through the use of life history traits and life tables is widely used in planning for the conservation and management of wildlife. For some animal groups such as highly mobile, inaccessible and nocturnal species like flying foxes, acquiring the data needed for these analyses is extremely difficult (Pierson and Rainey 1992; Hall and Richards 2000; Vardon and Tidemann 2000; McIllwee and Martin 2002; Barclay and Harder 2003). One of the principal reasons for this is that standardised, random sampling methods such as mark-recapture are difficult to implement with these animals. Thus, this is the first life table reported for a flying fox species based on actual field data. Although these data are not without their own biases, which are explained below, some important messages can still be drawn from them.

Before considering the conclusions that can be drawn from the data, the following assumptions should be noted. Most importantly, the analysis

assumes that the data collection is unbiased i.e. that individual animals have been sampled randomly. In this case, this assumes that the effect of the paralysis tick on the target species was completely random, with no sex or age bias. Though there was little direct data with which to assess this assumption, examination of the arguments suggest that the assumption holds. Firstly, some believe that young, inexperienced, and older, or sick animals are more likely to feed on Solanum mauritianum berries, where they are exposed to ticks, because it is widely available although possibly a poor 'second best' choice to native fruits. If this was the case, the age distribution graph should show a larger number of young and older animals, and a deficit of individuals in the midrange age groups. This is not what is seen, either in the overall sample distribution graph or the separate male and female age distribution data. Secondly, independent and random exposure to ticks also assumes independent foraging. During fly-outs from flying fox camps, individuals tend to 'peel off' from the main stream, making their way to a foraging destination. Flying foxes generally do not like to share their foraging locations with others. There is also no evidence to suggest that *Solanum mauritianum* attracts more animals than any other food source. A recent study of the use of food resources in spectacled flying foxes found individuals from the Tolga Scrub colony had a higher proportion of Solanum mauritianum in their diet compared with other colonies on the Atherton Tablelands and on the lowlands (Parsons 2005). This was suggested to be a direct result of the amount of cleared land and access to wild tobacco at the Tolga Scrub colony, whereas other colonies have greater access to rainforest and sclerophyllous foraging opportunities. However, in Chapter 5 it was suggested that kingroups may be foraging together. Therefore, if there is a bias, it is that family groups have been sampled that have been foraging together in a patch of *Solanum mauritianum*. Thirdly, the sampled sex ratio of males to females was 1:1. The understanding of sex ratios within flying fox camps at different times of the year is limited generally, and is not known for the Tolga Scrub colony at this time of the year during the two years studied. However, Nelson (1965a) found sex ratios in *P. poliocephalus* nearing equality at this time of the year. It is also believed that 100% mortality occurs in untreated animals that are envenomated by a paralysis tick (Maclean, pers. comm.). In the two years that these data were collected, all animals that fell within the colony were collected, so size or age bias in collection is unlikely. It is also noted that the shape of the age distribution curve is that expected of a mammal species with low reproductive output, high juvenile mortality and constant mortality throughout the age classes. The lower than expected (Promislow and Harvey 1990) number of one year olds is likely to result from the sample being taken from a maternity colony during the pupping season where it is unlikely that most one-year olds would be found. Ratcliffe (1932), Nelson (1965a) and Vardon & Tidemann (1999) all reported colonies of Australian flying foxes containing sub-adult animals only, suggesting that at certain times of the year sub-adults form temporary camps. The decreased number of animals in this age class means a bias away from this group in the age distribution graph. However, as this group is not usually considered in calculations of overall population mortality (because their losses exceed all other groups) and they are not reproductive, the absence of a realistic estimate in this class does not affect the final life table calculations. All of the above arguments make a strong case for the assumption of unbiased data collection being met.

Other assumptions made for this analysis are that there is constant mortality within each age group, that recruitment is constant for all age groups and that there is a stable age distribution. These are standard assumptions made in the use of life tables even though they are believed to be relatively unrealistic in nature (Caughley 1977; Krebs 2001). However, although Stearns (1992) stated that natural populations are rarely in a stable age distribution, he believed that when they are not, they are usually returning to one. Therefore, "as a reference point representing the average situation, the stable age distribution is a good choice" (Stearns 1992).

## Age at first reproduction

In the study sample, the age at first reproduction was two years but only a minority of females gave birth when they initially became physically capable of it. In fact, it was not until females reached four years of age that they started to reproduce at a rate approximating the mean reproductive rate (89%) of females for the sample population. Additionally, the generation figure calculated from the life tables indicated that the average age of mothers with new-born offspring was five years, suggesting that this is the peak age of reproductive

output in the colony. To have the same age group as the beginning of the major reproductive phase and also the peak of the reproductive phase does not bode well for overall reproductive output and population increase.

Delaying first breeding may incur an immediate cost but provide benefits in terms of lifetime reproductive output or quality of offspring. For example, most female sifaka (Propithecus verreauxi verreauxi), a Madagascan primate, delay reproduction for several years after reaching sexual maturity (Richard et al. 2002). Although physically capable of giving birth at three years only a small number did so, with most females delaying reproduction until seven years of age because of a highly variable environment and female 'bet-hedging' by investing in personal growth and maintenance in resource-deficient years. Delayed sexual maturity is usually offset by greater adult survival and the chance to reproduce many times in years to come. Stearns (1992) found this pattern of delayed sexual maturity and variable reproductive rate from year to year, and increased longevity, to be true of 'bet-hedging' species that experienced climatic unpredictability and therefore fluctuating abundance in resources. This strategy results in more offspring being born to bigger, healthier mothers with a greater probability of survival. With bats exhibiting 'slow' end life history traits, it is likely that following this strategy could prove advantageous (Harvey and Zammuto 1985; Harvey et al. 1989; Read and Harvey 1989; Promislow and Harvey 1990; Austad and Fischer 1991; Jones and MacLarnon 2001; Barclay and Harder 2003; Barclay et al. 2004; Brunet-Rossinni and Austad 2004; Oli 2004). It has also been argued that delayed age at first reproduction in bats may be linked to flight constraints and that time required for adult skeletal development may postpone the age of sexual development (Jones and MacLarnon 2001; Barclay and Harder 2003; Brunet-Rossinni and Austad 2004). This is consistent with the notion that females may postpone their first reproductive event in favour of increased physical development and maintenance. However, the resulting reduction in overall reproductive output from delayed age at first reproduction, and the slow reproductive rate is believed to be a significant predictor of extinction in the Megachiroptera (Jones et al. 2003).

#### Longevity shorter than previously thought

Although there is extensive literature on the long life spans of bat species (Read and Harvey 1989; Austad and Fischer 1991; Pierson and Rainey 1992; Ransome 1995; Hall and Richards 2000; Racey and Entwhistle 2000; Jonsson and Ebenman 2001; McIllwee and Martin 2002; Barclay and Harder 2003; Jones et al. 2003; Barclay et al. 2004; Brunet-Rossinni and Austad 2004) it may be that few individuals will achieve these ages. Although the oldest spectacled flying foxes sampled were 13 years of age, 93% of animals were six years of age or less. This appears to be a consistent pattern across Pteropids. Divljan et al. (In press) aged their oldest grey-headed flying fox at 23 years but found that 85% of their sample of wild grey-headed flying foxes (*P. poliocephalus*) were six years of age or less. Vardon & Tidemann (2000) in their study of black flying foxes (P. alecto) in the Northern Territory recorded their oldest known-aged bat at 4.5 years of age but were unable to give average age at death. In a comparative study of early and late breeding greater horseshoe bats (Rhinolophus ferrumequinum), Ransome (1995) found that although his late-breeding females could still reproduce at the age of 29 years, their average age at death was 8.1 years. While some animals reach the older age groups most die well before they reach double figures. This will have obvious consequences for demographic models in that actual and expected reproductive output will be quite different. This pattern will be different for animals in captivity, highlighting the fact that wild animals should be used for demographic analysis.

#### **Reproductive rate**

The average annual reproductive rate of 89% for female spectacled flying foxes up to seven years of age in this study, indicates most females produce young each year. This figure is consistent with studies on other species of *Pteropus* (Vardon and Tidemann 1998; Barclay *et al.* 2004). *Pteropus tonganus*, a species believed to be most closely related to *P. conspicillatus* (Flannery 1995a), was shown to have a reproductive rate of 0.87 (Barclay *et al.* 2004) and *Pteropus rodricensis* was found to breed every alternate birth cycle (West 1986). Vardon and Tidemann (1998) found that only 70% of black flying foxes (*Pteropus alecto*) in the Northern Territory were breeding, although one of the years studied was drought-affected and a lack of resources may have prevented many females from breeding that year.

While a reproductive rate of 89% may be a normal annual average due to miscarriages, unsuccessful matings or females not mating that year, resource limitation may also reduce reproductive output. This has been shown in greyheaded flying foxes (Eby 1999), and other mammal species (Schwartz *et al.* 1998; Richard *et al.* 2002; Bowen *et al.* 2003), although in some cases it is difficult to distinguish between females not breeding that year and females that have lost young as a result of inadequate nutrition or maternal inexperience. Although the reproductive rate for the period of this study was 89% it is likely that the reproductive output varies widely from year to year depending on several intrinsic and extrinsic factors.

## High mortality rate in the year studied

The annual mortality rate of 35% for the sample population is consistent with mortality data for mammals in general (Sibly *et al.* 1997). However, the combination of low fecundity and late age at first reproduction means that a stable population can only be maintained if the majority of animals (especially females) have considerable longevity and low year-to-year mortality.

Historically, when the life history traits of this species were evolving, flying foxes, with the advantage of flight, would be expected to have had a low natural rate of extrinsic adult mortality, principally suffering from factors such as illness, disease, predation and severe weather anomalies. Modern flying foxes contend with a whole new suite of threats. There is no knowledge of threats faced by flying foxes in Australia before Europeans arrived. In the 1900s, when unprotected, spectacled flying foxes were shot for entertainment (Garnett *et al.* 1999). Although illegal shooting probably still occurs, it is likely to be of a lesser extent since this species has been listed as vulnerable. Habitat loss throughout the 1900s has reduced the carrying capacity in the Wet Tropics region for this species (Garnett *et al.* 1999) although the rate of recent habitat loss has eased. However, electric powerlines, barbed-wire fences, paralysis ticks and culling in orchards all increase their mortality rate. Contemporary extrinsic factors such as climate change have an unknown effect on flying foxes and their

food sources, although heat stress events cause mass mortality in flying fox colonies (Welbergen 2004). However, the difference between the annual mortality rate and the instantaneous mortality rate is likely to reflect the effect of tick paralysis on the colony at the time. Both 2001 and 2002 were considered 'bad' tick paralysis seasons (Maclean, pers. comm.). Considering the number of different threats that this species faces, and the fact that there is no knowledge of mortality rates as a result of each factor, it is impossible to say which aspect has the most effect on spectacled flying fox numbers. In the two years that the Tolga Scrub colony was studied however, it appears that the late age of first reproduction, low reproductive output, and high maternal investment in young, are no longer being compensated for by long life spans and low adult mortality.

Iteroparous organisms (those that reproduce several times during a lifetime) have been found to be more prone to extinction when adult survival rate varies (Jonsson and Ebenman 2001), and population growth rate in species at the 'slow' end of the continuum has been shown to be sensitive to changes in juvenile and adult survival rates (Oli 2004). McIlwee & Martin (2002) suggested that this species could not sustain a mortality rate any higher than 20%, irrespective of the fecundity rate. The mortality rate for the two years studied exceeded this figure. It may be hypothesised that these two years were anomalous and that the year-to-year mortality rate is usually more sustainable. To understand the extent of variability in the year-to-year mortality rates require further comparative investigation between colonies and between years.

## Negative population growth rate

The life history table analysis presented here suggests that, in the absence of immigration, the spectacled flying fox colony at Tolga Scrub suffered a negative growth rate as a result of high mortality rates during 2001 and 2002. Because sampling was restricted to a single colony and the analysis was conducted in the absence of any broader population data, it is impossible to tell whether this equates to a decline in general across the species. Similarly, without data over a longer time frame or on immigration to the colony, it is difficult to generalise

the consequences for the colony itself. This analysis gives us a 'snapshot' view of what happened at this colony during the breeding seasons of 2001 and 2002. What is observed in nature is an actual rate of population change, which is constantly varying between positive and negative in response to changes in population age and social structure, as well as genetic composition and changes in environmental factors (Krebs 2001). In a 32-year study of yellow-bellied marmots (*Marmota flaviventris*), Schwartz *et al.* (1998) found that although the life-table statistics returned a negative growth value, the population fluctuated around an average but remained relatively stable. What this result highlights is the fact that a negative growth value does not automatically mean a declining species, and that it is important to incorporate different methods into a demographic study to obtain an accurate and comprehensive understanding of the species.

If the annual census figures (Fig. 1.4) are an accurate approximation of population size throughout the Wet Tropics, the negative growth rate of the Tolga Scrub colony is not reflected by the rest of the colonies. The census undertaken in 2001 recorded the largest number of spectacled flying foxes in the Wet Tropics since the census began. A more than doubling in population size in a year is not possible in this species through recruitment alone, so this result will be due to flying foxes moving from unrecorded colonies to known colonies. This highlights the principal disadvantage of the census, in that it can only estimate numbers of flying foxes based on previously known colonies. There are abundant prospects for unrecorded colony sites in the Wet Tropics region, especially in the forested region that runs along the Great Dividing range from Cardwell to Cooktown. This influx of animals from unknown colonies has concealed any indication of a population reduction through high mortality.

## Conclusion

Spectacled flying foxes exhibit life history traits expected of a species positioned at the 'slow' end of the life history traits continuum. However, the life table constructed from field data in this study suggests that longevity and life-time reproductive success may not have offset the effects of other traits such as late sexual maturation and low reproductive output. Taken together these results indicate that this colony was not at equilibrium during the period of the study. The persistence of reproduction to an age of 13 years indicates that reproductive senescence has not been reached by this time, and that spectacled flying foxes are physically capable of reaching these older ages. Modern life spans, on the other hand, may be significantly shorter than expected from their life history traits. The age distribution shows a lower number of one year olds than would be expected, but as flying fox colonies are not static in structure and these samples were taken from a maternity colony, it may be that at that time of the year there were fewer sub-adults in the colony.

Australian spectacled flying foxes suffer from many threats (Richards and Hall 1998) but these results suggest that the mortality rate they experienced in the years 2001/2002 in the Tolga scrub colony was twice as high as they could realistically sustain. Elasticity analysis has shown that mammals at the 'slow' end of the continuum are more sensitive to changes in adult and juvenile survival rather than changes in reproductive parameters (Heppell *et al.* 2000; Jonsson and Ebenman 2001; Oli 2004). This means conservation efforts in trying to halt the decline of a mammal species with a 'slow' life history should focus on trying to reduce mortality rates.

Results from this research highlight an area that requires further study to ascertain whether the mortality rates witnessed in 2001 and 2002 are general throughout spectacled flying fox colonies and from year to year. If this proves to be the case, the reduction in mortality in this species will need to be urgently addressed by management agencies.

# Chapter Seven – genetic and demographic insights into the past, present and future of the spectacled flying fox

This thesis presents results of a study that investigated both demographic and genetic influences on population structure in a single species, using the same individuals. The use of both genetic and demographic methods allowed population structure in the spectacled flying fox (*Pteropus conspicillatus*) to be investigated across a range of geographic and temporal scales. Mitochondrial DNA provided insight into historical and broad-scale factors that have shaped current population structure. Highly polymorphic microsatellite markers revealed current population genetic structure at local and regional scales, as well as exploring patterns of relatedness within flying fox colonies. Demography of colonies was investigated by aging individual animals through annually incremented cementum layers in the root of teeth, establishing the age profile of a single colony and a life table of current mortality rates and population growth. In combination, these data provide baseline information to infer processes that have affected populations historically, as well as processes currently in effect.

### The Past

### The origin of flying foxes in Australia

The biogeographic origin of flying foxes in Australia remains hypothetical although they are thought to have dispersed from a neighbouring centre of higher diversity and colonised Australia through intermittent waves of invasion. Published literature claims that flying foxes in Australia migrated from Papua New Guinea (PNG) (McKean 1970; Schodde and Calaby 1972; Hall 1984) and are relatively recent colonisers (McKean 1970; Schodde and Calaby 1972), especially in the Wet Tropics region. Hand (1984) states that bats

continuously filtered into Australia throughout the Cainozoic (65 mya to present).

This study provides empirical evidence of a long occupation of Australia by flying foxes. High mitochondrial nucleotide diversity (Chapter 3) and nuclear allelic diversity (Chapter 4) among Australian individuals of spectacled flying fox, suggest an old lineage rather than one recently arrived in Australia. The greater haplotypic (mtDNA) and allelic diversity (nDNA) in Australia compared to PNG also suggests movement from Australia to PNG, not in the other direction as sometimes supposed. This is corroborated by the relatively high proportion of common alleles in PNG individuals and the greater number of rare alleles in Australia. PNG also has the lowest allelic richness, observed and expected heterozygosity, and effective number of alleles (Chapter 4). Coupled with the endemic status of the grey-headed flying fox in Australia and the limited occurrence of black flying foxes and little red flying foxes in PNG, these results support a hypothesis of an old lineage of flying foxes in Australia colonising Australia well before migration to PNG occurred.

The case for recent colonisation of Australia by flying foxes, especially the spectacled flying fox, rests on three propositions; the lack of any fossil record of the Megachiroptera in Australia, the restricted northerly distribution of the spectacled flying fox, and the low species diversity of Megachiroptera in Australia. Each of the three arguments will be discussed, and alternative propositions presented.

#### The fossil record

The lack of any fossil record of Megachiroptera in Australia makes inference about the history of this group in Australia difficult. The fossil record of the Megachiroptera in general is impoverished; the fossil history of 98% of megachiropteran–lineages is estimated to be missing (Teeling *et al.* 2005). Despite the lack of detection of fossils in Australia, this does not necessarily equate to a complete absence, just that they have not been uncovered as yet. For example, much of the Riversleigh deposits, which have yielded over one thousand microchiropteran fossils (Hand 1984), remain to be searched and uncovered (Archer *et al.* 1991). Although there are no megachiropteran fossils in Australia, the oldest microchiropteran fossil in Australia was found in 55 my old sediments near Murgon, southeast Queensland (Hand 1994). The majority of, and best preserved, bat fossils come from deposits on the Riversleigh station in northwest Queensland dating from 20 mya (Hand 1999). Due to the higher degree of endemicity of the Megachiroptera compared to the Microchiroptera in the Australo/Papuan region, it has been suggested that the Megachiroptera entered the region first (Hand 1984). If so, and the oldest microchiropteran fossil is 55 my old, then the arrival of megachiropteran fossil found in the Australo/Papuan region is that of a bat from the Pliocene (5–1.6 mya) found in PNG (Hall 1981). Thorough investigation of deposits with large numbers of fossils of small to medium–sized arboreal animals may yet turn up flying foxes.

A number of authors have queried the reliance on, and reliability of, the fossil record for inference of the biogeography and diversification of species (Hedges *et al.* 1996; Heads 2001). Molecular estimates of mammal and bird diversification dates have been found to be 50-90% earlier using molecular methods than estimates based on the fossil record (Hedges *et al.* 1996).

#### Restricted distribution of the spectacled flying fox

Previous research has shown that spectacled flying fox colonies occur in close proximity to rainforest (Richards 1990a). Australia had extensive tracts of rainforest up to 5 mya (Truswell 1990). The distribution of spectacled flying foxes may be due to an ecological requirement to be close to warm, wet forests, and has followed the contraction of Australia's tropical rainforests to current relictual areas. The distribution of *P. conspicillatus* is likely to have been more extensive historically. Although spectacled flying foxes are known to forage in many habitat types throughout the Wet Tropics region (Parsons 2005), and do not appear to be limited in that respect, there does appear to be some aspect of their association with the rainforests of northern Queensland that limit their distribution to this area. What these aspects might be are still poorly understood.

#### Low species diversity of Megachiroptera in Australia

Diversity of flying fox species is low in Australia despite high genetic diversity suggesting a long presence here. A similar example exists in the birds of paradise, which are most diverse in PNG with 38 species, with only three species found in Australia (Heads 2001). The lack of a fossil record suggested that they should be considered a young group (Heads 2001). However, Heads (2001) proposed that they are an old group that have originated from an ancestral bird group in Australia that inhabited mangroves, beach forests and coastal hinterlands. The extensive radiation of the birds of paradise in PNG is proposed to have resulted from vicariant events resulting from the tumultuous geological history of PNG, rather than dispersal (Heads 2001). This highlights the point that a centre of diversity does not always equate with an area of recent colonisation. The higher species diversity of the Megachiroptera in PNG is likely to have resulted from interchange with both Indonesia and Australia and subsequent vicariance.

#### Proposed origin of spectacled flying foxes in Australia

The consequences of the reinterpretation of spectacled flying fox history in Australia are manifold. Their entry into Australia is most likely to have been via an ancient connection with Indonesia as suggested for many plants that exploited stepping stones provided by continental fragments or platelets that moved ahead of the Australian plate (Audley-Charles 1987). Prior to ~10 mya, PNG was a low and undistinguished group of islands that were episodically uplifted or inundated by global tectonic activity (Pigram and Davies 1987). This early 'Papua New Guinea' would be poorly suited to development of the diversity exhibited by volant organisms such as bats. Microchiropteran fossils place microbats in Australia approximately 55 mya, and megachiropterans are suggested to have arrived prior to this time (Hand 1984), when PNG was no more than a single terrane (regions of rocks with a similar geological history and rock type) (Pigram and Davies 1987). The proposal that flying foxes colonised Australia via an ancient connection with Indonesia is supported by the greater haplotypic and allelic diversity (Chapters 3 and 4) of the spectacled flying fox in Australia compared to PNG, suggesting movement of flying foxes from Australia to PNG. This finding may have implications to other species of megachiroptera in the Australo-Papuan region.

The combined evidence suggests that at some point during the Eocene epoch flying foxes arrived in Australia. The fossil record suggests that the vegetation along the south east coast of Australia comprised a mixture of complex rainforest and forest comprising *Nothofagus* species (Truswell 1990), providing suitable habitat for colonisation and diversification to have occurred. The north east coast has tentatively been suggested to comprise similar complex rainforest elements to those currently found north of the Daintree river. There is very little information about the north coast (Truswell 1990). Changing climate and the resultant, sometimes dramatic, shifts in vegetation structure would have provided opportunities for speciation to occur from ancestral stocks resulting in the extant diversity observed in flying foxes.

Black flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes are known to interbreed, with introgression and possible incomplete lineage sorting being shown in this study (Chapter 3). It is likely, therefore, that these two species and possibly the greyheaded flying fox have diverged from a common ancestor. There is nothing to indicate what sequence of events might have caused the ancestral species to diverge into the three extant species. However, the current distributions of the greyheaded and spectacled flying foxes reflect different ecological requirements or tolerances. Increasing niche specialisation of these two species would likely have caused their allopatric distributions and divergence from each other. *Pteropus conspicillatus*, at some time in the past 10 million years, has colonised PNG and dispersed westwards to West Papua where it has diverged into the subspecies *Pteropus conspicillatus chrysauchen*, which was not included in this study due to the difficulty in obtaining specimens.

Although Schodde and Calaby (1972) were the proponents of the recent arrival of flying foxes from PNG, they noted that the rainforest fauna and flora in eastern Australia south of the Cape York Peninsula are old and autochthonous (evolved *in situ*). They also stated that the effect of the Torres Strait as a barrier or land bridge in shaping the Australian and PNG faunal distributions, has

been minor and intermittent (Schodde and Calaby 1972). The nuclear and mitochondrial DNA diversity results are consistent with a view of flying foxes being long term members of the Australian biota that colonised the continent long before undergoing secondary dispersal to PNG and the Pacific.

#### Introgression/incomplete lineage sorting

The observation of introgression, or of incomplete lineage sorting, between *P. conspicillatus* and *P. alecto* (Chapter 3) may require the addition of data from *P. poliocephalus*, the third large *Pteropus* species in Australia, to clarify the relationship among these three species. Additional data from *P. alecto* across a broader geographic range, as well as from *P. poliocephalus*, may resolve the issue of whether the signature in the data is due to occasional introgression or incomplete lineage sorting.

Typically, in species where hybridisation has been documented, introgression occurs at the point of contact of the two taxa involved, forming a hybrid zone (Harrison 1993). In the spectacled flying fox, the observed haplotype relationships suggest hybrids occur but do not form a 'hybrid zone' as the extensive movements that this species undertake make this implausible. Evidence of this may be seen in that the two geographical locations from which the black flying fox samples came (Townsville, and Thursday Island from the Torres Strait) are outside the current recognised distribution of the spectacled flying fox in Australia.

The evidence of hybridisation observed in the mtDNA data could be a result of either current and ongoing introgression events, or ancient introgression events, or a combination of both. Introgression may be a widespread and continuing phenomenon between flying fox species in Australia, or the haplotypic relationships reported in Chapter 3 may have resulted from a few interspecific matings long ago. Branch lengths between some of the black flying fox and spectacled flying fox individuals on the phylogeny are quite short, indicating a fairly recent introgression event. However, the branch leading to *P. alecto* 50 TVL emerges from deep within the tree and comprises 25 bp changes, suggesting an older, historical relationship. These two examples demonstrate that introgression may have occurred continually throughout

time, and still be ongoing today. Without further sampling and analyses of both species, the timing of any introgression events remains unknown.

In the example of *P. alecto* 50 TVL, the long branch length may be a signal of incomplete lineage sorting rather than introgression. The evolutionary history of flying foxes in Australia remains unclear. In addition, the timing of the divergence of the three large flying foxes from a common ancestor is unknown. It is possible that the bat lineages in Australia are still in the process of sorting, and thus have not yet completely diverged. It appears likely that both introgression and incomplete lineage sorting may contribute to the mixing of haplotypes between *P. alecto* and *P. conspicillatus*.

#### Vicariance and dispersal

This study revealed a genetic signature of expansion in the mtDNA data (Chapter 3) and also the genetic signature of a bottleneck in the microsatellite data (Chapter 4). These conflicting results highlight the turbulent history of the spectacled flying fox in Australia. This species has likely undergone population expansions and contractions as a result of climatic and geological events. The east coast of Australia, although currently lacking active volcanoes, was an area of regular volcanism throughout Australia's geological history (Johnson 2004). Basalt eruptions began approximately 50 mya in northern Queensland, although most of the outcrops seen today resulted from activity between 8 mya and 13 000 years ago. In the Atherton basalt province, eight major volcanoes created the Atherton Tablelands approximately 3.9–1.6 mya (Johnson 2004). The eruption of the Undara volcano occurred 190 000 years ago and resulted in large areas of lava flow regionally (Johnson 2004). The volcanic activity in north Queensland would have removed large areas of forest, affecting the distribution of the spectacled flying fox and leading to population fragmentation. Such events can provide the mechanisms for generating the distinct clades seen in the phylogenetic analyses. Along with changes in habitat availability owing to climatic fluctuations, the likelihood of population expansions and bottlenecks throughout time is strong. This pattern is also likely to be seen in other members of the old Wet Tropics fauna. For example, two species of ringtail possum, *Pseudochirulus cinereus* and *P. herbertensis*, are believed to be have diverged as a result of isolation in rainforest refugia during the last glacial maximum (Moritz *et al.* 1997).

#### The Present

#### Broad scale

Both microsatellite and mitochondrial analysis of spectacled flying fox colonies throughout their range suggests high gene flow and connectivity between colonies resulting in a single panmictic population and no genetic distinctiveness among colonies (Chapter 4). Although analysis suggests that there is currently high gene flow between Australia and PNG, there are elements of the data implying the opposite. Mitochondrial DNA haplotypic diversity (Chapter 3) in PNG is lower than in Australia. There is reduced allelic richness and genetic diversity at microsatellite loci in PNG (Chapter 4). The impression of an excess of common alleles (Chapter 5) was backed up by detailed description of the alleles occurring at less than 25% frequency in all colonies (Chapter 4), showing PNG to only have 40% of the less common alleles present. The PNG data demonstrated similar diversity to Wet Tropics colonies with almost half the number of samples. If occasional, but consistent, movement and gene flow were occurring between PNG and Australia, the occurrence of rare alleles in the PNG data should be greater than demonstrated. The combination of these more detailed analyses suggest that contemporary movement between PNG and Australia is unlikely or rare.

Iron Range appears distinct from the other Australian colonies. It has the lowest population-by-population pairwise relatedness value compared to almost every other colony (Chapter 5). This may be due to small sample size and a greater proportion of rare or uncommon alleles. The measure of allelic richness, which removes the bias as a result of sample size, revealed Iron Range had the second highest allelic richness of all colonies. From limited field observations of this colony, it appears to be very small in size, at most comprising several hundred individuals. It is difficult to determine if this is an unusual colony, or whether small sample size and a random sampling of alleles is biasing these diversity measures. However, when a comparison of the effective number of alleles was made by randomly subsampling the two Atherton Tableland populations with large sample sizes (Chapter 4), with the total dataset, there was little difference. This may suggest that increasing the sample size in the Iron Range population would not change the results or the allelic diversity outcome. Episodic migration of a few spectacled flying foxes from PNG and/or the Wet Tropics region, followed by long periods of isolation, and increased genetic drift due to small population size, is likely responsible for the allelic pattern observed in the Iron Range sample.

*Pteropus conspicillatus* is principally found in the Wet Tropics region of north Queensland. The highly gregarious nature of this species, along with a patchy landscape of food resources, means there is considerable movement of individuals between colonies. A high degree of movement does not automatically confer abundant gene flow unless matings, and therefore offspring, result from these journeys. However, the lack of structure in the mtDNA (Chapter 3) and microsatellite data (Chapter 4), suggest that high gene flow does occur among colonies throughout the region. This implies that mating is random with regard to geographic location or colony, and that there is no bias in the dispersal of offspring from a colony (i.e. no evidence for female philopatry). This is in agreement with the two previous studies on gene flow using allozyme markers in the other three *Pteropus* species found on mainland Australia (Sinclair *et al.* 1996; Webb and Tidemann 1996).

Despite the genetic signature of a bottleneck in the Wet Tropics colonies (Chapter 4), there remains abundant genetic diversity in this region. Two processes are likely to have contributed to this pattern. Firstly, the panmictic structure of the Wet Tropics colonies means large-scale gene flow between colonies will ameliorate the effect of any bottleneck by reducing the effect of genetic drift. The loss of individuals or components of habitat are important, but the influence at the genetic level would be diluted across the landscape. The likely diffuse nature of the bottleneck will have resulted in a slower rate of loss of genetic variability. Secondly, the introgression of *P. alecto* into *P. conspicillatus* in Australia. With the extent of the introgression being unknown, the effect of it on analyses involving allele frequencies or time since divergence is also unknown. As the analysis used to detect a bottleneck works on allele number
and heterozygosity, it is possible that the bottleneck suggested in the Wet Tropics colonies could actually be a result of the increased allelic diversity as a result of novel alleles from the black flying fox. Additional sampling of *P. alecto* across its range should assist in understanding its contribution to this pattern.

#### Local scale

Although many bat species exhibit panmixia, there is often some degree of inter-colony structure due to features of their mating system or dispersal pattern (Petri *et al.* 1997; Petit and Mayer 1999; Rossiter *et al.* 2000b; Castella *et al.* 2001; Ortega *et al.* 2003; Ruedi and Castella 2003). The mating strategy of *P. conspicillatus* was not studied directly in this investigation, although the lack of genetic structure among colonies (Chapter 3), as well as the indication of cross kin-group matings (Chapter 5), suggest random mating throughout the Wet Tropics region.

Female philopatry is common in mammals (Prugnolle and de Meeus 2002), and especially in female Microchiroptera (Wilkinson 1992a; Worthington-Wilmer et al. 1994; Petri et al. 1997; Entwhistle et al. 2000; Burland et al. 2001; Castella et al. 2001; Kerth et al. 2002b; Miller-Butterworth et al. 2003). No female philopatry has been reported in the Megachiroptera due to a lack of genetic studies on colony inter-relatedness. This study found no evidence of female philopatry in spectacled flying foxes (Chapters 3 and 4). However, preliminary evidence that sub-adults travel with their mothers to forage was observed (Chapter 5). The need to travel long distances to forage for patchy food resources provides impetus for this behaviour. In doing this, sub-adults would learn the location of valuable food resources at different times. The requirement for constant movement between colonies depending on the location of current food sources provides many opportunities for inter-colony matings. This study suggests such matings are common. In addition, despite the observation of family groups containing closely related sub-adults and mature females, there is no evidence of inbreeding or obvious within kin-group matings.

As the age structure of the Tolga Scrub colony indicates a population of mainly young animals, and the reproductive output of this colony is low, the ability of this population to achieve positive growth is low unless mortality rates are reduced (Chapter 6). Although the year analysed (2002) was a relatively bad tick paralysis season (equating to approximately 5% loss of individuals from Atherton Tablelands colonies–J. Maclean, pers. comm.), the difference between the instantaneous mortality rate and annual mortality rate gives an indication of the effect of tick paralysis. The annual mortality rate (without the effect of tick paralysis), although in keeping with mortality rates for mammals in general, is higher than this species can realistically sustain, considering their short life span and low reproductive output.

Considering the short period of time over which this study was undertaken, it is difficult to make any statement about year-to-year variation in recruitment and mortality. Both reproductive output (birth) and mortality rate (death) are likely to vary from year to year, and these two processes are critical influences on current population size trends. Thus, it is important to have a detailed and comprehensive understanding of these demographic components. However, mortality rate is a difficult parameter to ascertain directly. Determining the ages of individuals through the use of cementum layers in teeth, although time consuming, may be the only realistic method of determining age structure for a flying fox colony, and therefore, mortality rate and population growth. However, new methods for aging animals using non-destructive techniques, such as the rate of telomere erosion throughout an organisms life, are now becoming available (Gan *et al.* 2001; Haussmann and Vleck 2002).

As flying fox colonies have such a fluid nature, the use of life tables to estimate demographic processes may be inappropriate, as the assumptions of these tables may not be met. Although it can be argued that the life table results from this study cannot be extrapolated to other colonies due to their fluid nature, other factors suggest that sampling flying foxes at this time of the year may be as close to random as can be hoped. That the sex ratio of samples taken was 1:1, and with the large-scale and apparent random nature of the movement between colonies, it could be argued that the sample taken would likely be an average across the Wet Tropics. This would need to be proven one way or the other by sampling across several colonies throughout the range of the spectacled flying fox at the same time.

## Future

### Conservation and management of the spectacled flying fox

The initial impetus for this study came from a need to provide basic information on the general biology and ecology of the spectacled flying fox to facilitate informed decisions regarding this species. For the management agencies these decisions involved creating management plans, for the fruit farmers it was how best to protect their crops without having to cull animals on a nightly basis. To conservationists, it was how best to help the species stabilise in light of their alleged decline.

To management agencies, the level of gene flow and connectivity between colonies observed in this study emphasises the need to manage the spectacled flying fox as a single management unit throughout the Wet Tropics region. It also highlights the fact that there appear to be very few barriers to movement in this region, and that their current distribution is not a reflection of their incapacity to move further afield, but likely due to other limiting ecological aspects, such as food resources.

The loss of individuals to tick paralysis each year is known to management agencies. However, these results reveal the effect of this loss on the population growth rate. There is a critical need to reduce the mortality rate, especially that due to tick paralysis, to improve population growth rates to a more sustainable level. The clarification of the age at first reproduction in females, and determining the reproductive output on an annual basis, will advise management of the capacity of this species to recover from a population decline.

The high connectivity of colonies found in the Wet Tropics region will answer many questions posed by fruit farmers. These results show that the removal of a single colony neighbouring a fruit farm would have no effect on mitigating the impact of foraging flying foxes, as individuals foraging on fruit crops would have come from colonies throughout the Wet Tropics region. The removal of a colony from the panmictic Wet Tropics population would have no immediate effect on genetic diversity in the species, although it would have an effect on demographic factors such as overall reproductive output, which in the long term would likely affect genetic diversity.

This study also highlights that spectacled flying foxes are incapable of a boom and bust reproductive system, dismissing the 'flying rodents' claim made by many fruit farmers. As the majority of females give birth for the first time between the ages of three and four, produce a single young per year, and most likely only live to six or seven years of age, this species follows a typical 'slow' life history trait scenario, without the long life span to compensate for the low reproductive output (Chapter 6). It appears possible that in many years their mortality rate overshadows their reproductive output, resulting in either zero or even a negative population growth rate.

The high genetic diversity (Chapters 3 and 4) will confirm for conservationists that the spectacled flying fox has the genetic capability to cope with environmental change. High gene flow and connectivity of colonies ensure that loss of individuals through a localised mortality event will not have an immediate effect on genetic diversity within the population, although it will affect reproductive capacity and total population size.

#### Future research

This study has answered a number of questions but at the same time highlighted many others. The phylogeny of the spectacled flying fox needs to be extended to include greater representation of close congeners to elucidate an accurate history of *Pteropus* species that occur on mainland Australia. Increasing the sampling of *P. alecto* and including samples from *P. poliocephalus,* will extend the phylogeny of large Australian pteropodids and allow their relationship to each other to be determined. This will also provide information on the extent of introgression, whether it is reciprocal, and whether both introgression and incomplete lineage sorting are responsible for the mitochondrial poly- or paraphyly observed. By also including other close congeners from the Australo-Pacific region, the evolution of *Pteropus* species in this region may be clarified.

A social study on within-colony behaviour and relationships through observation may validate the hypothesis emerging from this study of kingroups occurring within colonies. This type of study will also confirm whether the spectacled flying fox follows a polygynous mating strategy and the type of polygyny involved. A combination of observation of behaviour and genetic analysis to determine successful matings should clarify colony behavioural dynamics in this species.

It would be informative to compare nuclear genetic diversity among the black flying foxes, grey-headed flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes. Applying the microsatellite loci isolated and optimised for the spectacled flying fox would be an appropriate tool to examine the allelic range and distribution among these species. This may clarify the sequence of divergence of *Pteropus* in Australia as well as reveal whether the difference in genetic diversity between Australia and PNG is a result of introgression from black flying foxes or an indication of an older, ancestral lineage in Australia. The data obtained from such a study would also provide insight into the diversification of these apparently closely related species, as well as determine whether other flying fox species suffered from a bottleneck during the last glacial maximum.

Considering the aspects of population structure that appear to be most important to the conservation of this species, I believe the most important future research that could be completed on this species is to determine whether the mortality rates and population growth rates estimated in this study are applicable to the rest of the Wet Tropics population. Once this has been resolved, the degree of urgency for remedial action can be established.

The population of spectacled flying foxes occurring in the Iron Range National Park area appears to be an outlier within Australia and the data is equivocal as to whether there is current movement into or out of this colony. Little is known about this population. The movement of the entire colony out of the park during the winter months and the fact that this was unknown before August 2004, highlight the need for intensive field-based research, as well as more genetic samples, to accurately assess the status of this population. While this study has concentrated on Australian populations of spectacled flying fox, it has highlighted the lack of knowledge on the populations in PNG. Little is known of the colonies of spectacled flying fox that occur in PNG, where only a couple of larger colonies close to towns can be verified as still in existence. As little is known about flying foxes in PNG in general, this would be a worthwhile, if ambitious, project in adding knowledge on the evolution of flying foxes in the Australo-Pacific region, a so-called hotspot of diversity for the Megachiroptera.

#### Conclusion

A new hypothesis for the origin and evolution of flying foxes in Australia is presented. The spectacled flying fox has experienced a tumultuous history, including population expansion and contraction as a result of climatic and geographic events. These events have aided in shaping the contemporary structure of highly connected colonies within a single panmictic population in the Wet Tropics region, along with an isolated population at Iron Range and populations of unknown status in PNG. High allelic and haplotypic diversity suggest an old lineage within Australia and colonisation from Australia to PNG. Introgression between black flying foxes and spectacled flying foxes suggests a close association between these two species. The possibility of incomplete lineage sorting also intimates that the three large species of *Pteropus* in Australia might still be in the process of diverging. Although high levels of gene flow among colonies within the Wet Tropics region suggest fluidity within and among colonies, some sub-structuring in the form of kin groups is indicated, with several cohorts of young remaining with mothers before the young reach sexual maturity. High rates of mortality and low reproductive output may be putting this species at risk of decline, especially as their average longevity is considerably less than expected.

# References

- ABS, A. B. S. (2001). Spectacled Flying Fox (*P.conspicillatus*) a case for listing as Critically Endangered under IUCN criterion A, Australasian Bat Society: 27.
- Adcock, G. J., Langmore, N. E., Mulder, R. A. and Kilner, R. M. (2005). Microsatellite loci for population and behavioural studies of Horsfield's bronze-cuckoo (*Chalcites basalis* : Aves). *Molecular Ecology Notes* **5:** 619-621.
- Al-Rabah'ah, M. A. and Williams, C. G. (2004). An ancient bottleneck in the Lost Pines of central Texas. *Molecular Ecology* **13**: 1075-1084.
- Alvarez, Y., Juste, J., Tabares, E., Garrido-Pertierra, A., Ibanez, C. and Bautista, J. M. (1999). Molecular phylogeny and morphological homoplasy in fruitbats. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 16: 1061-1067.
- Ammerman, L. K. and Hillis, D. M. (1992). A molecular test of bat relationships: monophyly or diphyly? *Systematic Biology* **41**: 222-232.
- Amos, W. and Balmford, A. (2001). When does conservation genetics matter? *Heredity* **87:** 257-265.
- Andersen, K. (1912). *British museum catalogue of the Chiroptera*, *1*, *Megachiroptera*. London, British Museum.
- Andersen, L. W., Fog, K. and Damgaard, C. (2004). Habitat fragmentation causes bottlenecks and inbreeding in the European tree frog (*Hyla arborea*). *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* **271**: 1293-1302.
- Anderson, C. R., Lindzey, F. G. and McDonald, D. B. (2004). Genetic structure of cougar populations across the Wyoming Basin: Metapopulation or megapopulation. *Journal of Mammalogy* 85: 1207-1214.
- Anderson, D. J. and Hodum, P. J. (1993). Predator behaviour favors clumped nesting in an oceanic seabird. *Ecology* **74**: 2462-2464.

- Archer, M., Hand, S. J. and Godthelp, H. (1991). *Riversleigh: the story of animals in ancient rainforests of inland Australia*. Balgowlah, New South Wales, Reed Books Pty Ltd.
- Arnim, S. S. (1935). A method for preparation of serial sections of teeth and surrounding structures of the rat. *Anatomical Record* **62**: 321-330.
- Audley-Charles, M. G. (1987). Dispersal of Gondwanaland: relevance to evolution of the angiosperms. In: Whitmore, T. C. (eds). Biogeographical Evolution of the Malay Archipelago. Oxford, Clarendon Press: 5-25 pp.
- Austad, S. N. and Fischer, K. E. (1991). Mammalian aging, metabolism, and ecology: evidence from the bats and marsupials. *Journal of Gerontology* **46**: B47-B53.
- Avise, J. C. (2000). *Phylogeography: the history and formation of species*. Cambridge, Massachusetts, Harvard University Press.
- Baldi, R. C., Campagna, C., Pedrazza, S. and Leboeuf, B. (1996). Social effects of space availability on the breeding behaviour of elephant seals in Patagonia. *Animal Behaviour* **51**: 717-724.
- Balloux, F. and Lugon-Moulin, N. (2002). The estimation of population differentiation with microsatellite markers. *Molecular Ecology* **11**: 155-165.
- Banks, S. C., Finlayson, G. R., Lawson, S. J., Lindenmayer, D. B., Paetkau, D., Ward, S. J. and Taylor, A. C. (2005). The effects of habitat fragmentation due to forestry plantation establishment on the demography and genetic variation of a marsupial carnivore, *Antechinus agilis*. *Biological Conservation* 122: 581-597.
- Barclay, R. M. R. and Harder, L. D. (2003). *Life histories of bats: life in the slow lane*. In: Kunz, T. H. and Brock Fenton, M. (eds). *Bat Ecology*. Chicago, Uiversity of Chicago Press: 209-256 pp.
- Barclay, R. M. R., Ulmer, J., MacKenzie, C. J. A., Thompson, M. S., Olson, L., McCool, J., Cropley, E. and Poll, G. (2004). Variation in the reproductive rate of bats. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **82:** 688-693.
- Barrowclough, G. F., Groth, J. G., Mertz, L. A. and Gutierrez, R. J. (2005). Genetic structure, introgression, and a narrow hybrid zone between northern and California spotted owls (*Strix occidentalis*). *Molecular Ecology* **14:** 1109-1120.
- Barton, N. H. and Gale, K. S. (1993). *Genetic analysis of hybrid zones*. In: Harrison, R. G. (eds). *Hybrid zones and the evolutionary process*. New York, Oxford University Press: 364 pp.

- Baucom, R. S., Estill, J. C. and Cruzan, M. B. (2005). The effect of deforestation on the genetic diversity and structure in *Acer saccharum* (Marsh): evidence for the loss and restructuring of genetic variation in a natural system. *Conservation Genetics* **6**: 39-50.
- Beaumont, M. A. and Bruford, M. W. (1999). *Microsatellites in conservation genetics*. In: Goldstein, D. B. and Schlotterer, C. (eds). *Microsatellites: evolution and applications*. Oxford, Oxford University Press: 352 pp.
- Beerli, P. and Felsenstein, J. (1999). Maximum-likelihood estimation of migration rates and effective population numbers in two populations using a coalescent approach. *Genetics* **152**: 763-773.
- Beerli, P. and Felsenstein, J. (2001). Maximum likelihood estimation of a migration matrix and effective population sizes in n subpopulations by using a coalescent approach. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **98:** 4563-4568.
- Belcher, C. A. (2003). Demographics of tiger quoll (*Dasyurus maculatus*) populations in south-eastern Australia. *Australian Journal of Zoology* 51: 611-626.
- Bentzen, P., Olsen, J. B., McLean, J. E., Seamons, T. R. and Quinn, T. P. (2001). Kinship analysis of Pacific salmon: Insights into mating, homing, and timing of reproduction. *Journal of Heredity* **92:** 127-136.
- Berube, M., Aguilar, A., Dendanto, D., Larsen, F., Di Sciara, G. N., Sears, R., Sigurjonsson, J., Urban-R, J. and Palsboll, P. J. (1998). Population genetic structure of North Atlantic, Mediterranean Sea and Sea of Cortez fin whales, *Balaenoptera physalus* (Linnaeus 1758): analysis of mitochondrial and nuclear loci. *Molecular Ecology* **7**: 585-599.
- Birkhead, T. R., Atkin, L. and Moller, A. P. (1987). Copulation behaviour in birds. *Behaviour* **101**: 101-138.
- Bjorklund, M. (2003). The risk of inbreeding due to habitat loss in the lion (*Panthera leo*). *Conservation Genetics* **4:** 515-523.
- Blomqvist, D., Fessl, B., Hoi, H. and Kleindorfer, S. (2005). High frequency of extra-pair fertilisations in the moustached warbler, a songbird with a variable breeding system. *Behaviour* **142**: 1133-1148.
- Blundell, G. M., Ben-David, M., Groves, P., Bowyer, R. T. and Geffen, E. (2004). Kinship and sociality in coastal river otters: are they related? *Behavioral Ecology* **15**: 705-714.
- Bonaccorso, F. J. (1998). *Bats of Papua New Guinea*. Washington D.C., Conservation International.

- Bowen, W. D., Ellis, S. L. and Boness, D. J. (2003). Maternal and newborn lifehistory traits during periods of contrasting population trends: implications for explaining the decline of harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*), on Sable Island. *Journal of Zoology* **261:** 155-163.
- Bowyer, J. C., Newell, G. R. and Eldridge, M. D. B. (2002). Genetic effects of habitat contraction on Lumholtz's tree-kangaroo (*Dendrolagus lumholtzi*) in the Australian Wet Tropics. *Conservation Genetics* **3:** 61-69.
- Brooke, A. P. (1997). Social organisation and foraging behaviour of the fishing bat, *Noctilio leporinus* (Chiroptera: Noctilionidae). *Ethology* **103**: 421-436.
- Brown, W. M., George, M. J. and Wilson, A. C. (1979). Rapid evolution of animal mitochondrial DNA. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA* **76:** 1967-1971.
- Brunet-Rossinni, A. K. and Austad, S. N. (2004). Aging studies on bats: a review. *Biogerontology* **5:** 211-222.
- Bull, C. H. (1993). Colony structure, population estimates and roost fidelity of selected colonies of spectacled flying fox (Chiroptera: *Pteropus conspicillatus*) on the Atherton Tablelands, Queensland, Australia. Yungaburra, Queensland, Centre for Rainforest Studies.
- Burland, T. M., Barratt, E. M., Nicols, R. A. and Racey, P. A. (2001). Mating patterns, relatedness and the basis of natal philopatry in the brown long-eared bat, *Plecotus auritus*. *Molecular Ecology* **10**: 1309-1321.
- Burland, T. M. and Worthington-Wilmer, J. (2001). Seeing in the dark: molecular approaches to the study of bat populations. *Biological Reviews* **76:** 389-409.
- Butlin, R. K. and Tregenza, T. (1998). Levels of genetic polymorphism: marker loci versus quantitative traits. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B* **353:** 187-198.
- Byrne, P. G. and Roberts, J. D. (2004). Intrasexual selection and group spawning in quacking frogs (*Crinia georgiana*). *Behavioral Ecology* **15**: 872-882.
- Cailliet, G. M. (1992). Demography of the Central California population of the leopard shark (*Triakis semifasciata*). *Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* **43**: 183-193.
- Campagna, C., Bisioli, C., Quintana, F., Perez, F. and Vila, A. (1992). Group breeding sea lions: pups survive better in colonies. *Animal Behaviour* **43**: 541-548.

- Campbell, P., Schneider, C. J., Adnan, A. M., Zubaid, A. and Kunz, T. H. (2004). Phylogeny and phylogeography of Old World fruit bats in the *Cynopterus brachyotis* complex. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **33**: 764-781.
- Carstens, B. C., Sullivan, J., Davalos, L. M., Larsen, P. A. and Pedersen, S. C. (2004). Exploring population genetic structure in three species of Lesser Antillean bats. *Molecular Ecology* **13**: 2557-2566.
- Castella, V., Ruedi, M. and Excoffier, L. (2001). Contrasted patterns of mitochondrial and nuclear structure among nursery colonies of the bat *Myotis myotis. Journal of Evolutionary Biology* **14**: 708-720.
- Caughley, G. (1977). *Analysis of vertebrate populations*. Chichester, John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Caughley, G. and Gunn, A. (1996). *Conservation Biology in theory and practice*. Cambridge, Massachusetts, Blackwell Science, Inc.
- Chan, Y. and Arcese, P. (2003). Morphological and microsatellite differentiation in *Melospiza melodia* (Aves) at a microgeographic scale. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* **16**: 939-947.
- Churchill, S. (1998). Australian Bats. Sydney, NSW, Reed New Holland.
- Cobb, B. D. and Clarkson, J. M. (1994). A simple procedure for optimising the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using modified Taguchi methods. *Nucleic Acids Research* **22:** 3801-3805.
- Cockerham, C. C. and Weir, B. S. (1993). Estimation of Gene Flow from F-Statistics. *Evolution* **47**: 855-863.
- Colgan, D. J. and da Costa, P. (2002). Megachiropteran evolution studied with 12S rDNA and c-mos DNA sequences. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution* **9**: 3-22.
- Colgan, D. J. and Flannery, T. F. (1995). A Phylogeny of Indo-West Pacific Megachiroptera Based on Ribosomal DNA. *Systematic Biology* **44**: 209-220.
- Colls, K. and Whitaker, R. (2001). *The Australian Weather Book*. Sydney, Australia, Reed New Holland.
- Coltman, D. W., Pilkington, J. G. and Pemberton, J. M. (2003). Fine-scale genetic structure in a free-living ungulate population. *Molecular Ecology* **12**: 733-742.

- Conroy, C. J. and Cook, J. A. (2000). Phylogeography of a post-glacial colonizer: *Microtus longicaudus* (Rodentia : Muridae). *Molecular Ecology* **9:** 165-175.
- Cool, S. M., Bennett, M. B. and Romaniuk, K. (1994). Age estimation of pteropodid bats (Megachiroptera) from hard tissue parameters. *Wildlife Research* **21:** 353-364.
- Cornuet, M. M. and Luikart, G. (1996). Description and power analysis of two tests for detecting recent population bottlenecks from allele frequency data. *Genetics* **144**: 2001-2014.
- Courchamp, F., Rasmussen, G. S. A. and Macdonald, D. W. (2002). Small pack size imposes a trade-off between hunting and pup-guarding in the painted hunting dog *Lycaon pictus*. *Behavioral Ecology* **13**: 20-27.
- Danchin, E. and Wagner, R. H. (1997). The evolution of coloniality: the emergence of new perspectives. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **12**: 342-347.
- Daniel, M. J. (1975). First record of an Australian fruit bat (Megachiroptera: Pteropodidae) reaching New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Zoology* **2**.
- Dannewitz, J., Maes, G. E., Johansson, L., Wickstrom, H., Volckaert, F. A. M. and Jarvi, T. (2005). Panmixia in the European eel: a matter of time. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* **272:** 1129-1137.
- de Fraipont, M., Fitzgerald, G. J. and Guderley, H. (1993). Age-related difference in reproductive tactics in the three-spined stickleback *Gasterosteus aculeatus. Animal Behaviour* **46:** 961-968.
- de Volo, S. B., Reynolds, R. T., Topinka, J. R., May, B. and Antolin, M. F. (2005). Population genetics and genotyping for mark-recapture studies of Northern Goshawks (*Accipiter gentilis*) on the Kaibab Plateau, Arizona. *Journal of Raptor Research* **39:** 286-295.
- Demboski, J. R. and Cook, J. A. (2001). Phylogeography of the dusky shrew, *Sorex monticolus* (Insectivora, Soricidae): insight into deep and shallow history in northwestern North America. *Molecular Ecology* **10**: 1227-1240.
- Diamond, J. M. (1989). The present, past and future of human-caused extinctions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London - Series B: Biological Sciences* **325:** 469-477.
- Divljan, A., Parry-Jones, K. and Wardle, G. M. (In press). Age determination in the grey-headed flying-fox. *Journal of Wildlife Management*.
- Doerr, E. D. (2005). Characterisation of microsatellite loci in the brown treecreeper (*Climacteris picumnus*) and cross-species amplification in the

white-throated treecreeper (*Cormobates leucophaeus*). *Molecular Ecology Notes* **5:** 654-656.

- Donnelly, M. J. and Townson, H. (2000). Evidence for extensive genetic differentiation among populations of the malaria vector Anopheles arabiensis in Eastern Africa. *Insect Molecular Biology* **9:** 357-367.
- Duncan, A., Baker, G. B. and Montgomery, N., Eds. (1999). *The Action Plan for Australian Bats*. Canberra, Environment Australia.
- Dunn, P. O., Afton, A. D., Gloutney, M. L. and Alisauskas, R. T. (1999). Forced copulation results in few extrapair fertilizations in Ross's and lesser snow geese. *Animal Behaviour* 57: 1071-1081.
- Durand, J. D., Collet, A., Chow, S., Guinand, B. and Borsa, P. (2005). Nuclear and mitochondrial DNA markers indicate unidirectional gene flow of Indo-Pacific to Atlantic bigeye tuna (*Thunnus obesus*) populations, and their admixture off southern Africa. *Marine Biology* **147**: 313-322.
- Eby, P. (1991). Seasonal movements of grey-headed flying foxes, *Pteropus poliocephalus* (Chiroptera: Pteropodidae), from two maternity camps in northern New South Wales. *Wildlife Research* **18:** 547-559.
- Eby, P. (1999). Low reproductive output in grey-headed flying foxes associated with a short period of food scarcity. *Australasian Bat Society Newsletter* **14**: 17-20.
- Eby, P., Richards, G., Collins, L. and Parry-Jones, K. (1999). The distribution, abundance and vulnerability to population reduction of a nomadic nectarivore, the Grey-headed flying-fox *Pteropus poliocephalus* in New South Wales, during a period of resource concentration. *Australian Zoologist* **31**: 240-253.
- Eggert, C. (1994). *Is tick paralysis in the spectacled flying fox, Pteropus conspicillatus, related to a change in the foraging behaviour of P. conspicillatus?* Honours Thesis. Southern Cross University.
- Eldridge, M. D. B., King, J. M., Loupis, A. K., Spencer, P. B. S., Taylor, A. C., Pope, L. C. and Hall, G. P. (1999). Unprecedented low levels of genetic variation and inbreeding depression in an island population of the blackfooted rock-wallaby. *Conservation Biology* 13: 531-541.
- Emlen, S. T. and Oring, L. W. (1977). Ecology, sexual selection and the evolution of mating systems. *Science* **197**: 215-223.
- England, P. R., Osler, G. H. R., Woodworth, L. M., Montgomery, M. E., Briscoe, D. A. and Frankham, R. (2003). Effects of intense versus diffuse population bottlenecks on microsatellite genetic diversity and evolutionary potential. *Conservation Genetics* 4: 595-604.

- Entwhistle, A. C., Racey, P. A. and Speakman, J. R. (2000). Social and population structure of a gleaning bat, *Plecotus auritus*. *Journal of Zoology* **252:** 11-17.
- Estoup, A. and Cornuet, J. M. (1999). Microsatellite evolution: inferences from population data. In: Goldstein, D. B. and Schlotterer, C. (eds). Microsatellites: evolution and applications. Oxford, Oxford University Press: 352 pp.
- Estoup, A., Jarne, P. and Cornuet, J. M. (2002). Homoplasy and mutation model at microsatellite loci and their consequences for population genetics analysis. *Molecular Ecology* **11**: 1591-1604.
- Excoffier, L., Laval, G. and Schneider, S. (2005). Arlequin ver. 3.0: An integrated software package for population genetics data analysis. *Evolutionary Bioinformatics Online* (Submitted).
- Fabiani, A., Galimberti, F., Sanvito, S. and Hoelzel, A. R. (2004). Extreme polygyny among southern elephant seals on Sea Lion Island, Falkland Islands. *Behavioral Ecology* **15:** 961-969.
- Feldheim, K. A., Gruber, S. H. and Ashley, M. V. (2001). Population genetic structure of the lemon shark (*Negaprion brevirostris*) in the western Atlantic: DNA microsatellite variation. *Molecular Ecology* **10**: 295-303.
- Flannery, T. F. (1995a). Mammals of New Guinea. Chatswood, NSW, Reed Books.
- Flannery, T. F. (1995b). *Mammals of the South-West Pacific & Moluccan Islands*. Chatswood, NSW, Reed Books.
- Frankham, R., Ballou, J. D. and Briscoe, D. A. (2002). *Introduction to Conservation Genetics*. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- Freeman, A. (2004). Monitoring report on the annual spectacled flying fox census 2003. Atherton, Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service: 9.
- Fu, Y. X. (1997). Statistical tests of neutrality of mutations against population growth, hitchhiking and background selection. *Genetics* **147**: 915-925.
- Fu, Y. X. and Li, W. H. (1993). Statistical tests of neutrality of mutations. *Genetics* **133:** 693-709.
- Funk, D. J. and Omland, K. E. (2003). Species-level paraphyly and polyphyly: Frequency, causes, and consequences, with insights from animal mitochondrial DNA. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics* 34: 397-423.

- Gan, Y., Engelke, K. J., Brown, C. A. and Au, J. L. S. (2001). Telomere length and amount assay. *Pharmaceutical Research* **18**: 1655-1659.
- Garner, T. W. J. and Schmidt, B. R. (2003). Relatedness, body size and paternity in the alpine newt, *Triturus alpestris*. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* **270**: 619-624.
- Garnett, S., Whybird, O. and Spencer, H. (1999). The conservation status of the spectacled flying fox *Pteropus conspicillatus* in Australia. *Australian Zoologist* **31:** 38-54.
- Garoia, F., Guarniero, I., Ramsak, A., Ungaro, N., Landi, M., Piccinetti, C., Mannini, P. and Tinti, F. (2004). Microsatellite DNA variation reveals high gene flow and panmictic populations in the Adriatic shared stocks of the European squid and cuttlefish (Cephalopoda). *Heredity* **93:** 166-174.
- Gautschi, B., Muller, J. P., Schmid, B. and Shykoff, J. A. (2003). Effective number of breeders and maintenance of genetic diversity in the captive bearded vulture population. *Heredity* **91:** 9-16.
- Gerlach, G., Schardt, U., Eckmann, R. and Meyer, A. (2001). Kin-structured subpopulations in Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis L.*). *Heredity* **86:** 213-221.
- Giannini, N. P. and Simmons, N. B. (2003). A phylogeny of megachiropteran bats (Mammalia: Chiroptera: Pteropodidae) based on direct optimization analysis of one nucelar and four mitochondrial genes. *Cladistics* **19**: 496-511.
- Giannini, N. P. and Simmons, N. B. (2005). Conflict and congruence in a combined DNA-morphology analysis of megachiropteran bat relationships (Mammalia : Chiroptera : Pteropodidae). *Cladistics* **21:** 411-437.
- Gilchrist, J. S., Otali, E. and Mwanguhya, F. (2004). Why breed communally? Factors affecting fecundity in a communal breeding mammal: the banded mongoose (*Mungos mungo*). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **57**: 119-131.
- Girman, D. J., Vila, C., Geffen, E., Creel, S., Mills, M. G. L., McNutt, J. W., Ginsberg, J., Kat, P. W., Mamiya, K. H. and Wayne, R. K. (2001). Patterns of population subdivision, gene flow, and genetic variability in the African wild dog (*Lycaon pictus*). *Molecular Ecology* **10**: 1703-1723.
- Glen, T. C., Cary, T., Dust, M., Hauswaldt, S., Prince, K., Ramsdell, C. and Shute, I. (2000). *Microsatellite isolation 2000*. (eds). *Biology 656 Summer Class Manual*. Columbia, USA, University of South Carolina: 1-28 pp.

- Goldstein, D. B. and Schlotterer, C., Eds. (1999). *Microsatellites: Evolution and Applications*. New York, Oxford University Press.
- Goodnight, K. F. and Queller, D. C. (1999). Computer software for performing likelihood tests of pedigree relationship using genetic markers. *Molecular Ecology* **8:** 1231-1234.
- Goossens, B., Funk, S. M., Vidal, C., Latour, S., Jamart, A., Ancrenaz, M., Wickings, E. J., Tutin, C. E. G. and Bruford, M. W. (2002). Measuring genetic diversity in translocation programs: principles and applications to a chimpanzee release project. *Animal Conservation* **5**: 225-236.
- Goudet, J. (1995). FSTAT (vers 1.2): a computer program to calculate F-statistics. *Journal of Heredity* **86:** 485-486.
- Groombridge, B., Ed. (1992). *Global Biodiversity: status of the Earth's living resources*. London, Chapman & Hill.
- Haig, S. M., Mullins, T. D., Forsman, E. D., Trail, P. W. and Wennerberg, L. (2004). Genetic identification of Spotted Owls, Barred Owls, and their hybrids: Legal implications of hybrid identity. *Conservation Biology* 18: 1347-1357.
- Hall, L. (1984). *And then there were bats*. In: Archer, M. and Clayton, G. (eds). *Vertebrate zoogeography and evolution in Australasia*. Marrickville, NSW, Hesperian Press: 1203 pp.
- Hall, L. and Richards, G. (2000). *Flying Foxes: fruit and blossom bats of Australia*. Sydney, UNSW Press.
- Hall, L. S. (1981). *The biogeography of Australian Bats*. In: Keast, A. (eds). *Ecological Biogeography of Australia*. Boston, Dr. W. Junk. **Three:** 1557-1580 pp.
- Hamilton, M. B., Pincus, E. L., Di Fiore, A. and Fleischer, R. C. (1999). Universal linker and ligation procedures for construction of genomic DNA libraries enriched for microsatellites. *BioTechniques* **27**: 500-507.
- Hancock, J. M. (1999). *Microsatellites and other simple sequences: genomic context and mutational mechanisms*. In: Goldstein, D. B. and Schlotterer, C. (eds). *Microsatellites: Evolution and Applications*. Oxford, Oxford University Press pp.
- Hand, S. (1984). Bat beginnings and biogeography: a southern perspective. In: Archer, M. and Clayton, G. (eds). Vertebrate zoogeography and evolution in Australasia. Marrickville, NSW, Hesperian Press: 1203 pp.
- Hand, S. (1994). First Eocene bat from Australia. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology* **14:** 375-381.

- Hand, S. (1999). Australian fossil bat diversity and evolution. *Australian Mammalogy* **21:** 29-32.
- Hansson, B. and Westerberg, L. (2002). On the correlation between heterozygosity and fitness in natural populations. *Molecular Ecology* **11**: 2467-2474.
- Harlin, A. D., Markowitz, T., Baker, C. S., Wursig, B. and Honeycutt, R. L. (2003). Genetic structure, diversity, and historical demography of New Zealand's dusky dolphin (*Lagenorhynchus obscurus*). *Journal of Mammalogy* 84: 702-717.
- Harpending, H. C. (1994). Signature of ancient population-growth in a lowresolution mitochondrial-DNA mismatch distribution. *Human Biology* **66**: 591-600.
- Harrison, R. G. (1993). Hybrids and hybrid zones: historical perspective. In: Harrison, R. G. (eds). Hybrid zones and the evolutionary process. New York, Oxford University Press: 364 pp.
- Harvey, P. H., Read, A. F. and Promislow, D. E. L. (1989). *Life history variation in placental mammals:unifying the data with theory*. (eds): 13-31 pp.
- Harvey, P. H. and Zammuto, R. M. (1985). Patterns of mortality and age at first reproduction in natural populations of mammals. *Nature* **315**: 319-320.
- Haussmann, M. F. and Vleck, C. M. (2002). Telomere length provides a new technique for aging animals. *Oecologia* **130**: 325-328.
- Hayden, S. (1992). Population estimates and sex ratios of a spectacled flying fox (*Pteropus conspicillatus*) camp on the Atherton Tableland of North Queensland, Australia. Yungaburra, Center for Rainforest Studies: 16.
- Heads, M. (2001). Birds of paradise, biogeography and ecology in New Guinea: a review. *Journal of Biogeography* **28**: 893-925.
- Heckel, G. and Von Helversen, O. (2003). Genetic mating system and the significance of harem associations in the bat *Saccopteryx bilineata*. *Molecular Ecology* **12**: 219-227.
- Hedges, S. B., Parker, P. H., Sibley, C. G. and Kumar, S. (1996). Continental breakup and the ordinal diversification of birds and mammals. *Nature* **381**: 226-229.
- Hedrick, P. W. (2000). *Genetics of populations*. Sudbury, Massachusetts, Jones and Bartlett Publishers.

- Heinsohn, R. and Packer, C. (1995). Complex cooperative strategies in groupterritorial African lions. *Science* **269**: 1260-1263.
- Helbig, A. J., Seibold, I., Kocum, A., Liebers, D., Irwin, J., Bergmanis, U., Meyburg, B. U., Scheller, W., Stubbe, M. and Bensch, S. (2005). Genetic differentiation and hybridization between greater and lesser spotted eagles (Accipitriformes : *Aquila clanga, A-pomarina*). *Journal of Ornithology* 146: 226-234.
- Helgen, K. M. (2004). On the identity of flying-foxes, genus *Pteropus* (Mammalia: Chiroptera), from islands in the Torres Strait, Australia. *Zootaxa* **780:** 1-14.
- Heppell, S. S., Caswell, H. and Crowder, L. B. (2000). Life histories and elasticity patterns: perturbation analysis for species with minimal demographic data. *Ecology* **81**: 654-665.
- Hill, J. E. and Smith, J. D. (1984). *Bats: a natural history*. Adelaide, Rigby Publishers.
- Hilton-Taylor, C. (2000). 2000 IUCN red list of threatened species. Gland, Switzerland, IUCN.
- Hoelzel, A. R., Halley, J., O'Brien, S. J., Campagna, C., Arnbom, T., Leboeuf, B., Ralls, K. and Dover, G. A. (1993). Elephant seal genetic variation and the use of simulation - models to investigate historical population bottlenecks. *Journal of Heredity* 84: 443-449.
- Hopkins, M. S., Ash, J., Graham, A. W., Head, J. W. and Hewett, R. K. (1993). Charcoal evidence of the spatial extent of Eucalyptus woodland expansions and rainforest contractions in north Queensland during the late Pleistocene. *Journal of Biogeography* **20:** 357-372.
- Hutcheon, J. M., Kirsch, J. A. W. and Pettigrew, J. D. (1998). Base-compositional biases and the bat problem. III. The question of microchiropteran monophyly. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* **353**: 607-617.
- Jedrzejewksi, W., Branicki, W., Veit, C., Medugorac, I., Pilot, M., Bunevich, A. N., Jedrzejewska, B., Schmidt, K., Theuerkauf, J., Oyarma, H., Gula, R., Szymura, L. and Forster, M. (2005). Genetic diversity and relatedness within packs in an intensely hunted population of wolves *Canis lupus*. *Acta Theriologica* **50**: 3-22.
- Johnson, D. (2004). *The Geology of Australia*. Cambridge, UK, Cambridge University Press.

- Jones, K. E. and MacLarnon, A. (2001). Bat life histories: Testing models of mammalian life-history evolution. *Evolutionary Ecology Research* **3:** 465-476.
- Jones, K. E., Purvis, A. and Gittleman, J. L. (2003). Biological correlates of extinction risk in bats. *American Naturalist* **161**: 601-614.
- Jones, K. E., Purvis, A., MacLarnon, A., Bininda-Emonds, O. R. P. and Simmons, N. B. (2002). A phylogenetic supertree of the bats (Mammalia : Chiroptera). *Biological Reviews* 77: 223-259.
- Jonsson, A. and Ebenman, B. (2001). Are certain life histories particularly prone to local extinction. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **209:** 455-463.
- Juste, J., Ibanez, C. and Machordom, A. (2000). Morphological and allozyme variation of *Eidolon helvum* (Mammalia: Megachiroptera) in the islands of the Gulf of Guinea. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **71**: 359-378.
- Keeney, D. B., Heupel, M. R., Hueter, R. E. and Heist, E. J. (2005). Microsatellite and mitochondrial DNA analyses of the genetic structure of blacktip shark (*Carcharhinus limbatus*) nurseries in the northwestern Atlantic, Gulf of Mexico, and Caribbean Sea. *Molecular Ecology* **14**: 1911-1923.
- Kershaw, A. P. (1994). Pleistocene vegetation of the humid tropics of northeastern Queensland, Australia. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* **109**: 107-114.
- Kerth, G., Mayer, F. and Konig, B. (2000). Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) reveals that female Bechstein's bats live in closed societies. *Molecular Ecology* **9**: 793-800.
- Kerth, G., Mayer, F. and Petit, E. (2002a). Extreme sex-biased dispersal in the communally breeding, non-migratory Bechstein's bat (*Myotis bechsteinii*). *Molecular Ecology* **11**: 1491-1498.
- Kerth, G., Safi, K. and Konig, B. (2002b). Mean colony relatedness is a poor predictor of colony structure and female philopatry in the communally breeding Bechstein's bat (*Myotis bechsteinii*). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **52:** 203-210.
- Kirsch, J. A. W., Flannery, T. F., Springer, M. S. and Lapointe, F. J. (1995). Phylogeny of the Pteropodidae (Mammalia, Chiroptera) based on DNA hybridization, with evidence for bat monophyly. *Australian Journal of Zoology* 43: 395-428.
- Klevezal, G. A. and Kleinenberg, S. E. (1969). *Age determination of mammals from annual layers in teeth and bones*. Translated from Russian, Israel Program for Scientific Translations Jerusalem.

- Koopman, K. F. (1993). Order Chiroptera. In: Wilson, D. E. and Reeder, D. M. (eds). Mammal species of the world: a taxonomic and geographic reference. Washington, D.C., Smithsonian Institution: 137-241 pp.
- Krebs, C. J. (2001). *Ecology*. San Francisco, Benjamin Cummings.
- Kumar, S., Tamura, K. and Nei, M. (2004). MEGA3: integrated software for molecular evolutionary genetics analysis and sequence alignment. *Briefings in Bioinformatics* **5**: 150-163.
- Kupper, C., Kis, J., Kosztolanyi, A., Szekely, T., Cuthill, I. C. and Blomqvist, D. (2004). Genetic mating system and timing of extra-pair fertilizations in the Kentish plover. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 57: 32-39.
- Kurta, A. and Kunz, T. H. (1987). Size of bats at birth and maternal investment during pregnancy. *Symp. zool. soc. lond.* **57:** 79-106.
- Lack, D. (1968). *Ecological adaptations for breeding in birds*. London, Chapman & Hall.
- Leijs, R., van Apeldoorn, R. C. and Bijlsma, R. (1999). Low genetic differentiation in north-west European populations of the locally endangered root vole, *Microtus oeconomus*. *Biological Conservation* 87: 39-48.
- Lieberman, D. E. (1993). Life history variables preserved in dental cementum microstructure. *Science* **261:** 1162-1164.
- Lincoln, R., Boxshall, G. and Clark, P. (1998). *A Dictionary of ecology, evolution and systematics*. Cambridge, U.K., Cambridge University Press.
- Lopez-Castro, M. C. and Rocha-Olivares, A. (2005). The panmixia paradigm of eastern Pacific olive ridley turtles revised: consequences for their conservation and evolutionary biology. *Molecular Ecology* **14**: 3325-3334.
- Low, M. (2005). Female resistance and male force: context and patterns of copulation in the New Zealand stitchbird *Notiomystis cincta*. *Journal of Avian Biology* **36:** 436-448.
- Lowe, A., Harris, S. and Ashton, P. (2005). *Ecological genetics: design, analysis and application*. Oxford, Blackwell Publishing.
- Lucchini, V., Galov, A. and Randi, E. (2004). Evidence of genetic distinction and long-term population decline in wolves (*Canis lupus*) in the Italian Apennines. *Molecular Ecology* **13:** 523-536.

- Luikart, G. and Cornuet, J. M. (1998). Empirical evaluation of a test for identifying recently bottlenecked populations from allele frequency data. *Conservation Biology* **12**: 228-237.
- Lukas, D., Reynolds, V., Boesch, C. and Vigilant, L. (2005). To what extent does living in a group mean living with kin? *Molecular Ecology* **14**: 2181-2196.
- Lyrholm, T., Leimar, O., Johanneson, B. and Gyllensten, U. (1999). Sex-biased dispersal in sperm whales: contrasting mitochondrial and nuclear genetic structure of global populations. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* **266**: 347-354.
- Mace, G. M. and Balmford, A. (2000). *Patterns and processes in contemporary mammalian extinction*. In: Entwistle, A. and Dunstone, N. (eds). *Priorities for the Conservation of Mammalian Diversity*. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press: 27-52 pp.
- Maddison, W. (1997). Gene tree in species trees. *Systematic Biology* **46**: 523-536.
- Majerus, M. E. N. (1998). *Melanism: evolution in action*. Oxford, UK, Oxford University Press.
- Manel, S., Bellemain, E., Swenson, J. E. and Francois, O. (2004). Assumed and inferred spatial structure of populations: the Scandinavian brown bears revisited. *Molecular Ecology* **13**: 1327-1331.
- Markus, N. (2002). Behaviour of the black flying fox *Pteropus alecto:* 2. Territoriality and courtship. *Acta Chiropterologica* **4:** 153-166.
- Martin, L., Kennedy, J. H., Little, L., Luckoff, H., O'Brien, G. M., Pow, C. S. T., Towers, P. A., Waldon, A. K. and Wang, D. Y. (1995). The reproductive biology of Australian flying foxes (genus *Pteropus*). *Symposium of the Zoological Society of London* 67: 167-184.
- Masta, S. E., Laurent, N. M. and Routman, E. J. (2003). Population genetic structure of the toad *Bufo woodhousii:* an empirical assessment of haplotype extinction on nested cladistic analysis. *Molecular Ecology* **12**: 1541-1554.
- McCracken, G. F. and Wilkinson, G. S. (1988). *Allozyme techniques and kinship assessment in bats*. In: Kunz, T. H. (eds). *Ecological and behavioral methods for the study of bats*. Washington D.C., Smithsonian Institution Press: 141-154 pp.
- McCracken, G. F. and Wilkinson, G. S. (2000). *Bat mating systems*. In: Crichton, E. G. and Krutzsch, P. H. (eds). *Reproductive Biology of Bats*. London, Academic Press: 321-362 pp.

- McIllwee, A. P. and Martin, L. (2002). On the intrinsic capacity for increase of Australian flying-foxes (*Pteropus* spp., Megachiroptera). *Australian Zoologist* **32**: 76-100.
- McKean, J. L. (1970). Geographical relationships of New Guinean Bats (Chiroptera). *Search* 1: 244-245.
- McNeely, J. A., Miller, K. R., Reid, W. V., Mittermeier, R. A. and Werner, T. B. (1990). Conserving the World's Biological Diversity. Washington, DC., IUCN, World Resources Institute, Conservation International, WWF-US and the World Bank.
- Michalakis, Y. and Excoffier, L. (1996). A generic estimation of population subdivision using distances between alleles with special reference for microsatellite loci. *Genetics* **142**: 1061-1064.
- Mila, B., Girman, D. J., Kimura, M. and Smith, T. B. (2000). Genetic evidence for the effect of a postglacial population expansion on the phylogeography of a North American songbird. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* 267: 1033-1040.
- Miller, M. P., Bellinger, M. R., Forsman, E. D. and Haig, S. M. (2006). Effects of historical climate change, habitat connectivity, and vicariance on genetic structure and diversity across the range of the red tree vole (*Phenacomys longicaudus*) in the Pacific Northwestern United States. *Molecular Ecology* 15: 145-159.
- Miller, P. S. and Hedrick, P. W. (2001). Purging of inbreeding depression and fitness decline in bottlenecked populations of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* **14:** 595-601.
- Miller-Butterworth, C. M., Jacobs, D. S. and Harley, E. H. (2003). Strong population substructure is correlated with morphology and ecology in a migratory bat. *Nature* **424**: 187-191.
- Miyamoto, M. M., Porter, C. A. and Goodman, M. (2000). c-Myc gene sequences and the phylogeny of bats and other eutherian mammals. *Systematic Biology* **49:** 501-514.
- Mock, K. E., Latch, E. K. and Rhodes, O. E. (2004). Assessing losses of genetic diversity due to translocation: long-term case histories in Merriams turkey (*Meleagris gallopavo merriami*). *Conservation Genetics* **5** (5): 631-645.
- Mockford, S. W., McEachern, L., Herman, T. B., Synder, M. and Wright, J. M. (2005). Population genetic structure of a disjunct population of Blanding's turtle (*Emydoidea blandingii*) in Nova Scotia, Canada. *Biological Conservation* **123**: 373-380.

- Morando, M., Avila, L. J., Baker, J. and Sites, J. W. (2004). Phylogeny and phylogeography of the *Liolaemus darwinii* complex (Squamata : Liolaemidae): Evidence for introgression and incomplete lineage sorting. *Evolution* **58**: 842-861.
- Moritz, C., Dowling, T. E. and Brown, W. M. (1987). Evolution of animal mitochondrial-DNA relevance for population biology and systematics. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* **18:** 269-292.
- Moritz, C., Joseph, L., Cunningham, M. and Schneider, C. J. (1997). Molecular perspectives on historical fragmentation of Australian tropical and subtropical rainforests: implications for conservation. In: Laurance, W. F. and Bierregaard, R. O. J. (eds). Tropical forest remnants: ecology, management and conservation in fragmented communities. Chicago, University of Chicago Press: 442-454 pp.
- Morton, E. S., Stutchbury, B. J. and Piper, W. H. (2004). Cooperative breeding in the tropical Mockingbird (*Mimus gilvus*) in the Panama Canal Zone. *Ornitologia Neotropical* **15:** 417-421.
- Moss, C. J. (2001). The demography of an African elephant (*Loxodonta africana*) population in Amboseli, Kenya. *Journal of Zoology* **255:** 145-156.
- Nei, M. (1972). Genetic distance between populations. *American Naturalist* **106**: 283-292.
- Neigel, J. E. (2002). Is Fst obsolete? Conservation Genetics 3: 167-173.
- Nelson, J. E. (1965a). Movements of Australian flying foxes (Pteropodidae: Megachiroptera). *Australian Journal of Zoology* **13:** 53-73.
- Nelson, J. E. (1965b). Behaviour of Australian Pteropodidae (Megachiroptera). *Animal Behaviour* **13:** 544-547.
- Nguyen, T. T., Meewan, M., Ryan, S. and Austin, C. M. (2002). Genetic diversity and translocation in the marron, *Cherax tenuimanus* (Smith): implications for management and conservation. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **9** (3): 163-173.
- Nikaido, M., Harada, M., Cao, Y., Hasegawa, M. and Okada, N. (2000). Monophyletic origin of the order Chiroptera and its phylogenetic position among mammalia, as inferred from the complete sequences of the mitochondrial DNA of a Japanese megabat, the Ryukyu flying fox (*Pteropus dasymallus*). *Journal of Molecular Evolution* **51:** 318-328.
- Nikitina, T. V. and Nazarenko, S. A. (2004). Human microsatellites: Mutation and evolution. *Russian Journal of Genetics* **40**: 1065-1079.

- Nunny, L. and Elan, D. R. (1994). Estimating the effective population size of conserved populations. *Conservation Biology* **8:** 175-184.
- Oli, M. K. (2004). The fast-slow continuum and mammalian life-history patterns: an empirical evaluation. *Basic and Applied Ecology* **5:** 449-463.
- Ortega, J., Maldonado, J. E., Wilkinson, G. S., Arita, H. T. and Fleischer, R. C. (2003). Male dominance, paternity, and relatedness in the Jamaican fruiteating bat (*Artibeus jamaicensis*). *Molecular Ecology* **12**: 2409-2415.
- Parry-Jones, K. and Augee, M. L. (1992). Movements of grey-headed flying foxes (*Pteropus poliocephalus*) to and from a colony site on the central coast of New South Wales. *Wildlife Research* **19**: 331-340.
- Parry-Jones, K. A. and Augee, M. L. (2001). Factors affecting the occupation of a colony site in Sydney, New South Wales by the Grey-headed flying-fox *Pteropus poliocephalus* (Pteropodidae). *Austral Ecology* 26: 47-55.
- Parsons, J. (2005). *Spatial and temporal patterns of resource use by spectacled flying foxes (Pteropus conspicillatus)*. Honours Thesis. James Cook University.
- Peakall, R. and Smouse, P. E. (2005). GenAlEx v6: Genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research. Canberra, Australia, The Australian National University: Genetic analysis software.
- Pearse, D. E. and Crandall, K. A. (2004). Beyond F-ST: Analysis of population genetic data for conservation. *Conservation Genetics* **5**: 585-602.
- Perez-Losada, M., Guerra, A., Carvalho, G. R., Sanjuan, A. and Shaw, P. W. (2002). Extensive population subdivision of the cuttlefish *Sepia officinalis* (Mollusca : Cephalopoda) around the Iberian Peninsula indicated by microsatellite DNA variation. *Heredity* 89: 417-424.
- Perez-Staples, D. and Drummond, H. (2005). Tactics, effectiveness and avoidance of mate guarding in the blue-footed booby (*Sula nebouxii*). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **59**: 115-123.
- Petit, E. and Mayer, F. (1999). Male dispersal in the noctule bat (*Nyctalus noctula*): where are the limits? *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B* **266**: 1717-1722.
- Petren, K., Grant, P. R., Grant, B. R. and Keller, L. F. (2005). Comparative landscape genetics and the adaptive radiation of Darwin's finches: the role of peripheral isolation. *Molecular Ecology* **14**: 2943-2957.
- Petri, B., Paabo, S., VonHaeseler, A. and Tautz, D. (1997). Paternity assessment and population subdivision in a natural population of the larger mouseeared bat *Myotis myotis*. *Molecular Ecology* **6**: 235-242.

- Pettigrew, J. D. (1987). Are flying-foxes (Chiroptera: Pteropodidae) really primates? *Australian Mammalogy* **10:** 119-124.
- Pettigrew, J. D. (1995). Flying primates: crashed, or crashed through? *Symposium of the Zoological Society of London* **67:** 3-26.
- Pettigrew, J. D., Jamieson, B. G. M., Robson, S. K., Hall, L., McAnally, K. I. and Cooper, H. M. (1989). Phylogenetic relations between microbats, megabats and primates (Mammalia: Chiroptera and primates). *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* **325**: 489-559.
- Pettigrew, J. D. and Kirsch, A. W. (1995). Flying primates revisited: DNA hybridization with fractionated, GC-enriched DNA. *South African Journal of Science* **91:** 477-482.
- Pierson, E. D. and Rainey, W. E. (1992). *The Biology of flying-foxes of the genus Pteropus: A review*. Pacific Island flying-foxes: Proceedings of an International Conservation Conference, Hawaii, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.
- Pigram, C. J. and Davies, H. L. (1987). Terranes and the accretion history of the New Guinea orogen. *BMR Journal of Australian Geology and Geophysics* **10**: 193-211.
- Piry, S., Luikart, G. and Cornuet, J. M. (1999). BOTTLENECK: A computer program for detecting recent reductions in the effective population size using allele frequency data. *Journal of Heredity* **90**: 502-503.
- Posada, D. and Crandall, K. A. (1998). MODELTEST: testing the model of DNA substitution. *Bioinformatics* 14: 817-818.
- Pritchard, J. K., Stephens, M. and Donnelly, P. (2000). Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. *Genetics* **155**: 945-959.
- Promislow, D. E. L. and Harvey, P. H. (1990). Living fast and dying young: a comparative analysis of life-history variation among mammals. *Journal of Zoology, London* **220:** 417-437.
- Prugnolle, F. and de Meeus, T. (2002). Inferring sex-biased dispersal from population genetic tools: a review. *Heredity* **88:** 161-165.
- Purvis, A., Gittleman, J. L., Cowlishaw, G. and Mace, G. M. (2000a). Predicting extinction risk in declining species. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* **267**: 1947-1952.
- Purvis, A., Jones, K. E. and Mace, G. M. (2000b). Extinction. *BioEssays* 22: 1123-1133.

- Pusey, A. E. (1987). Sex-biased dispersal and inbreeding avoidance in birds and mammals. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **2**: 295-299.
- Queller, D. C. and Goodnight, K. F. (1989). Estimating relatedness using genetic markers. *Evolution* **43**: 258-275.
- Queller, D. C., Strassmann, J. E. and Hughes, C. R. (1993). Microsatellites and kinship. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 8: 285-288.
- Racey, P. A. and Entwhistle, A. C. (2000). Life-history and reproductive strategies of bats. In: Crichton, E. G. and Krutzsch, P. H. (eds). Reproductive Biology of Bats. London, Academic Press: 363-414 pp.
- Radespiel, L., Lutermann, H., Schmelting, B., Bruford, M. W. and Zimmermann, E. (2003). Patterns and dynamics of sex-biased dispersal in a nocturnal primate, the grey mouse lemur, *Microcebus murinus*. *Animal Behaviour* 65: 709-719.
- Radford, J. Q. (2004). Breeding biology, adult survival and territoriality of the White-browed Treecreeper (*Climacteris affinis*) in north-west Victoria, Australia. *Emu* **104:** 305-316.
- Ramos-Onsins, S. E. and Rozas, J. (2002). Statistical properties of new neutrality tests against population growth. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **19:** 2092-2100.
- Ransome, R. D. (1995). Earlier breeding shortens life in female greater horseshoe bats. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* **350**: 153-161.
- Rasband, W. S. (2004). ImageJ. Bethesda, Maryland, USA, US National Institutes of Health.
- Ratcliffe, F. (1932). Notes on the fruit bats (*Pteropus* spp) of Australia. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **1:** 32-57.
- Raymond, M. and Rousset, F. (1995). GENEPOP: population genetics software for exact tests and ecumenicism. *Journal of Heredity* **86:** 248-249.
- Read, A. F. and Harvey, P. H. (1989). Life-history differences among the eutherian radiations. *Journal of Zoology* **219**: 329-353.
- Reed, D. H. and Frankham, R. (2001). How closely correlated are molecular and quantitative measures of genetic variation? A meta-analysis. *Evolution* **55**: 1095-1103.
- Reed, D. H. and Frankham, R. (2003). Correlation between fitness and genetic diversity. *Conservation Biology* **17**: 230-237.

- Regan, H. M., Lupia, R., Drinnan, A. N. and Burgman, M. A. (2001). The currency and tempo of extinction. *American Naturalist* **157:** 1-10.
- Richard, A. F., Dewar, R. E., Schwartz, M. and Ratssirarson, J. (2002). Life in the slow lane? Demography nd life histroies of male and female sifaka (*Propithecus verreauxi verreauxi*). *Journal of Zoology* **256**: 421-436.
- Richards, G. (1990a). The Spectacled flying-fox, *Pteropus conspicillatus*, (Chiroptera: Pteropodidae) in North Queensland. 1. Roost sites and distribution patterns. *Australian Mammalogy* **13**: 17-24.
- Richards, G. (1990b). The Spectacled flying-fox, *Pteropus conspicillatus* (Chiroptera: Pteropodidae), in north Queensland. 2. Diet, seed dispersal and feeding ecology. *Australian Mammalogy* **13:** 25-31.
- Richards, G. and Hall, L. (1998). *Conservation Biology of Australian Bats: are recent advances solving our problems?* In: Kunz, T. H. and Racey, P. A. (eds). *Bat Biology and Conservation*. Washington DC, Smithsonian Institution Press: 365 pp.
- Ricker, W. E. (1975). *Computation and interpretation of biological statistics of fish populations*. Ottawa, Canada, Department of the Environment Fisheries and Marine Service.
- Ridgway, T., Hoegh-Guldberg, O. and Ayre, D. J. (2001). Panmixia in *Pocillopora verrucosa* from South Africa. *Marine Biology* **139**: 175-181.
- Ritland, K. and Travis, S. (2004). Inferences involving individual coefficients of relatedness and inbreeding in natural populations of *Abies*. *Forest Ecology and Management* **197:** 171-180.
- Rocha, C. D., Del Lama, S. N. and Regitano, L. C. D. (2004). Lack of genetic structuring among tropical Brazilian wood stork Populations and low genetic differentiation from north American populations. *Biotropica* **36**: 248-258.
- Rodriguez-Teijeiro, J. D., Pulgcerver, M., Gallego, S., Cordero, P. J. and Parkin, D. T. (2003). Pair bonding and multiple paternity in the polygamous common quail *Coturnix coturnix*. *Ethology* **109**: 291-302.
- Rogers, A. R. (1995). Genetic-Evidence for a Pleistocene Population Explosion. *Evolution* **49:** 608-615.
- Rolland, C., Danchin, E. and de Fraipont, M. (1998). The evolution of coloniality in birds in relation to food, habitat, predation and life-history traits: a comparative analysis. *American Naturalist* **151**: 514-529.

- Rossiter, S. J., Burland, T. M., Jones, G. and Barratt, E. M. (1999). Characterization of microsatellite loci in the greater horseshoe bat *Rhinolopus ferrumequinum. Molecular Ecology* **8:** 1959-1960.
- Rossiter, S. J., Jones, G., Ransome, R. D. and Barratt, E. M. (2000a). Genetic variation and population structure in the endangered greater horseshoe bat *Rhinolophus ferrumequinum*. *Molecular Ecology* **9**: 1131-1135.
- Rossiter, S. J., Jones, G., Ransome, R. D. and Barratt, E. M. (2000b). Parentage, reproductive success and breeding behaviour in the greater horseshoe bat (*Rhinolophus ferrumequinum*). *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B* **267:** 545-551.
- Rossiter, S. J., Jones, G., Ransome, R. D. and Barratt, E. M. (2002). Relatedness structure and kin-biased foraging in the greater horseshoe nat (*Rhinolophus ferrumequinum*). *Behavioural Ecology and Sociobiology* **51:** 510-518.
- Rousset, F. (1996). Equilibrium values of measures of population subdivision for stepwise mutation processes. *Genetics* **142**: 1357-1362.
- Rozas, J., Sanchez-Delbarrio, J. C., Messeguer, X. and Roza, R. (2003). DnaSP, DNA polymorphism analyses by the coalescent and other methods. *Bioinformatics* **19:** 2496-2497.
- Rozen, S. and Skaletsky, H. J. (2000). Primer3 on the WWW for general users and for biologist programmers. In: Krawetz, S. and Misener, S. (eds). Bioinformatics methods and protocols: methods in molecular biology. Totowa, NJ, Humana Press: 365-386 pp.
- Ruedi, M. and Castella, V. (2003). Genetic consequences of the ice ages on nurseries of the bat *Myotis myotis*: a mitochondrial and nuclear survey. *Molecular Ecology* **12**: 1527-1540.
- Russell, A. L., Medellin, R. A. and McCracken, G. F. (2005). Genetic variation and migration in the Mexican free-tailed bat (*Tadarida brasiliensis mexicana*). *Molecular Ecology* **14:** 2207-2222.
- Sambrook, J. and Russell, D. W. (2001). *Molecular cloning: A laboratory manual*. Cold Spring Harbour, NJ, Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory Press.
- Schamel, D., Tracy, D. M., Lank, D. B. and Westneat, D. F. (2004). Mate guarding, copulation strategies and paternity in the sex-role reversed, socially polyandrous red-necked phalarope *Phalaropus lobatus*. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 57: 110-118.
- Schmitt, L. H., Kitchener, D. J. and How, R. A. (1995). A genetic perspective of mammalian variation and evolution in the Indonesian archipelago:

Biogeographic correlates in the fruit bat genus *Cynopterus*. *Evolution* **49**: 399-412.

- Schneider, C. J., Cunningham, M. and Moritz, C. (1998). Comparative phylogeography and the history of endemic vertebrates in the Wet Tropics rainforests of Australia. *Molecular Ecology* **7**: 487-498.
- Schodde, R. and Calaby, J. H. (1972). The biogeography of the Australo-Papuan bird and mammal faunas in relation to Torres Strait. In: Walker, D. (eds). Bridge and Barrier: the natural and cultural history of Torres Strait. Canberra, Australian National University: 437 pp.
- Schrey, A. W. and Heist, E. J. (2003). Microsatellite analysis of population structure in the shortfin mako (*Isurus oxyrinchus*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **60**: 670-675.
- Schuster, W. S. F. and Mitton, J. B. (2000). Paternity and gene dispersal in limber pine (*Pinus flexilis James*). *Heredity* **84:** 348-361.
- Schwartz, O. A., Armitage, K. B. and Van Vuren, D. (1998). A 32-year demography of yellow-bellied marmots (*Marmota flaviventris*). Journal of Zoology 246: 337-346.
- Shapiro, L. H., Canterbury, R. A., Stover, D. M. and Fleischer, R. C. (2004). Reciprocal introgression between Golden-Winged Warblers (*Vermivora chrysoptera*) and Blue-Winged Warblers (*V-pinus*) in eastern North America. *Auk* **121**: 1019-1030.
- Shine, R., Langkilde, T. and Mason, R. T. (2003). Cryptic forcible insemination: Male snakes exploit female physiology, anatomy, and behavior to obtain coercive matings. *American Naturalist* **162**: 653-667.
- Sibly, R. m., Collett, D., Promislow, D. E. L., Peacock, D. J. and Harvey, P. H. (1997). Mortality rates of mammals. *Journal of Zoology, London* **243:** 1-12.
- Simmons, N. B. (1994). The case for Chiropteran monophyly. *American Museum Novitates* **3103**: 1-54.
- Sinclair, E., NJ, W., AD, M. and CR, T. (1996). Genetic variation in the little red flying fox *Pteropus scapulatus* (Chiroptera: Pteropodidae): implications for management. *Biological Conservation* **76**: 45-50.
- Slate, J., Kruuk, L. E. B., Marshall, T. C., Pemberton, J. M. and Clutton-Brock, T. H. (2000). Inbreeding depression influences lifetime breeding success in a wild population of red deer (*Cervus elaphus*). Proceedings of the Royal Society of London - Series B: Biological Sciences 267: 1657-1662.

Slatkin, M. (1985). Rare alleles as indicators of gene flow. *Evolution* 39: 53-65.

- Slatkin, M. (1994). *Gene flow and population structure*. In: Real, L. A. (eds). *Ecological Genetics*. New Jersey, Princeton University Press: 3-17 pp.
- Slatkin, M. (1995). A measure of population subdivision based on microsatellite allele frequencies. *Genetics* **139**: 457-462.
- Sokal, R. R. and Rohlf, F. J. (1995). *Biometry: the principles and practice of statistics in biological research*. New York, W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Springer, M. S., Hollar, L. J. and Kirsch, J. A. W. (1995). Phylogeny, molecules versus morphology, and rates of character evolution among fruitbats (Chiroptera: Megachiroptera). *Australian Journal of Zoology* **43**: 557-582.
- Stearns, S. C. (1992). *The Evolution of Life Histories*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Storz, J. F. (2000). Variation at tri- and tetranucleotide repeat microsatellite loci in the fruit bat genus *Cynopterus* (Chiroptera: Pteropodidae). *Molecular Ecology* 9: 2155-2234.
- Storz, J. F. (2002). Contrasting patterns of divergence in quantitative traits and neutral DNA markers: analysis of clinal variation. *Molecular Ecology* 11: 2537-2551.
- Storz, J. F. and Beaumont, M. A. (2002). Testing for genetic evidence of population expansion and contraction: an empirical analysis of microsatellite DNA variation using a hierarchical bayesian model. *Evolution* 56: 154-166.
- Storz, J. F., Bhat, H. R. and Kunz, T. H. (2000). Social structure of a polygynous tent-making bat, *Cynopterus sphinx* (Megachiroptera). *Journal of Zoology* 251: 151-165.
- Storz, J. F., Bhat, H. R. and Kunz, T. H. (2001a). Genetic consequences of polygyny and social structure in an Indian fruit bat, *Cynopteris sphinx*. I. Inbreeding, outbreeding, and population subdivision. *Evolution* 55: 1215-1223.
- Storz, J. F., Bhat, H. R. and Kunz, T. H. (2001b). Genetic consequences of polygyny and social structure in an Indian fruit bat, *Cynopterus sphinx*. II. Variance in male mating success and effective population size. *Evolution* 55: 1224-1232.
- Stow, A. J. and Sunnucks, P. (2004). Inbreeding avoidance in Cunningham's skinks (*Egernia cunninghami*) in natural and fragmented habitat. *Molecular Ecology* **13**: 443-447.

- Sugg, D. W., Chesser, R. K., Dobson, F. S. and Hoogland, J. L. (1996). Population genetics meets behavioural ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 11: 338-342.
- Swofford, D. L. (1998). PAUP\*: Phylogenetic analysis using parsimony (\* and other methods). Sunderland, Massachusetts, Sinauer Associates: Genetic analysis software.
- Tajima, F. (1983). Evolutionary relationships of DNA sequences in finite populations. *Genetics* **105**: 437-460.
- Taylor, E. B., Stamford, M. D. and Baxter, J. S. (2003). Population subdivision in westslope cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarki lewisi*) at the northern periphery of its range: evolutionary inferences and conservation implications. *Molecular Ecology* 12: 2609-2622.
- Teeling, E. C., Springer, M. S., Madsen, O., Bates, P., O'Brien, S. J. and Murphy, W. J. (2005). A molecular phylogeny for bats illuminates biogeography and the fossil record. *Science* **307**: 580-584.
- Tidemann, C. and Vardon, M. J. (2001). The Spectacled Flying-fox, *Pteropus conspicillatus*, in Queensland: a review of available information.
- Tidemann, C., Vardon, M. J., Loughland, R. A. and Brocklehurst, P. S. (1999). Dry season camps of flying-foxes (*Pteropus* spp) in Kakadu World Heritage Area, north Australia. *Journal of Zoology, London* **247:** 155-163.
- Tidemann, C. R. and Nelson, J. E. (2004). Long-distance movements of the greyheaded flying fox (*Pteropus poliocephalus*). *Journal of Zoology* **263:** 141-146.
- Trillmich, F. and Trillmich, K. (1984). The mating system of pinnipeds and marine iguanas: convergent evolution of polygyny. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **21**: 209-216.
- Truswell, E. M. (1990). Australian Rainforests: the 100 million year record. In: Webb, L. J. and Kikkawa, J. (eds). Australian Tropical Rainforests. Melbourne, CSIRO Publications: 185 pp.
- Tuttle, M. and Stevenson, D. (1982). *Growth and Survival in Bats*. In: Kunz, T. (eds). *The Ecology of Bats*. New York, Plenum Press: 425 pp.
- Uthicke, S., Purcell, S. and Blockmans, B. (2005). Natural hybridization does not dissolve species boundaries in commercially important sea cucumbers. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **85:** 261-270.
- van den Bussch, R. A., Baker, R. A., Huelsenbeack, J. P. and Hillis, D. M. (1998). Base-compositional bias and phylogenetic analyses: a test of the 'flying DNA' hypothesis. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **10**: 408-416.

- Vardon, M. J. and Tidemann, C. (1999). Flying-foxes (*Pteropus alecto* and *P.scapulatus*) in the Darwin region, north Australia: patterns in camp size and structure. *Australian Journal of Zoology* **47:** 411-423.
- Vardon, M. J. and Tidemann, C. (2000). The black flying-fox (*Pteropus alecto*) in north Australia: juvenile mortality and longevity. *Australian Journal of Zoology* 48: 91-97.
- Vardon, M. J. and Tidemann, C. R. (1998). Reproduction, growth and maturity in the black flying-fox, *Pteropus alecto* (Megachiroptera: Pteropodidae). *Australian Journal of Zoology* **46:** 329-344.
- Vege, S. and McCracken, G. F. (2001). Microsatellite genotypes of big brown bats (*Eptesicus fuscus*: Vespertilionidae, Chiroptera) obtained from their feces. *Acta Chiropterologica* **3**: 237-244.
- von Holst, D., Hutzelmeyer, H., Kaetzke, P., Khaschei, M., Rodel, H. G. and Schrutka, H. (2002). Social rank, fecundity and lifetime reproductive success in wild European rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*). *Behavioral Ecology & Sociobiology* 51: 245-254.
- Vonhof, M. J., Davis, C. S., Fenton, M. B. and Strobeck, C. (2002). Characterization of dinucleotide microsatellite loci in big brown bats (*Eptesicus fuscus*), and their use in other North American vespertilionid bats. *Molecular Ecology Notes* 2: 167-169.
- Vonhof, M. J., Davis, C. S., Strobeck, C. and Fenton, M. B. (2001). Characterization of microsatellite loci in Spix's disk-winged bats (*Thyroptera tricolor*). *Molecular Ecology Notes* **1**: 73-75.
- Webb, N. J. and Tidemann, C. (1995). Hybridisation between black (*Pteropus alecto*) and grey-headed (*P. poliocephalus*) flying-foxes (Megachiroptera: Pteropodidae). *Australian Mammalogy* **18:** 19-26.
- Webb, N. J. and Tidemann, C. (1996). Mobility of Australian flying-foxes, *Pteropus* spp. (Megachiroptera): evidence from genetic variation. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London - Series B: Biological Sciences* 263: 497-502.
- Weir, B. S. and Cockerham, C. C. (1984). Estimating F-Statistics for the Analysis of Population-Structure. *Evolution* **38**: 1358-1370.
- Welbergen, J. A. (2004). *The social organisation of the grey-headed flying-fox, Pteropus poliocephalus.* Doctoral Thesis. University of Cambridge.
- West, C. C. (1986). Reproductive biology of *Pteropus rodricensis*. *Myotis* **23-24**: 137-141.

- Westcott, D. A., Dennis, A. J., Bradford, M. G. and Margules, C. R. (2001). The Spectacled Flying fox, *Pteropus conspicillatus*, in the context of the world heritage values of the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area. Atherton, Environment Australia: 75.
- Westcott, D. A. and McKeown, A. (2004). Observer error in exit counts of flyingfoxes (*Pteropus* spp.). *Wildlife Research* **31**: 551-558.
- White, G. and Powell, W. (1997). Cross-species amplification of SSR loci in the Meliaceae family. *Molecular Ecology* **6**: 1195-1197.
- Wiles, G. J. (1987). Current research and future management of Marianas fruit bats (Chiroptera: Pteropodidae) on Guam. *Australian Mammalogy* **10**: 93-95.
- Wilkinson, G. S. (1984). Reciprocal food sharing in the vampire bat. *Nature* **308**: 181-184.
- Wilkinson, G. S. (1985). The social organisation of the common vampire bat. II. Mating system, genetic structure and relatedness. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **17:** 123-134.
- Wilkinson, G. S. (1986). Social grooming in the common vampire bat *Desmodus rotundus*. *Animal Behaviour* **34:** 1880-1889.
- Wilkinson, G. S. (1992a). Communal Nursing in the Evening Bat, Nycticeius-Humeralis. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology **31**: 225-235.
- Wilkinson, G. S. (1992b). Information transfer at evening bat colonies. *Animal Behaviour* **44**: 501-518.
- Wilkinson, G. S. (1995). Information transfer in bats. *Symposium of the Zoological Society of London* **67:** 345-360.
- Wilkinson, G. S. and South, J. M. (2002). Life history, ecology and longevity in bats. *Aging Cell* **1**: 124-131.
- Willis, C. K. R. and Brigham, M. (2004). Roost switching, roost sharing and social cohesion: forest-dwelling big brown bats, *Eptesicus fuscus*, conform to the fission-fusion model. *Animal Behaviour* **68**: 495-505.
- Wilson, A. B., Ahnesjo, I., Vincent, A. C. J. and Meyer, A. (2003). The dynamics of male brooding, mating patterns and sex roles in pipefishes and seahorses (Family Syngnathidae). *Evolution* **57**: 1374-1386.
- Woods, A. E. (1994). Haematoxylin and counterstains. In: Woods, A. E. and Ellis, R. C. (eds). Laboratory Histopathology: a complete reference. London, Churchill Livingstone pp.

- Worthington-Wilmer, J. and Barratt, E. (1996). A non-lethal method of tissue sampling for genetic studies of chiropterans. *Bat research news* **37:** 1-3.
- Worthington-Wilmer, J., C, M., L, H. and J, T. (1994). Extreme population structuring in the threatened ghost bat, *Macroderma gigas:* evidence from mitochondrial DNA. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B* **257:** 193-198.
- Worthington-Wilmer, J., Hall, L., Barratt, E. and Moritz, C. (1999). Genetic structure and male-mediated gene flow in the ghost bat (*Macroderma gigas*). *Evolution* **53**: 1582-1591.
- WPSQ (2000). Spectacled flying foxes the need and justification for listing. Cairns, Wildlife Preservation Society, Queensland.
- Wright, S. (1951). The genetical structure of populations. *Annals of Eugenics* **15**: 323-354.
- Zar, J. H. (1998). *Biostatistical Analysis*. New Jersey, Prentice Hall International Inc.

# Appendix 1—mtDNA sequence alignment Appendix 2—microsatellite genotypes

A CD is enclosed containing both appendices in two formats, first as either a text file or excel spreadsheet and second as a pdf.

	Sam Fox PhD Appendices			
		Q-	Q-local disks	
Name	Date Modified	Size	Kind	
Appendix1_mtDNAseq.pdf	Today, 11:18 AM	38 KB	Adobcument	
Appendix1_mtDNAseq.txt	Today, 11:16 AM	54 KB	Plain tument	
📩 Appendix2_microsat_data.pdf	Today, 11:36 AM	78 KB	Adobcument	
Appendix2_microsat_data.xls	Today, 12:32 PM	110 KB	Microkbook	

Figure A1. Contents of CD containing appendices



# Appendix 3-amplification details for each

# thermocycle program

#### Program STD55

95°C for 5 mins
95°C for 45 secs
55°C for 30 secs
72°C for 45 secs
Goto step 2 and repeat 35 times
72°C for 10 mins
12°C HOLD

Program 58TD50

94° for 3 mins
94° for 30 secs
58° for 40 secs
72° for 1 min
Go to step 2 and repeat 4 times – then decrease temp by 2° and repeat 4x
94° for 30 secs
50° for 40 secs
72° for 1 min
Go to step 6 and repeat 9 times
72°C for 10 mins
12°C HOLD

Program 50TD44

94°C for 1 min
94°C for 30 secs
50°C for 40 secs
72°C for 1min 30secs
Go to step 2 and repeat 4 times – then decrease by 2° and repeat 3x
94°C for 30 secs
44°C for 40 secs
72°C for 1min 30secs
72°C for 1min 30secs
Go to step 6 and repeat 19 times
72°C for 10 mins
11. 12°C HOLD

# Appendix 4-registration numbers for P.

# conspicillatus samples obtained from Museums

# Australian Museum:

M21243, M21582, M21583, M22538, M22539, M22540, M22564, M21669, M25292, M25291, M19446, M21584

# South Australian Museum:

196056-1, 196056-2, 196056-3, 196056-4, 198805, 198821, 200211, 200226, 205734, B105, NQ79